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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)’) of
Madison Holdings Group Limited (the “Company’) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this annual report is accurate
and complete in all material respect and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this annual report
misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRES

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors, | am pleased
to present to you the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2022.

Following the outbreak of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19"), the
economies of Hong Kong and the Mainland China are gradually
recovering from the pandemic. Although our wine business and
loan financing business rebound in current year, we are still
under threats from variants of the COVID-19 and the outlook
of our businesses remains uncertain. The Board and all our
staff will carry on with the spirit of dedication and diligence, to
provide high-quality products and services, optimize business
portfolio of the Group as well as to find new direction and
potential business collaboration to reduce the impact as well as
creating more value for shareholders.

The Group believes that it could bring in synergies which could
enhance our current fundamental business as well as additional
stream of income to the Group through business diversification
and to reduce the impact of increasing cost structure under the
competitive environment, which will deliver long term increase in
shareholders’ value.

Finally, | would like to express my greatest gratitude to the
Board, management and staff for their strenuous contribution
towards the Group. Furthermore, | would also like to thank
our executive Directors, Ms. Kuo Kwan and Mr. Zhang Li. |
also extend my sincere gratitude to our business partners and
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for their
continuous support and trust. | believe all members of the
Group will dedicate their best efforts to drive business growth
and to deliver enhanced returns to the Shareholders.

Ji Zuguang
Chairman and non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFhGREEEREFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Kuo Kwan (“Ms. Kuo”), aged 52, was appointed as the
executive Director on 25 September 2017 and the compliance
officer of the Company on 19 November 2019. She has over
25 years of accounting and auditing experience and held
senior management position in various listed and private
companies in Hong Kong. She was the chief financial officer
from December 2010 to May 2016 and the company secretary
from November 2011 to July 2014 of Credit China Holdings
Limited (currently known as Chong Sing Holdings FinTech
Group Limited), a company whose shares were listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange and cancelled on 30 November 2020
(stock code prior to cancellation of listing: 08207). Ms. Kuo was
an executive director of GreaterChina Technology Group Limited
(currently known as Viva China Holdings Limited), a company
whose shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 08032), from January 2005 to September 2008.

Ms. Kuo is a member of CPA Australia and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). She graduated from University of
Melbourne in Australia with a bachelor’s degree in commerce.

Mr. Zhang Li (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 49, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 3 October 2019 and re-designated
as an executive Director on 22 November 2019. He has been
the non-executive director of Kelfred Holdings Limited (stock
code: 01134) since June 2021. He was the executive director
and the co-chairman of the board of directors of Up Energy
Development Group Limited (“Up Energy”), a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00307) from June 2016 to May 2021 and August
2016 to May 2021 respectively. He was an executive director
of China Billion Resources Limited (currently known as
Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Limited), a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00274) from April 2018 to September 2019. Mr.
Zhang has extensive experience in financial and capital markets.
He has been involved in investment and management activities
of the financial markets for over 20 years, with a particular focus
on securities investment and investment banking.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in sales and marketing
from Northwest University of Politics and Law, China in 1998.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFhGREEEREFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Pursuant to the disclosure requirement under the Rule
17.50(2)(l) of the GEM Listing Rules, prior to Mr. Zhang’s
appointment with Up Energy on 24 June 2016, Up Energy was
put into a winding up petition by a petitioner in the Court of First
Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong on 29 March 2016
for the outstanding balance of principal, with interest accrued,
of the matured convertible notes in the principal amount of
HK$230,000,000, and on 18 May 2016 (Bermuda time), further
winding up petition was filed by a petitioner in the Supreme
Court of Bermuda for the outstanding balance of the matured
convertible notes in the principal amount of HK$150,000,000.
As at the date of this report, the listing of the shares of Up
Energy has been cancelled with effect on 5 January 2022.
Having considered Mr. Zhang's appointment with Up Energy
commenced after filing of the aforesaid winding up petitions,
the Board believes Mr. Zhang is capable to be an executive
Director.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ip Cho Yin, v~ (“Mr. Ip”), aged 71, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director (“INED”) and a member
of each of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the nomination and corporate governance committee (the
“Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee”) and
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
of the Company on 1 February 2017. He was subsequently re-
designated as a non-executive Director (“NED”) and resigned as
a member of the Remuneration Committee on 7 March 2019.
Mr. Ip possesses extensive experience in education. He is a
registered teacher, an educational consultant and a teacher
development expert. He is also a guest speaker of universities
and educational bodies in Hong Kong. Mr. Ip is the Guest
Professor of Hong Kong Financial Services Institute from 2014
to 2020, the Project Coordinator of the Education Bureau of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “Education Bureau”) from 2010 to September 2019. He
was the Deputy Project Director of the Education Bureau from
2004 to 2010 and the Chief School Development Officer of the
Education Bureau from 2002 to 2004. Mr. Ip was a teacher
of Pui Kiu Middle School from 1973 to 1997 and became the
principal from 1997 to 2002.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFhGREEEREFS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)
Mr. Ip was a member of Appeals Board (Education) from 2000
to 2001, a member of Board of Education from 1998 to 2002,
an elected member of Council on Professional Conduct in
Education from 1998 to 2002, a member of Quality Education
Fund Steering Committee from 1997 to 2001, a Standing
Committee member of the Hong Kong Federation of Education
Workers from 1993 to 1999. Mr. Ip was an elected member of
District Board (Islands) from 1994 to 1999.

Mr. lp obtained his bachelor’s degree in mathematics at
University of Waterloo in Canada in 1972 and a diploma in
education at the School of Education of The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 1982.

Mr. Ji Zuguang (“Mr. Ji”), aged 65, was appointed as a non-
executive Director and chairman of the Company (“Chairman”)
on 3 October 2019 and 31 July 2020 respectively. Mr. Ji
has been a director of Starlight Financial Holdings Limited
(“Starlight”) since August 2012, which is an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since August 2012.

From 1992 to 2000, he served as secretary and engineer of the
Shanghai Postal, Telephone and Communication Bureau (&
M ELE BB ) respectively. Since 2000, Mr. Ji served as the
Deputy General Manager of LT International Holdings Ltd. (I&
25 PR EEE B FR/A 5)) where he was mainly responsible for the
overall operation of property development projects and well-
experienced in the property development industry. In 20083,
he participated in the establishment of Shanghai Yintong and
has since gained around 9 years of experience in the secured
financing industry.

Mr. Ji graduated from the Party School of the Central
Committee of C.P.C (FHAFARER)in 1992 majoring in
Economic Management. In 2006, Mr. Ji received his master’'s
degree in Advanced Business Management from the Nanyang
Technological University of Singapore.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFhGREEEREFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Ms. Fan Wei (“Ms. Fan”), aged 66, was appointed as an
INED on 21 September 2015 and is also the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee. Since September 2013, Ms. Fan has been the
general secretary responsible for arranging charity activities
of (WCS Culture Association Hong Kong), which is committed
to improving quality of academic researches, popularising
traditional Chinese culture, facilitating the cultural exchange with
its foreign counterparts, and funding activities which promote
traditional Chinese culture. She served as an executive vice
president of Dong Yuan Hong Kong International Limited, which
is principally engaged in strategic investments, consulting,
financial services, logistics and trading business, responsible for
its operation management from March 2011 to June 2012.

Ms. Fan graduated from Murdoch University in Australia with a
master’s degree in business administration in March 2001.

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (“Mr. Chu”), aged 57, was
appointed as an INED on 21 September 2015 and is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee. From December 2008 to September
2020, he was the executive director responsible for investor
relationship, financial management and compliance matters
of Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
00681), which is a company principally engaged in the sales
and distribution of natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas
in China and whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. From August 2021 to March 2022, he
was the executive director of Momentum Financial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01152), whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu has/had been an
independent non-executive director of the following companies,
whose shares are listed on the Main Board or GEM of the Stock
Exchange:
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEkEREEEREFEB

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS (continued)

BIERITES =

Name of listed companies Stock code Period of appointment
g NS EY & 17 5% 1EHA
Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited 08512 Since December 2021
JEsEEER FH2021F128 8
Peking University Resources (Holdings) 00618 Since October 2021
Company Limited
IEARER (ER) BRAF 20215108 i
Xinming China Holdings Limited 02699 from April 2021 to August 2021
MEAREZERERAE 2021448 £202148A
Mingfa Group (International) 00846 since November 2016
Company Limited
BREEE (ER) BRAR 2016511 83
SuperRobotics Limited 08176 from March 2012 to November 2021
BAZERERASR 2012838 £2021F118
China First Capital Group Limited 01269 since October 2011

PTEHEZEERERAT

Flyke International Holdings Ltd.

REEFRZERBRAR

Huayu Expressway Group Limited

EERRERARAH

Tianli Holdings Group Limited
KAMZEREBBRAE

Mr. Chu graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
master’s degree in business administration in December 1998.
Mr. Chu is a fellow practising member of HKICPA, an associate

prior to cancellation of listing on
29 January 2021: 01998

B 17 10202191 5298 BUH LAl
5% 1 01998

01823

00117

member of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and

the Chartered Governance Institute.

FH2011E108 2

from February 2010 to December 2020

H2010F28 £2020F12H

since May 2009

200945 8 {E

since April 2007
200748 #2
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFhGREEEREFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean (“Dr. Lau’), aged 58, was
appointed as an INED on 4 June 2019 and is also a member of
each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee. Dr. Lau has
been a manager of Kam Tsin Village Ho Tung School since April
2018. Dr. Lau has been a solicitor of Cheung & Co., Solicitors
since July 2017. She was a partner of Reimer & Partners from
May 2004 to June 2014. Dr. Lau is admitted as solicitor in Hong
Kong and England and Wales and has over 18 years of post-
qualification legal experience.

Dr. Lau obtained her master of laws from the University of Hong
Kong in 2001 and her doctorate degree in civil and commercial
law from the China University of Political Science and Law in
2006. Dr. Lau is a committee member of Youth Criminal Study
Trust and a legal adviser of a number of organisations and
associations.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cho Yin (“Mr. Cho”) joined as financial controller of a
subsidiary of the Group, Madison (China) Limited since January
2022. He is principally responsible for financial and accounting
matters of the Group.

Mr. Cho is a member of the HKICPA.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Choi Yin Ying (“Ms. Choi”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary and the Authorised Representative with
effect from 8 November 2021. She is responsible for handling
the company secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Choi holds a Master of Business Administration from
University of South Wales. She is a Certified Public Accountant
of the HKICPA. She has over 20 years of experience in
accounting and taxation from diverse business, among of which
15 years in listed companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”), the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) were principally
engaged in (i) the retail sales and wholesales of a wide
spectrum of wine products and other alcoholic beverages in
Hong Kong with a focus on red wine (the “Wine Business”);
(i) the provision of loan financing and consultancy services (the
“Loan Financing Business”); (iii) the provision of financial
services (the “Financial Services Business”); and (iv) the
provision of cryptocurrency exchange business in Japan
(the “Blockchain Services Business”). As disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 17 June 2021, upon
completion of the disposal of Madison Lab Limited and its
subsidiary, the Group has ceased its operation in the Blockchain
Services Business.

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from continuing operations
increased by approximately 22.1% to approximately HK$130.5
million (2021: HK$106.9 million). Such increase was mainly
due to (i) the revenue generated from Wine Business increased
by approximately 27.7% to approximately HK$65.4 million
(2021: HK$51.2 million) which benefited from improvement of
sales volume with new and existing customers as a result of
the easing of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") pandemic in
Hong Kong; and (ii) the revenue generated from Loan Financing
Business increased by approximately 16.9% to approximately
HK$65.1 million (2021: HK$55.7 million) which benefited from
the increase in loan referral services income.

% 7% [o] B8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The Group’s loss from continuing operations for the Year
was approximately HK$15.9 million (2021: HK$17.8 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 10.7% as compared
with last year. The decrease in the loss was mainly attributable
to (i) the improvement in operating result that gross profit was
increased by approximately HK$13.6 million; (i) the increase
in other income of approximately HK$13.2 million; (iii) the
decrease in finance cost of approximately HK$23.9 million;
and partially offset by (iv) the decrease in gain on change in
fair value of derivative financial instruments and increase in
net impairment recognised on loan and interest receivable of
approximately HK$35.5 million and approximately HK$15.4
million respectively.

During the Year, the business and operation environments of
the Group remained challenging due to the global outbreak
of COVID-19 with global recession. Hong Kong and China’s
economy was seriously hit by the COVID-19 pandemic, with
on-going anti-pandemic restrictions and policies, leading to
sluggish recovery. The Group’s customers were also affected
by the COVID-19 pandemic. The rise in bad debt during
times of financial distress of customers were problematic, but
predictable. As such, the Group recognized net impairment
losses under expected credit loss valuation on loan and interest
receivables of approximately HK$35.6 million (2021: HK$20.1
million). For details of the loan and interest receivables, please
refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Loan Financing Business

During the Year, the Group’s Loan Financing Business
reported an increase in revenue by approximately 16.9% to
approximately HK$65.1 million (2021: HK$55.7 million) and a
segment profit (before net impairment recognised on loan and
interest receivables) by approximately 32.1% to approximately
HK$39.5 million (2021: HK$29.9 million), which were mainly due
to an increase in loan referral services income. During the Year,
net impairment recognised on loan and interest receivables
amounted to approximately HK$35.6 million (2021: HK$20.1
million), which was primarily due to the negative impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on the economy of Hong Kong and
mainland China which impaired the financial position of the
customers.

The Group performs impairment assessment on loan and
interest receivables under the ECL model. The measurement
of ECL takes into account the historical default experience,
the financial position of the counterparties, value of collaterals
as well as the future prospects of the industries in which the
borrowers operate, considering various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information for estimating the
probability of default of each of these financial assets occurring
within their respective loss assessment time horizon and the
loss upon default in each case. At the Year end, the impairment
allowance for loan and interest receivables recognised primarily
represented the credit risk involved in collectability of certain
default and non-default loans determined under the Group’s
loan impairment policy, with reference to certain factors
including but not limited to the credit history and financial
condition of the borrowers and the realisation value of the
collaterals. Moreover, forward-looking information including
the future macro-economic conditions affecting the borrowers,
such as the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the
economy, has also been considered.

The Group has a system in place to closely monitor the
recoverability of its loan portfolio, its credit monitoring measures
including regular collateral reviews against market information
and regular communication with the borrowers in respect of
their financial position, through which the Group would be
able to keep updated with the latest credit profile and risk
associated with each individual borrower and could take
appropriate actions for recovery of a loan at the earliest time. If
circumstances require, the Group will commence legal actions
against the borrowers for recovery of the overdue loans and
take possession of the collaterals pledged.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Loan Financing Business (Continued)

For the Year, a net impairment recognised on loan and interest
receivables of approximately HK$35.6 million (2021: HK$20.1
million) was recognised including approximately HK$16.6 million
being attributed to the increase in allowance to loan and interest
receivables and a direct written off of approximately HK$18.9
million. Further details of the credit risk and impairment
assessment on the loan receivables are contained in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The size of Group’s loan portfolio was almost the same as last
year. The management has been prudent in granting new loans
in light of the prevailing economic conditions in Hong Kong. The
Group aims to make loans that could be covered by sufficient
collaterals, preferably properties and assets with good quality,
and to borrowers with good credit history. The target customer
groups of the business are individuals and corporate entities
with both long-term or short-term funding needs for business
purposes and could provide sufficient collaterals for their
borrowings. The Group has a stable source of loan deals from
its own business network and its sales agents.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount, after allowance for
loan and interest receivables, of the loan portfolio held by the
Group amounted to approximately HK$395.5 million (2021:
HK$409.5 million) with details as follows:
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Approximate
weighting to the
carrying amount of

the Group’s loan

Interest rate

Category of borrowers portfolio per month Maturity
LEEEERES
B AR EEZ AL E B#ZE B
% %
Corporate 28% 0.3-3 Within one year
ok 1ELR
Corporate 1% 0.3-3 2-5 years
o 2E5F
Individual 67% 0.3-3 Within one year
BA 1E LA
Individual 4% 0.3-3 2-5 years
& A 2E5F
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Loan Financing Business (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, approximately 32.5% of the carrying
amount of the loan portfolio was secured by collaterals with
approximately 67.5% being unsecured. At the Year end, the
loan made to all borrowers were term loans with maturity from
one to five years, and the loan made to the largest borrower
and the five largest borrowers accounted for approximately 9%
and 32% respectively of the Group’s loan portfolio.

The Group has credit policies, guidelines and procedures in
place which cover key internal controls of a loan transaction
including (i) due diligence, (ii) credit appraisal, (iii) proper
execution of documentations, (iv) continuous monitoring and
(v) collection and recovery. Before granting loan to a potential
customer, the Group performs credit appraisal process to
assess the potential borrower’s credit quality and defines the
credit limit granted to the borrower. The credit appraisal process
encompasses detailed assessment on the credit history and
financial background of the borrower, as well as the value and
nature of the collateral to be pledged. The credit limit of the loan
successfully granted to the borrower will be subject to regular
credit review by the management as part of the ongoing loan
monitoring process.

The following is a summary of the key internal controls of the
Group’s money lending operation:

X ElIE @
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Identity check and financial background check on the loan applicant will be performed.
Information provided by the loan applicant including identity, financial statements and
income proof of the applicant will be checked and verified by the responsible loan officer,
where appropriate, company, legal, credit and bankruptcy search on the loan applicant,
and land search and site visit on the property offered as collateral, will be conducted.
HEREBAETINRERYBEERE -EXNFEBARMRERZER  GEEHAZ
B UBRRRUAZR ROEEEERAERERED NATE KEERFHBA
ETRBEEE-EERBERS  LHMREMEAITHRRZMEETEMEBMEZ R

Due diligence
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENmADN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Loan Financing Business (Continued)

Credit appraisal

EEE

Proper execution of
documentations

Continuous monitoring

RERE

Collection and recovery

B R [E]

X B0l EE @
EFMEER ®)

Detailed assessment on the credit history and financial background of the loan applicant,
as well as the value and nature of the collateral to be pledged, will be conducted.
There will be credit assessment including analysis on the repayment ability and credit
history of the loan applicant, and analysis on the potential recovery from realisation of
the collateral. The credit assessment process will be conducted by the responsible loan
officer and reviewed by the responsible loan manager.
REETEERFRRAZGECHRATBETR URKARZ2BEREE - EETEE
BOMERBFEAZERENIREETRR UKD MESRBEARBZBERKEX -EFE
TMEREFRAEEEMAEET THESEMEEHE -

For loan application recommended by the responsible loan manager and duly approved
by the designated approver in the approval hierarchy of the Group’s money-lending
subsidiary, the responsible loan officer will arrange preparation and proper execution of
the loan documentations under the supervision of the responsible loan manager, and
usually with the support of professional lawyers.
HMERFFESEERKERRTRAEERENBLAE ZAREMHAZRERNME &
EERABRZHEGRTEEERRKEEE TEZES I BRNG BEEEEERM
RMERIE-

There will be continuous monitoring on the repayments from borrower, regular
communication with the borrower of its updated financial position, and regular review on
credit limit of the loan granted and market value of the collateral pledged performed by
the responsible loan officer and manager.

RFREEETEERAZENE L EHREERANBBUEMHEMB R THEEEMA
EREENETERZGEEARBRRZ TEETESRERSR

Formal reminder and legal demand letter will be issued to the borrower if there is an
overdue payment. Where appropriate, legal action will be commenced against the
borrower for recovery of the amount due and taking possession of the collateral pledged.
WA FRERAZHEXBRHRERERS - WER BEERAIRL EERFN
A QEIE B oA g = =i e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The management of the Company considered recent reports in
relation to US Treasury’s plan to tackle financial institutions for
money laundering carried out through digital assets, which have
adversely affected the public confidence and price volatility of
Bitcoin during the Year. On 17 June 2021, the Group entered
into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the disposal
(the “Disposal”) of the entire issued share capital of and
shareholder’s loan due from Madison Lab Limited (“Madison
Lab”), which in turn held approximately 59.3% of the entire
equity interest in BITOCEAN Co., Ltd. (“Bitocean”). Bitocean
was principally engaged in the provision of cryptocurrency
exchange business in Japan (the “Blockchain Services
Business”). The consideration for the Disposal was HK$90.0
million and had been satisfied by way of issue of a promissory
note in the principal amount of HK$90.0 million maturing on
16 December 2021 at an interest rate of 2.0% per annum by
the purchaser upon completion (the “PN”). Upon completion of
the Disposal which took place on 17 June 2021, the financial
results of the Blockchain Services Business were no longer
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. The maturity date of the PN was subsequently extended
to 16 June 2022 and the interest rate of the PN was increased
to 3.0% per annum by an extension deed dated 16 December
2021. For details of the Disposal and the PN, please refer to
the section headed “SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
DISPOSALS AND ACQUISITIONS” below in this report and
the announcements of the Company dated 17 June 2021 and
16 December 2021. The financial results of the Blockchain
Services Business before the Disposal had been reclassified as
discontinued operation of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from continuing operations
amounted to approximately HK$130.5 million (2021: HK$106.9
million), representing an increase of approximately HK$23.6
million or 22.1% as compared with last year. The revenue
included (i) approximately HK$65.4 million (2021: HK$51.2
million) from the Wine Business; and (ii) approximately HK$65.1
million (2021: HK$55.7 million) from the Loan Financing
Business. No revenue was generated from the Financial
Services Business (2021: Nil).

Gross profit margin from the Wine Business in continuing
operations was increased to approximately 19.5% (2021:
16.8%). Such increase was mainly driven by streamlining wine
business operations and reducing operation expenses. Total
gross profit margin from continuing operations was decreased
to approximately 59.6% as compared with that of approximately
60.1% last year. Despite the drop in the total gross profit margin
from continuing operations, gross profit has increased due to
the increase in revenue in both the Wine Business and the Loan
Financing Business.

Gross profit from continuing operations was approximately
HK$77.8 million (2021: HK$64.3 million), representing an
increase of approximately 21.0% as compared with last
year. Details of the reasons of the increase in revenue and
gross profit were disclosed in the sub-section headed
“Business Review” above. Staff cost and administrative and
other operating expenses from continuing operations were
approximately HK$33.9 million and HK$16.3 million respectively
(2021: HK$30.3 million and HK$13.4 million respectively),
representing an increase of approximately 11.9% and 21.6%
respectively as compared with last year. Depreciation from
continuing operations was approximately HK$5.9 million, which
was decreased by approximately 49.6% when compared to
approximately HK$11.7 million for the year ended 31 March
2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Other income from continuing operations increased from
approximately HK$5.5 million last year to approximately
HK$18.7 million the current Year. It is mainly attributed to (i) the
increase in net exchange gain of approximately HK$7.4 million;
(i) interest income from consideration receivable generated
during the Year of approximately HK$3.2 million; (i) gain on
disposal of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$4.2 million.

The finance costs amounted to approximately HK$27.5
million (2021: HK$51.5 million) which were mainly incurred on
convertible bonds, promissory notes payables, other borrowings
and loans from a non-controlling shareholder.

The Group’s loss from continuing operations for the Year
was approximately HK$15.9 million (2021: HK$17.8 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 10.7% as compared
with last year. The decrease in the loss was mainly attributable
to (i) the improvement in operating result that gross profit was
increased by approximately HK$13.6 million; (i) the increase
in other income of approximately HK$13.2 million; (iii) the
decrease in finance cost of approximately HK$23.9 million;
and partially offset by (iv) the decrease in gain on change in
fair value of derivative financial instruments and increase in
net impairment recognised on loan and interest receivable of
approximately HK$35.5 million and approximately HK$15.4
million respectively.

The loss included net impairment loss recognised on loan and
interest receivables arising from Loan Financing Business of
approximately HK$35.6 million (2021: HK$20.1 million). Details
of which are disclosed in the sub-section headed “Business
Review” above. The Group recorded gain of change in fair
value of derivative financial instruments and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$7.0
million (2021: HK$42.5 million) and HK$0.5 million (2021:
HK$1.8 million) respectively. A loss of approximately HK$1.3
million (2021: HK$33.1 million) from discontinued operation was
recorded for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s net current assets were
approximately HK$122.7 million (2021: HK$182.6 million),
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$49.7
million (2021: HK$19.7 million). The Group had both interest-
bearing and non-interest bearing borrowings, which mainly
comprised borrowings, convertible bonds, promissory notes
payables and loan from a non-controlling shareholder amounted
to approximately HK$352.6 million (2021: HK$348.1 million).
The Group’s financial resources were funded mainly by loans
and its shareholders’ funds.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’'s current ratio, as
calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities, was
approximately 1.3 times (2021: 1.7 times) and the gearing
ratio, as measured by the debts of non-trade nature, excluding
derivative financial instruments and lease liabilities, divided by
total equity, was approximately 200.1% (2021: 145.6%). The
increase of the gearing ratio was because of the drop of total
equity of the Company.

Foreign Currency Exposure

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had certain bank balances and
payables denominated in foreign currencies, mainly Renminbi
(“RMB”), Japanese Yen (“JPY”), Euro (“EUR”) and Pound
sterling (“GBP”), which exposed the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury
policies. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit
risk by performing ongoing credit evaluation of the financial
conditions of its clients. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Capital Structure

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of shares of the
Company was 623,127,227.

On 4 December 2020, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with CVP Securities Limited, as the placing agent
(“Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to place, through the Placing Agent, on a
best effort basis, up to 1,038,545,379 new Shares (“Placing
Share(s)”) to not less than six placees at the placing price of
HK$0.055 per Placing Share under the then general mandate
granted to the Directors (the “Placing”).

On the basis that the net proceeds were approximately
HK$56.0 million (after deduction of commission and other
expenses of the Placing) (‘“Net Proceeds”), the net issue price
was approximately HK$0.054 per Placing Share. The Placing
was completed on 22 December 2020 and the Company issued
1,038,545,379 Placing Shares to not less than six placees.
For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 4 December 2020 and 22 December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continuead)

Use of Proceeds

Details of the use of Net Proceeds from the Placing are as
follows:

Intended use of Net Proceeds FrERIBFENTE AR

Repayment of loans BEREM

Purchase of wines for the operation of ARERERNEEBER
the wine business of the Group BEFEH

General working capital —REBEES

Total MmEt

The Net Proceeds were used according to the intentions
previously disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 4 December 2020.

Capital Commitments
During the Year, the Group did not have any capital
commitments (2021: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
During the Year, the Group did not have any contingent liabilities
(2021: Nil).

Charges on Group Assets
Details of charges on the Group assets are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Dividend
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL DISPOSALS AND

ACQUISITIONS

Disposal

In light of an increasing regulatory requirement in cryptocurrency
market, price volatility of Bitcoin, adverse effect from criticisms
of Bitcoin and no revenue generated by Bitocean, the Directors
believed that it was in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole to re-allocate the Group’s financial
resources to strengthen the Group’s remaining businesses and
look for suitable acquisition opportunities to maximise the return
of Shareholders in a more sustainable manner.

On 17 June 2021, Madison Blockchain Holdings Company
Limited as vendor (“Madison Blockchain”), being a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Ms. Li Li (“Ms. Li") (an
independent third party) as purchaser, pursuant to which Ms.
Li agreed to acquire and Madison Blockchain agreed to sell
the entire share capital of and shareholder’s loan due from
Madison Lab, which in turn held approximately 59.3% of equity
interest in Bitocean, at a consideration of HK$90.0 million. Such
consideration should be and had been satisfied by way of issue
of the PN in the principal amount of HK$90.0 million by Ms.
Li upon completion of the Disposal on 17 June 2021. The PN
would be due 6 months from the date of its issue and carried
an interest of 2.0% per annum. On 16 December 2021, Ms. Li
and Madison Blockchain entered into an extension deed to (i)
extend the maturity date of the PN from 16 December 2021
to 16 June 2022, and (i) increase the interest rate of the PN
from 2.0% to 3.0% per annum. Save as disclosed, all other
terms and conditions of the PN remain valid and in full force.
As security for payment of all moneys, obligations and liabilities
due, owing or incurred to Madison Blockchain under the PN,
Ms. Li has executed a share charge on 17 June 2021 over the
entire issued share capital of Madison Lab in favour of Madison
Blockchain.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmADN

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s business
comprised three principal segments from continuing operations,
namely (i) the Wine Business; (ii) the Loan Financing Business;
and (iii) the Financial Services Business which accounted for
approximately 50.1%, 49.9% and 0% of the total revenue
(2021: 47.9%, 52.1% and 0%) of the total revenue respectively.

Following the outbreak of COVID-19, the economies of Hong
Kong and the Mainland China are gradually recovering from the
pandemic. Although our Wine Business and Loan Financing
Business rebound in current year, we are still under threats from
variants of the COVID-19 and the outlook of our businesses
remains uncertain. As the impact of COVID-19 and the
emergence of unfavourable market conditions as noted in the
sub-section headed “Business Review” above had a material
impact to the Group’s financial results. The Group recorded an
increase in revenue in the Wine Business and Loan Financing
Business of approximately HK$14.2 million and HK$9.4 million
respectively and no revenue generated from the Financial
Services Business as compared to last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND

UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s result of operations may fluctuate significantly
from time to time due to seasonality and other factors. The
directors of the Group are aware that the Group is exposed to
various risks and the principal risks and uncertainties which are

summarized below.

This summary should not be regarded as a complete and
comprehensive statement of all potential risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, but rather those risks which the Group
currently believes may have a significant impact on the Group’s
performance and future prospects.

The Wine Business

The Financial Services (i)

Business

The Loan Financing
Business

(if)

(i)

(i)

(if)

slow-moving inventory

product liability claims

fluctuation in the foreign currency
exchange rates

withdrawals and terminations of
projects or defaults or delays in
payments by clients

failure to retain and motivate key
management personnel to conduct
business

exposure to professional liability
and litigation

customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument failing to meet
its contractual obligations

failure to retain and motivate key
management personnel to conduct
business

FTERRRAABRERE

AEBONEEZEIERFHRRLEMARTRE X
BEB EFENTAEERRZERR BXTE2RA
R R ANBRBRR R LA RS o

KRBT ERR A A EEERNFTA BT R R RS
BEAENTHE2ERL MERESETEEERES
FIRENAERRE R ARRIKREMEARNTZEN AR

BEBER iy HHEEFEE
iy EREEERER
(i)  IMNEE=RFH

T RRAR TS TS () FPRHEKKLEBEEWEAS

B SR {3 7R

(i) BEBBRABEZEEA
ERREER

(i) MEERFEIERFRRRE

ERBEES () HEFRHERIAEHFHRE

BITENER

=

(i) BFBR--EBEEEFIFIEN
HEARE K551 TR

mEREREEERAT F£382021/22 25



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION

POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 124 employees
(2021: 128). The Group determines the employees’
remuneration based on factors such as qualification, duty,
contributions and years of experience. In addition, the Group
provides comprehensive training programs to its employees or
sponsors the employees to attend various job-related training
courses. Apart from basic remuneration, share options may
be granted under the share option scheme of the Company to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance
as well as the individual’s contribution. In addition, each of the
sales team members is entitled to a commission with reference
to the sales volume achieved by them. The directors believe that
the compensation packages offered by the Group to its staff are
competitive in comparison with market standards and practices.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporation and always takes the environmental protection
issues into consideration during daily operation. The Group
does not produce material waste nor emit material quantities of
air pollutants. The Group also strives to minimise the adverse
environmental impacts by encouraging the employees to recycle
office supplies and other materials and to save electricity.

For details, please refer section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” below. No material impact of the
relevant laws and regulations in relation to environment is
identified on business operations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company itself is an investment holding company, the
shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
The operations of the Group are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in China and Hong Kong. As such,
the Group’s operations shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in China and Hong Kong accordingly. During the
Year, the Group has complied with all applicable laws and
regulations in China and Hong Kong in all material respects.
The Group shall continue to keep itself updated with the
requirements of the relevant laws and regulations in China and
Hong Kong and adhere to them to ensure compliance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS PROSPECT

In view of the outbreak of the fifth wave of the COVID-19
pandemic started in the early beginning of 2022 in Hong Kong,
retail, food and beverage, tourism and other activities stood still
and the pandemic is still going on infecting more people in other
mainland China province as at the date of this report. Looking
forward, the Group foresees such uncertainty is expected to
continue to affect the Group’s performance in the first half
of the year 2022. The Directors will continue to enhance the
Group’s businesses through review of its existing business
portfolio from time to time. Further, the Group will continue
looking for other investment opportunities in other streams so
as to broaden the source of income of the Group and diversify
the Group’s business portfolio on an on-going basis.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

(a) Extension of maturity date of promissory note
On 1 April 2022, the maturity date of the promissory
note (“PN2”) in the principal amount of HK$185,120,000
under the sale and purchase agreement in relation to
the acquisition of 77% interest in Hackett Enterprises
Limited, part of the PN2 in the principal amount of
HK$119,525,000 has been redeemed by the Company,
and the outstanding principal amount of the PN2 of
HK$65,595,000 is extended for 1 year from 29 March
2022 to 29 March 2023. For details of the acquisition
and extension maturity date of PN2, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 13 March 2019 and the
announcements of the Company dated 20 November
2018, 29 March 2019 and 1 April 2022.

(b) Grant of option and loan extension agreement
On 6 June 2022, the Company entered into the option
agreement with SRA Holdings Inc. (“SRA”), as subscriber,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to grant an option and SRA shall be entitled to require
the Company to allot and issue up to a maximum of
85,922,330 option shares at option price of HK$1.03 per
share subject to the terms and conditions stated on the
option agreement upon the exercise of the option. As at
the date of this report, Wine Financier Limited, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is indebted
to SRA in the principal amount of JPY1,500,000,000 (the
“Loan”) which was due for repayment on 30 September
2021. In consideration of the Company agreeing to
enter into the option agreement to grant the option to
SRA, SRA has agreed to extend the maturity date of
the Loan to 30 September 2023. For further details of
the option agreement and the Loan, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 June 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRS

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Such discussion
forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Analysis of the performance by the Group for the Year by
business and geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on pages 126 and 278 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HK$33.8 million (2021: HK$159.5 million).

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 121 to 123 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2021: Nil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws, rules, and regulations and subject to the Memorandum
and Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”). Subject to compliance with applicable laws,
rules, regulations and the Articles of Association, in deciding
whether to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take
into account the Group’s financial results, the earnings and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit lines, and the
development plans of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) is
scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 9 August 2022. For the
purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Wednesday, 3 August 2022 to Tuesday, 9
August 2022 (both days inclusive), during which no transfer
of Shares will be registered. In order for a Shareholder to
be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms
accompanied with the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 2 August 2022.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 280 of
this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme adopted by
the Shareholders on 21 September 2015 (the “Share Option
Scheme”) and the movements in the Company’s share options
held by the Directors during the Year are set out in note 42
to the consolidated financial statements and “Share Option
Scheme” section contained in this Directors’ report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association and there is no restriction against such rights
under the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
are as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Kuo Kwan
Mr. Zhang Li

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ji Zuguang (Chairman)
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.r

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Fan Wei

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Zhang Li, Ms. Fan Wei and Mr. Chu Kin Wang
Peleus shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and, Mr. Zhang Li
and Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election. Ms. Fan Wei will not offer herself for re-election
as she will retire as an independent non-executive Director upon
conclusion of the AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 5 to 10 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
AND APPOINTMENT LETTERS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years which is
automatically renewed for successive terms of one year each
upon expiry of the then current term and shall be terminated
by either party giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the Directors’ service contracts as disclosed in this
report and the granting of share options to the Directors, details
of which is set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of
the Year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND
THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 13
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRS

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors are paid fees in line with market practice. The
Group adopted the following main principles in determining the
remuneration of the Directors and other employees;

No individual should determine his or her own remuneration;

Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
whom the Group competes for human resources;

Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with
a view to motivating and retaining high performing individuals
and enhancing the value of the Company to its Shareholders;
and

Share options are granted to the senior management or staff as
incentives for their contribution to the growth and development
of the Group in the intermediate to longer time frame.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)), which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the securities transactions by the directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

(Continued)

Long Position in the Company’s Shares and
underlying Shares

RAEQXBRGRERARGZEFE

EEREEITHRAERET AT R EM
M EBERRG BERERG RESFE
mRKRE @

Number of Number of Approximate
issued underlying shares percentage of
Capacity/ Shares held/ pursuant to Aggregate the Company’s
Name of Directors nature of interest interested in share options interests issued Shares*
Fifs/ BB D RiEERE BEABERTT
Exfs SipEEEE WERITRINEE ZHRGH#E R BRAAE DL
Ms. Kuo Beneficial owner - 1,800,000 1,800,000 0.289%
(Notes 1(a)
and 2(a))
B+ ExnEEA (£ 1(a) R2(a)
Mr. Zhang Beneficial owner 442,000 100,000 542,000 0.087%
(Note 3) (Note 2(b))
REE EnBEAA (Hyz3) (Biztom)
Mr. Ji Beneficial owner - 100,000 308,978 0.050%
(Note 2(c))
Rk EakEA (Ht5#2(c))
Interest in a controlled 208,978
corporation (Note 4)
REREENER (Hizt4)
Ms. Fan Beneficial owner - 30,000 30,000 0.005%
(Note 1(c))
BRt St T-PN (Hrt1(c)
Mr. Chu Beneficial owner - 30,000 30,000 0.005%
(Note 1(a))
Krk ExnEEA (Hia21(0))
Mr. Ip Beneficial owner - 130,000 130,000 0.021%
(Notes 1(b)
and 2(d))
Ex4 EREEA (W12 1b)R2())
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EFEHRS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
(Continued)

Long Position in the Company’s Shares and

underlying Shares (Continued)
Notes:

On 3 April 2018, the Company granted a total of 219,000,000
share options, of which 5,900,000 share options were granted
to the following persons entitling them to subscribe for a total of
5,900,000 Shares at the exercise price of HK$1.89 per Share.
Immediately upon the share consolidation became effective on 20
January 2022, the adjusted number of share options and adjusted
exercise price would be 590,000 share options and HK$18.9
respectively.

a. 500,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
500,000 Shares) were granted to Ms. Kuo in her capacity
as an executive Director;

b. 30,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
30,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Ip in his then capacity
as an INED. He was re-designated as a NED on 7 March
2019;

C. 30,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
30,000 Shares) were granted to Ms. Fan in her capacity as
an INED; and

d. 30,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
30,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Chu in his capacity as
an INED.

On 6 December 2019, the Company granted a total of
355,400,000 share options, of which 16,000,000 share options
were granted to the following persons entitling them to subscribe
for a total of 16,000,000 Shares at the exercise price of
HK$0.207 per Share. Immediately upon the share consolidation
became effective on 20 January 2022, the adjusted number of
share options and adjusted exercise price would be 1,600,000
share options and HK$2.07 respectively.

a. 1,300,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
1,300,000 Shares) were granted to Ms. Kuo in her capacity
as an executive Director;
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ ZERESITHAERZEATRKIEM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN +tHE(ZBEIRD - HEARMG RESFORE
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES mBRRE @

AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

(Continued)
Long Position in the Company’s Shares and REXTRMDRBBRGZEE &

underlying Shares (Continued)
Notes: (Continued) it ()

2. (Continued) 2. (#)
b. 100,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for b. RELEAIHITESEE F100,0008% 8K #E

100,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Zhang in his capacity (P4 #5100,000/% R ES 1) ;
as an executive Director;

c. 100,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for c. EHEEEAIEHITEEEIE F100,0008% 5 5 #
100,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Ji in his capacity as an (Ff$#5100,00082 3R BE 1) ;
NED;

d. 100,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for d.  EERAEEAIENITESIERE F100,0008% 58 K #
100,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Ip in his capacity as (3 #5100,000% 50 BE #E) o
an NED.

3. Ms. Chen Hua is the spouse of Mr. Zhang. Mr. Zhang is deemed 3. Chen HuaZ /AR EZEMB - RIFFH RBEEK
to be interested in the Shares in which Ms. Chen Hua is interested B> SRS E WA AT Chen HuaZ THIRB P R EER #E25 o
by virtue of the SFO.

4. Plan Marvel Investment Limited (“Plan Marvel”), being a company 4 Plan Marvel Investment Limited (fPlan Marvel]) Jb

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability, is REBELZHEEIMAMILIZBERSE AR HetLE
wholly-owned by Mr. Ji. Mr. Ji is deemed to be interested in TEER REFESFRPERM SHEEWB RN Plan
208,978 Shares held by Plan Marvel by virtue of the SFO. MarveltF 5 89208,978/ & 15 B ©

* The number of issued Shares as at 31 March 2022 is * 20223831 H B #1TRHEH %2623,127,227 ©
623,127,227 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the P[RR EXFFIHEEIN R20225F38310  IEANTE
Directors and chief executive of the Company nor their close ERBSTHAEHNREZEREHBEANRETATHE
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, ERE#HEZE (EEBEHERBEEL) EMRBEHD
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its HHRARMD REHTHEEEAEZI KA -

associated corporations as defined in the SFO.
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EFEHRS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND TERFTFREMATREZL2TRG K
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND HEARKRMHEDSRRE

SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, so far as known to the Directors, the 202238310 IBEESEFRH BiEE S REBEEHA
particulars of the corporations or individuals (other than the EXVEFFE2R3NIWZIEXER A A TIHE L B LR
Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had any 1EEHEKASEAEICKEEENETELM (TIREEST
interests or short positions in the shares and the underlying ) PRAQT RN RBERODEETAEGRXE
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to BIEBESER A LTI T ¢

the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of

Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to

be kept pursuant to section 336 of the SFO (“Register of

Shareholders”) were as follows:

Long position in the Company’s Shares and REATKRMDRMEFERGZEFE
underlying Shares
Number of Approximate
Number of underlying shares percentage of
Capacity/ Shares pursuant to Aggregate the Company’s
Name nature of interest Notes interested share options interests issued Shares*
BEEEN REEREZ EEAR BRI
4 SpEELE izt ERITRHKE EEEEE! R BRIP4 E L
Royal Spectrum Holding Beneficial owner 1,2 196,800,000 - 196,800,000 31.58%
Company Limited &5
(‘Royal Spectrum”)
Royal Spectrum Holding BERBBA 7,2
Company Limited &b
("Royal Spectrum J)
Devoss Global Holdings Limited Interest in controlled 1,28 196,800,000 600,000 197,400,000 31.68%
(“Devoss Global’) corporation and &4
beneficial owner
Devoss Global Holdings Limited 5 2 %1% B #9#  K 1,23
("Devoss Global J) BaEA R4
CVP Financial Group Limited  Beneficial owner 3&5 50,487,272 - 50,487,272 8.10%
(“CVP")
CVP Financial Group Limited ~ S##EAB A 3Rs
(fevpy)
Mr. Ting Pang Wan Raymond  Interest in controlled 1,2, 8 4 256,751,672 14,236,363 270,988,035 43.49%
(“Mr. Ting") corporation and &b
beneficial owner
TEZExRE (TEE) REHEENER 1,28 4
RBTHEEAA &5
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EFEHRS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FTERFRREMATREZL2TRGD K
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND HEARGTHESZRRXE @

SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY (continuead)
Long position in the Company’s Shares and REATIRMDRMEREKRGD ZHFE &
underlying Shares (Continued)

Number of Approximate
Number of underlying shares percentage of
Capacity/ Shares pursuant to Aggregate the Company’s
Name nature of interest Notes interested share options interests issued Shares*
BEEEN REEREZ R AREET
4 BRIEHEEE i3 BERITRHEE EEEEE! R LR Rl
Ms. Luu Huyen Boi Interest of spouse 6 256,751,672 14,236,363 270,988,035 43.49%
(“Ms. Luu’)
Luu Huyen Boiz = FEEnER
(Muudt L))
Software Research Associates, Beneficial owner 7 40,454,545 - 40,454,545 6.49%
Inc. (“SRA")
Software Research Associates, BB A
Inc. ("SRAJ)
SRA Holdings, Inc. Interest in controlled 7 40,454,545 - 40,454,545 6.49%
(“SRA Holdings’) corporation
SRA Holdings, Inc. REHEENER
("'SRA Holdings 1)
Atlantis Capital Group Holdings Interest in controlled 8 68,224,500 - 68,224,500 10.95%
Limited (‘ACGHL”) corporation
Atlantis Capital Group Holdings )72 BRI
Limited (TACGHL J)
Ms. Liu Yang (“Ms. Liu”) Interest in controlled 8 68,224,500 - 68,224,500 10.95%
corporation
Rt (MB&t)) SEHEENER
Ample Cheer Limited Interest in controlled 9 221,323,638 - 221,323,638 35.52%
(“Ample Cheer’) corporation
Ample Cheer Limited SEREEN D
(TAmple Cheer )
Chu Yuet Wah (“‘Mrs. Chu’) Interest in controlled 9 221,323,638 - 221,323,638 35.52%
corporation
FHE (TRX) REGZENER
Kingston Finance Limited Person have a security 9 221,323,638 - 221,323,638 35.52%
(“Kingston”) interest in shares
Kingston Finance Limited REREEGZRMABA
(TKingston J)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FTERFREMATREZL2TRG &

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND VHEARMTHEZRRXE @

SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continuead)

Long position in the Company’s Shares and RAXFRDKREEARGSZEFE @

underlying Shares (Continued)

Number of

Approximate

Number of underlying shares percentage of
Capacity/ Shares pursuant to Aggregate the Company’s
Name nature of interest Notes interested share options interests issued Shares*
BAELEN RiEEREZ AN BRI
3 BRIEREEE Myt BEITRNEE HARNEE BiEn LR Rl
Bartha International Limited Beneficial owner 10 36,770,000 - 36,770,000 5.90%
(“Bartha International’)
Bartha International Limited ~ E#H#EA A
("Bartha International J)
Mr. Li Ran Interest in controlled 10 36,770,000 - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
FTHEE REGZENER
Mr. Pu Xueyuan Interest in controlled 10 36,770,000 - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
BEEEE SEGEENER
Ms. Wang Xuping Interest in controlled 10 36,770,000 - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
FHRERL RELEENER
Ms. Zhang Fengge Interest in controlled 10 36,770,000 - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
REEZT REGZENER
Ms. Wang Hui Beneficial owner 17 42,139,200 - 42,139,200 6.76%
IRzt BakEA
Notes: WiaE -
1. The entire issued share capital in Royal Spectrum is legally and 1.  Royal SpectrumZ &8 2178874 BllFHDevoss Global

beneficially owned as to 96.63% by Devoss Global and 3.37% by
Mr. Zhu Qin respectively. Devoss Global is legally and beneficially
owned by Mr. Ting. Devoss Global is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Royal Spectrum. Mr. Ting is a director of both
Royal Spectrum and Devoss Global.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY (continuead)
Long position in the Company’s Shares and

underlying Shares (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

2.

On 27 November 2017, Royal Spectrum pledged 199,600,000
ordinary Shares in favour of an independent third party as a
security of a loan in the amount of JPY2,000,000,000.

Each of Devoss Global, CVP, Kaiser Capital Holdings Limited
(“Kaiser Capital”) and Highgrade Holding Limited (“Highgrade
Holding”) is wholly-owned by Mr. Ting. Kaiser Capital is
interested in 1,217,200 Shares and Highgrade Holding is
interested in 187,200 Shares. Mr. Ting is deemed to be interested
in 248,691,672 Shares, held by Devoss Global, CVP, Kaiser
Capital and Highgrade Holding under Part XV of the SFO.

Details of the underlying shares are as follows:

a. 6,000,000 (600,000 upon the share consolidation became
effective on 20 January 2022) share options granted to
Devoss Global on 17 December 2015.

b. 136,363,636 (13,636,363 upon the adjustment pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the convertible bonds which
became effective on 21 January 2022 following the share
consolidation which became effective on 20 January 2022)
conversion shares of the Company under the convertible
bonds of the Company (the “Conversion Shares”) issued
to Bartha Holdings Limited on 28 July 2018, a company
owned as to approximately 88.9% by CVP Holdings
Limited, which in turn, is wholly owned by Mr. Ting.

On 27 October 2021, Royal Spectrum and CVP pledged
1,708,363,655 Shares and 504,872,727 Shares respectively in
favour of an independent third party as a security of a loan in the
amount of HK$44,992,109 provided by the independent third
party to the Company as general working capital.

Ms. Luu is the spouse of Mr. Ting. Ms. Luu is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares and underlying shares in which Mr.
Ting is interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

FERREREMALIRETQATRMN K
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY (continuead)
Long position in the Company’s Shares and

underlying Shares (Continued)
Notes; (Continued)

7.

10.

11.

SRA is directly wholly-owned by SRA Holdings. SRA Holdings is
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which SRA is interested
in under Part XV of the SFO.

Based on the notices of disclosure of interest filed by ACGHL
and Ms. Liu both dated 14 January 2022, Atlantis Investment
Management Limited is wholly-owned by ACGHL, which in turn is
wholly-owned by Ms. Liu. As such, ACGHL and Ms. Liu are both
deemed to be interested in 68,224,500 Shares held by Atlantis
Investment Management Limited, under Part XV of the SFO.

Kingston is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ample Cheer, which is in
turn wholly-owned by Mrs. Chu.

Based on the notices of disclosure of interest filed by Mr. Li Ran,
Mr. Pu Xueyuan, Ms. Wang Xuping and Ms. Zhang Fengge all on
22 December 2020 respectively, Bartha International is owned as
to 20% by Mr. Li Ran, 25% by Mr. Pu Xueyuan, 26% by Ms. Wang
Xuping and 29% by Ms. Zhang Fengge respectively.

Based on the notice of disclosure of interest filed by Ms. Wang
Hui on 8 April 2021.

The number of issued Shares as at 31 March 2022 is
623,127,227 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who has interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the Register of Shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted Share Option Scheme
pursuant to a written resolution of the Shareholders passed on
21 September 2015 (the “Adoption Date”). The terms of the
Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(A) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive or a reward to eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).

(B) Participants of the Share Option Scheme
The participants of the Share Option Scheme shall be:

(1) any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of the
Company, any of the subsidiaries and any Invested
Entity;

(2) any director (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive) of the Company, any of
its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(3) any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(4) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(5) any consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity
that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested
Entity; and

(6) or any person who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group or any Invested Entity eligible for options
under the Share Option Scheme.

8 B #E 51 3
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(C)

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

Total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of all Share Options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
number of the issued shares as at 31 July 2020 unless the
Company obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders.
Upon the share consolidation became effective on 20
January 2022, the total number of share option to be
granted must not exceed 51,927,268.

As at the date of this report, a total of 51,927,268 Shares
are available for issue under the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the Share Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant of the options must not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue.

The period within which the shares must be
taken up under an option

The period during which an option may be exercised is
determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of
grant.

The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised
As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

The amount payable on acceptance of an
option and the period within which payments
shall be made

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the offer of grant of an option where the grantee should
accept or decline the offer of grant of an option within the
date as specified in the offer letter issued by the Company,
being a date no later than 21 business days from the date
upon which it is made.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) fERESE @

(H) The basis of determining the exercise price (H) BETEEZEE
The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular RIEEREFSERBEZ2EMNEEEREZR®G
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be ZIIEENEHESE2HNBEEERBANEE
a price determined by the Board in its absolute discretion WAL EARERUTESE (HWEEBHER
and notified to an eligible person, and shall be at least the MM EEREATHROITE ;QBEBEH
higher of: (1) the closing price of the shares as stated in HEAAEEEXZHORB XS H®REMT
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of HEMFEHRTE, RO)KRMREEBHEZAE
grant; (2) the average closing price of the shares as stated Bo

in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
consecutive business days immediately preceding the date
of grant, and (3) the nominal value of a share on the date
of grant.

() The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme (I) BERRHEStEIZ FIERHAIR
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective BREFI EXRMANEBAEFI0OFRAERER
for a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date until 20 20255%9820H °
September 2025.

Details of movements of the share options granted under B E2022F3831HIEFERNIREBREST IR
the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March HeBRESESFERIIWT

2022 were as follows:

Number of share options

BikEgE
Effect of Share
consolidation
Exercised/ became
Exercise Granted Cancelled/ effective on As at
Exercise price As at during  Lapsed during 20 January 31 March
Category Date of grant period per share 1 April 2021 the year the year 2022 2022
H2022%
1R208 &R
120215 RERTE/ ELES G 12022
&l piedi=E! it BRITEE 4R1B RERKH HE /K% A7 3B31H
Shareholders
[E
Devoss Global (Note 1) 17 December 2015 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 6,000,000 - - (5,400,000 600,000
16 December 2025
Devoss Global (f7z1) 20155128178 2016F6F17HE 80087
2025E125 168
Montrachet Holdings Limited 17 December 2015 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 15,000,000 - - (18,500,000 1,500,000
(‘Montrachet’) (Note 2) 16 December 2025
Montrachet Holdings Limited ~ 2015F128178 016F6517HE 8.00ET
("Montrachet ) (#2) 2025%12716A
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRRESS @
() The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme (I) BEBRG#ET 8| 2 FIERHAR &)
(Continued)
Number of share options
BREXR
Effect of Share
consolidation
Exercised/ became
Exercise Granted Cancelled/ effective on As at
Exercise price As at during  Lapsed during 20 January 31 March
Category Date of grant period per share 1 April 2021 the year the year 2022 2022
H20226
1208 &7
12021 RERTE/ ELED G 120226
&l biti=k TfEm SRITEE 4B1H RERKY 2/ 58 A% ] 37318
Directors
£3
Ms. Kuo 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 5,000,000 - - (4,500,000 500,000
2 April 2028
Bt 20184830 2019E151HE 18987
2028%4A2H
6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 13,000,000 - - (11,700,000) 1,300,000
2019E1256H (Hi&3) 20757
Mr. Zhang 6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 1,000,000 - - (900,000) 100,000
REE 2019412768 (H#3) 207AT
Mr. Ip 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
BRs 2018%F4H3H 2019FE181HE 18987
2028%F4H28
6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 1,000,000 - - (900,000) 100,000
2019%12868 (H#s3) 20787
Mr. Ji 6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 1,000,000 - - (900,000) 100,000
g 2019£1256H (Hz#3) 207ET
Ms. Fan 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
fiekean 20184738 2019F181HE 18987
2028%F4H28
Mr. Chu 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
RrEE 2018F453H 201951B1HE 18.9587
2028%F4F2H
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) fElREsaE @
(I) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme (I) EEGH#EETE| Z RIERHEAR &)
(Continued)
Number of share options
BREXR
Effect of Share
consolidation
Exercised/ became
Exercise Granted Cancelled/ effective on As at
Exercise price As at during  Lapsed during 20 January 31 March
Category Date of grant period per share 1 April 2021 the year the year 2022 2022
H2022
1208 K%
120215 RERTE/ ELED G 12022
85 EHAH L SRITEE 4B1H RENEH /K% ZEE 37318
Consultants (Note 4)
Bl (i)
Gilberton Holdings Limited 17 December 2015 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 40,000,000 - - (36,000,000 4,000,000
16 December 2025
REZRERAT 2015E12817R 2016%F6F17HE 8.00%7T
20255125168
Horizon Trend Limited 17 December 2015 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 40,000,000 - - (36,000,000) 4,000,000
16 December 2025
ERERAR 2015E128178 2016F6F17HE 8.00E7
2025E12516R
Keywood Limited 17 December 2015 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 40,000,000 - - (36,000,000 4,000,000
16 December 2025
Keywood Limited 20155128178 016F6F17HE 8.0057
2025E125 168
Timebase Holdings Limited 17 December 2015 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 40,000,000 - - (36,000,000 4,000,000
16 December 2025
Timebase Holdings Limited ~ 2015%12817H 2016E6A17HE 8.00E7
20255125168
Chang Wai Chun Winsy 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 500,000 - - (450,000) 50,000
2 April 2028
Chang Wai Chun Winsy 201854530 2019E181HE 18.9%7
200854528
CHENG Shiu Mei 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
CHENG Shiu Mei 2018%F4A3H 2019E151HE 18.9%T
202854528
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

U

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

BRREE @
() BBRRHEETE| Z RIGREAR (@)

(Continued)
Number of share options
BREXR
Effect of Share
consolidation
Exercised/ became
Exercise Granted Cancelled/ effective on As at
Exercise price As at during  Lapsed during 20 January 31 March
Category Date of grant period per share 1 April 2021 the year the year 2022 2022
B2022%
1208 &7
20215 RERTE/ ELED G 120226
85 EHAH L SRITEE 4B1H RERKY /X% A% ] 37318
Comfort Homes and 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 40,000,000 - - (36,000,000 4,000,000
Strategies Limited 2 April 2028
Comfort Homes and 201854530 2019F1B1HE 18.9%7T
Strategies Limited 202854528
Ding Lu 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 2,000,000 - - (1,800,000) 200,000
2 April 2028
Ding Lu 201854530 2019E181HE 18987
202854520
Hiroaki YAMAJI 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 1,000,000 - - (900,000 100,000
2 April 2028
Hiroaki YAMAJI 201847530 2019F1B1HE 18987
20284528
HON Chun Yu 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 2,000,000 - - (1,800,000) 200,000
2 April 2028
HON Chun Yu 201845830 2019E151HE 18987
2028%4A2H
HUANG Baolong 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 31,600,000 - - (28,440,000) 3,160,000
2 April 2028
HUANG Baolong 20184730 2019FE181HE 18987
2028%F4H28
HUI Pan 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 1,000,000 - - (900,000) 100,000
2 April 2028
HUI Pan 20184730 2019F181HE 18987
2028%F4H28
Sun Yuan Yuan 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 40,000,000 - - (36,000,000 4,000,000
2 April 2028
Sun Yuan Yuan 201854530 2019F1B1HE 18987
202854528
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) Bl E
(I) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme (I) EEGH#EETE| Z RIERHEAR &)
(Continued)
Number of share options
BREXR
Effect of Share
consolidation
Exercised/ became
Exercise Granted Cancelled/ effective on As at
Exercise price As at during  Lapsed during 20 January 31 March
Category Date of grant period per share 1 April 2021 the year the year 2022 2022
H2022%
1820816
120215 RERTE/ AfERE 12022
85 EHAH L SRiTEE 4818 RENEH /K% a2 4 37318
Kwan Tong Enterprises Limited 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 40,000,000 - - (36,000,000 4,000,000
2 April 2028
Kwan Tong Enterprises Limited 201848 3R 019E1B1HE 18.9%7
202854528
Oilpro (Asia) Limited 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 18,200,000 - - (16,380,000) 1,820,000
2 April 2028
Oilpro (Asia) Limited 201854538 2019F1B1HE 18.9%7
20284728
Sharp Edge Ventures Limited 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 5,000,000 - - (4,500,000) 500,000
2 April 2028
Sharp Edge Ventures Limited ~ 2018%E4F3H 2019E151HE 18.9%T
20284528
WONG Chi Ming 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
WONG Chi Ming 2018%F4H3H 019F151HE 18.9%T
202854528
Gabriel James SUK 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 1,000,000 - - (900,000) 100,000
2 April 2028
Gabriel James SUK 2018%F4H3H 2019FE181HE 18,987
2028%F4H28
CHAN Yin Yin 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
CHAN Yin Yin 2018%F4H3H 019F1B1HE 18,987
202854528
Cheong Mei Ying Daisy 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 100,000 - N (90,000) 10,000
2 April 2028
Cheong Mei Ying Daisy 201844538 019E1B1HE 18.9%7
202854528
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) Bl @
() The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme (I) BEBRG#ET 8| 2 FIERHAR &)
(Continued)
Number of share options
BREXR
Effect of Share
consolidation
Exercised/ became
Exercise Granted Cancelled/ effective on As at
Exercise price As at during  Lapsed during 20 January 31 March
Category Date of grant period per share 1 April 2021 the year the year 2022 2022
B2022%
1208 &7
20215 RERTE/ ELED G 20226
85 EHAH L SRITEE 4B1H RENEH /X% A% ] 37318
CHIU Shu Ming 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
CHIU Shu Ming 201844538 2019E181HE 18.9%7T
202854528
HUANG LI 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
HUANG LI 201854538 2019E181HE 18987
202854528
LIU Pui Man 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
LIU Pui Man 2018%F4A3H 2019E1B1HE 18987
20284528
Wang Zheng Zhen 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 300,000 - - (270,000) 30,000
2 April 2028
Wang Zheng Zhen 2018E4583H 2019E181HE 18987
2028%4A2H
Yu Wing Kei 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 100,000 - (100,000) - -
2 April 2028 (Note 6)
(Hizt6)
Yu Wing Kei 2018%F4H3H 2019E181HE 18987
2028%4A2H
Buttonwood Development 13 December 2018 1 July 2019 to HK$11.2 42,000,000 - - (37,800,000 4,200,000
Limited 12 December 2028
Buttonwood Development ~ 2018£12813R 2019E7A1HE 1287
Limited 2028125128
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EEFEERS
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) Bl E
(I) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme (I) EEGH#EETE| Z RIERHEAR &)
(Continued)
Number of share options
BRESE
Effect of Share
consolidation
Exercised/ became
Exercise Granted Cancelled/ effective on As at
Exercise price As at during  Lapsed during 20 January 31 March
Category Date of grant period per share 1 April 2021 the year the year 2022 2022
H2022%
1R208 &7
120215 RERTE/ AfERE 12022
&l biti=k TfEm SRITEE 4818 RERKY HB/ %% A% ] 3B31H
Adachi Hisayuki 13 December 2018 1July 2019 to HK$11.2 6,000,000 - - (5,400,000) 600,000
12 December 2028
Adachi Hisayuk 20185128138 2019457810% 1287
2028128128

Dong Zimeng 6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 51,900,000 - - (46,710,000 5,190,000

Dong Zimeng 2019£12F68 (H#3) 207AT

Employees 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.9 8,500,000 - - (7,650,000) 850,000

2 April 2028
&8 20184730 2019E1B1BE 18,9870
202845828
6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 12,500,000 - - (11,250,000) 1,250,000
2019512568 (23) 20787
508,400,000 - (100,000)  (457.470,000) 50,830,000

Notes: o2

1. Devoss Global is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ting, 1. Devoss Globallb—BHRT E4E2EHRBEZAE)
being the controlling shareholder of Royal Spectrum, a #Royal Spectrumz ZERKRER  EAAAT 2 E
substantial shareholder of the Company. ERE-

2. As at the date of the grant of share options to Montrachet 2. R2015F12817TEEREREREBAHF
on 17 December 2015, Montrachet, being a company Montrachet > MontrachetJ5 — 4R B Se 4E » 4R
wholly-owned by Mr. Zhu Hui Xin, the father of Mr. Zhu hicdE BIRITES) 2R 2EFEEZAE)
Qin (former executive Director), held 2.7% interest in #Royal Spectrum Holding Company Limited (%
Royal Spectrum Holding Company Limited, a substantial ARBEERE) FH2. 7% o
shareholder of the Company.

3. Exercise period: (i) 50% of the share options are exercisable 3. 1TfEHR () 50%MERMETIH2020F1286HE
from 6 December 2020 to 5 December 2029 (both days 2029F 12850 (BFEERERMA) A 17 5 Kii)
inclusive); and (i) 50% of the share options are exercisable 50% Y B8 JE # 75 202112 56 H 220295128
from 6 December 2021 to 5 December 2029 (both days 58 (BiEERMH) AJf7E-

inclusive).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(I) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

4. Consultants are corporations and individuals which render
consultancy services to the Group. The Board considered
that the share options granted to the consultants would
help to motivate these non-employees to optimise their
future contributions to the Group and reward them for their
past contributions. The share options were granted as
incentive for the consultants for helping the Group expand
its business network, acquire and explore new business
projects and opportunities and to provide ongoing services
to the Group and maintain a long-term relationship with the
Group.

5. During the year ended 31 March 2022, no share options
were exercised or cancelled.

6. In April 2021, the 100,000 share options held by Ms. Yu
Wing Kei had lapsed.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

On 31 July 2020, ordinary resolutions had been passed by
the Shareholders to refresh the scheme mandate limit under
the Share Option Scheme, such that the maximum number of
shares that can be allotted and issued upon the exercise of
Share Options which may be granted by the Company under
the scheme mandate limit so refreshed would be 519,272,689
shares, being 10% of the total number of issued shares as
at the date of passing of the resolution approving the said
refreshment. Upon the share consolidation became effective on
20 January 2022, the maximum number of share option that
may be granted at the year ended 31 March 2022 would be
51,927,268, being 8.33% of the total number of issued shares.

Share-based payment expenses of approximately HK$546,000
were recognised/reversed (2021: HK$3,219,000 were reversed)
by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

For further details, please refer to note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duties in their
offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force
throughout the Year and is still in force. In addition, the
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the
Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Year, the percentage of sales attributable to the
five largest customers combined is approximately 16.4%
(2021: 22.3%) and the largest customer included therein
is approximately 3.8% (2021: 5.2%). The percentage of
purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers combined
is approximately 24.2% (2021: 29.4%) and the largest supplier
included therein is approximately 16.8% (2021: 8.3%).

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or shareholder(s) who own(s) more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the
share capital of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of
the Group.

EHEFBEMRX

RBERME) EERATHBBBRAFEL  BE
ZEARTEATMBATERBRARNEZFRAFR
B WE BX BEREY HUEAAGURE
ERBAFHAERRERZEARE

EREESFRERXENBEFEERENARAEN -
N A RBERAEBRZEERTHRABRHFEE
BB EREE UL RIE

BEEEGH
EP AATBEREEEBRENEASOEB 2
EERTH I EETREFETAELN.

FTEERRHERS

FRN AABEREEHEENE D LET4%516.4%
(20214 : 22.3%) HRBERAE F#733.8%(2021
FI52%) AAMHEREERENEILEHHA
24.2%(20214 1 29.4%)  HH BERAEEFNS
16.8% (20214 : 8.3%)°

BESEAA BESE RSZIEBRBEAREESE
NEEEHTREBSYZRRNAERBEFALAZR
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the Year, which constitute exempted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the
GEM Listing Rules, are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) are engaged in any
business that competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group or have any other
conflicts of interest with the Group nor are they aware of any
other conflicts of interest with the Group which any such person
has or may have with the Group during the year ended 31
March 2022.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition dated 29 September 2015 (the
“Deed of Non-competition”) was entered into among the
Company and the controlling shareholders of the Company,
namely Royal Spectrum, Devoss Global and Mr. Ting, in favour
of the Company (for the Company and for the benefit of its
subsidiaries) regarding certain non-competition undertakings.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition were disclosed in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” to
the prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2015.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2022 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to an arrangement that would enable the Directors or their
close associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the prescribed public float
required by rule 17.38A of the GEM Listing Rules during the
Year and as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRS

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee on 21
September 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code
provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review the financial system of the Group; to
review the accounting policy, financial position and financial
reporting procedures of the Group; to communicate with
external auditors; to assess the performance of internal financial
and audit personnel; and to assess the internal controls and risk
management of the Group.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises four members,
namely Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, Ms. Fan Wei, Dr. Lau Remier,
Mary Jean and Mr. Ip Cho Yin, v.~, and chaired by Mr. Chu Kin
Wang Peleus, who has appropriate professional qualifications
and experience as required by the GEM Listing Rules. Save for
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, 4.2, who is a NED, all other members are INED.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which is of the
opinion that such financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable accounting standards, the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Year have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited,
Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM of
the Company. There has been no change in auditor in the past
three years.

A resolution for the re-appointment of SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By order of the Board
Madison Holdings Group Limited
Ji Zuguang
Chairman and non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2022

BEZZELZETER

201590821 B A AT ERIUBEREZE T WiRE
GEM EH B $5.28 %5298 U R EEATIEX
FEDIIKFICTEEHELEE BZEEEZTERS
ABRAEE VB RY  SRAEBZ STBE
MHER R RYERESER ; @I BREMES ; T
NEF B REFAEB 2RI R EAREBNRILEE
TR ERERE-

BR BENEZEEEENRME  BIRRRELE ER
YT FEFRIBLRERE L xrer THARR
BEEEEER REBECGEMETRAIKENESBESE
FERKRER - BREABRE xFo+ RBIFATES
Sy FTBEEMMR B REILIFRITES -

BEZEZE S BN E202243A31B LFENKLSE
RGEEMBRE TR AREFBRERNLOREMAERZ
G ER - FB(REFRG) RGEMETHRAGEH -

1% 24 Bl
FRBAFEZGREVBRREBEXKTN (FB &
SHNEBAARAR  AEGEEZ - EXPM (&
B)BHMEBAERADENEERRBEFAER
P RENEERLEEBEEE - NBE=FR#
B RIZ M o

FABRREERRBEAE LIRERER  BEE
XPH (BB GAMEBABERADB/ERT ZZE
B o

KEEgGom
HEREREBARAR
TERATEF
st

E# > 20224F6H23H

moREREEERAD £352021/22 53




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEXELBRS

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and enhancing its corporate value. The
Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules as its corporate
governance practices.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, the Directors
should attend the annual general meeting of the Company
which was held on 2 August 2021 and the extraordinary general
meeting which was held on 18 January 2022 respectively. All
Directors were present at the annual general meetings held on
2 August 2021. All Directors were present at the extraordinary
meeting held on 18 January 2022, except for Mr. Ji Zuguang
and Mr. Zhang Li due to other business engagement.

Save as disclosed above, throughout the year ended 31 March
2022, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Company had
complied with the code provisions in the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standards of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made
specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they have fully
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf
of the Shareholders. The Board is of the view that it is the
Directors’ responsibility to create value for the Shareholders
and safeguard the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole by discharging its duties in a
dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on the principle of good
faith.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERKRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continuead)
Board composition (Continued)
The primary functions of the Board include:

(1)

(il

(iv)

(vi)

deciding on the overall strategies, overseeing operational
and financial performance and formulating appropriate
policies to manage risk exposure associated with realizing
the strategies and goals of the Group;

monitoring and reviewing the Group’'s corporate
governance practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, and renewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code;

being held accountable for the internal control system of
the Group and responsible for reviewing its effectiveness;

being ultimately responsible for preparing financial
accounts and discussing the performance, financial
conditions and prospects of the Group in a balanced, clear
and comprehensible manner. These responsibilities are
applicable to quarterly, interim and annual reports of the
Company, other price sensitive announcements published
according to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure of
other financial information, reports submitted to regulatory
bodies and information discloseable under statutory
requirements;

executive Directors, who oversee the overall business of
the Group, are responsible for the daily management of
the Group, the Board is responsible for affairs involving
the overall policies, finance and the Shareholders, namely
financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes
to accounting policies, annual operating budgets, material
contracts, major financing arrangements, principal
investment and risk management strategy. Implementation
and execution of such decisions is delegated to the
management; and

regularly reviewing its own functions and the powers
conferred upon executive Directors to ensure appropriate
arrangements are in place.

EET ®
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(iv)
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(vi)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEXELBRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continuead)

Board composition (Continued)

The Board has overall responsibility for the leadership,
strategic direction, control and performance of the Group
and for promoting the success of the Group by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Board delegates the day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group to
management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure that they accommodate the needs
of the Group.

The management is well informed of its powers and duties
with clear guidelines and instructions, in particular regarding
situations under which reporting to the Board is necessary
and matters that require the approval of the Board before
any decisions or commitments can be made on behalf of the
Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, with two executive Directors, namely, Ms. Kuo Kwan
and Mr. Zhang Li, two non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ip
Cho Yin, v~ and Mr. Ji Zuguang and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Fan Wei, Mr. Chu Kin Wang
Peleus and Ms. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean. The biographies of
the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report. The Directors, with relevant and sufficient experience
and qualifications, have given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group and have exercised due care and fiduciary
duties in relation to the significant issues of overall business
planning, management and strategic development of the Group.

To the knowledge of the Directors, the Board members have no
material financial, business, family or other relevant relationships
with each other.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times complied with the
requirement of the GEM Listing Rules of having at least three
independent non-executive Directors sit on the Board (more
than one-third of the Board members) and at least one of them
having appropriate professional accounting or related financial
management expertise. All the independent non-executive
Directors are appointed for a three-year term, and subject to
rotation and re-election pursuant to the Articles of Association.
Details of their appointments are referred to the section headed
“Directors’ Service Contracts and Appointment Letters” on page
31 of this annual report. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
Company considers these Directors to be independent.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERKRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) 559 #

Board practice and conduct of meetings E5EgERKEHES

The full Board meets at least four times a year, at quarterly BZ2SFEE/ L BHEOXRETZ EFEH—X UE
intervals, to review the financial performance of each period, HAEBESHEEZHHERE EAKEHAHMEIE-

material investments and other matters of the Group.

The attendance records of each Director and each member of JBEZREEETELZETHERNEE2022E3831HLE
the Board committees for the year ended 31 March 2022 are as FEREFELSZENOT ©

follows:
Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend
LE/ERLEEEERY
Nomination
and Corporate Annual  Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration  Governance General General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
R&R
tEER
B¢ BNZAE nMzEEE 288 RFBFAE REBIAE
Executive Directors RTES
Ms. Kuo Kwan PELT 20/20 N/A T N/A B N/A T 11 1
Mr. Zhang Li RALE 20/20 N/A R N/A RER N/A REFE 1/1 0/
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Ji Zuguang HEREE 20/20 N/A R B 1/1 1/1 1/1 01
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, u.2 ERERY tr4r 20/20 474 N/A T B 1/1 1/1 1/1
Independent Non-Executive BIFYTES
Directors
Ms. Fan Wei BRYL 20/20 4/4 1/1 1 11 17
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus FREEE 20/20 4/4 11 1/1 1/1 1/1
Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean AgEaEL 20/20 4/4 11 1/1 1/1 1/1

Information of material issues, due notice of meetings and BEEAZTEZEN ENTEEERIGELHEE
minutes of every meeting have been sent to all Directors for RAXFREES  UHERFNE EHEREREDG-
their information, comment and review.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEXELBRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continuead)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years which is
automatically renewed for successive terms of one year each
upon expiry of the then current term and shall be terminated
by either party giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years.

The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures for the appointment of new Directors.
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.
Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each
AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to Article 83(3) of
the Articles of Association, the Directors shall have the power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject
to authorization by the Shareholders in general meetings, as
an addition to the existing Board but so that the number of
Directors so appointed shall not exceed any maximum number
determined from time to time by the Shareholders in general
meetings. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold
office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

In compliance with the code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code,
the further appointment of independent non-executive Directors
who have served more than nine years should be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders and the
papers to Shareholders accompanying that resolution should
state why the Board believes the relevant Director is still
independent and should be re-elected, including the factors
considered, the process and the discussion of the Board in
arriving at such determination.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERKRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continuead)

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development

In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG code, the
Directors are required to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills,
to ensure that the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains
relevant and informed. As part of the Directors’ continuous
professional development programme, each newly appointed
Director shall receive induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the business and operation of the Group
and that he/she is aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

During the Year, all existing Directors were provided with
updates on the latest developments and changes in the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time to develop and refresh the
Directors’ understanding and knowledge in respect of their
duties and responsibilities. Continuing briefings to Directors are
arranged whenever necessary.

The individual record of each Director who received training for
the Year is summarized as follow:

BEET ®
EEEIRBFESELRE

BEBEEEEATAZTREXECAAMF EFHESH
RESEXURE UERKEMRENMB kK1
MEREFTESERAEEEMNBER TAESS
EEERM - FRESHESEXERFAFN DB
MEZENESREEREZERERABE N BE
HAAERENEBREFABEENER  URNEH
HCGEMEMRAREMEERE THREREE-

FRARAKBREEFRHUEBAGEM LT R LL
REMERZEREERENRTEREREHEZE
Ao URSAREMEMANBERESHEARBERSEZ
BR-NEE ARREREREFTLHERE -

FEEREFEREIZEARGBENT

Course/
Seminar/
Workshop
organized by Reading
Professional Body materials
HEX£ERBER
2R g
T BELES]
Directors £5
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Kuo Kwan il Rogum v v
Mr. Zhang Li RF A 4
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Mr. Ji Zuguang FHEXEE 4
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, u.p BRBLE  cTmL v v
Independent Non-executive Directors B JERITES
Ms. Fan Wei SBERE v
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KEELE v v
Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean AEFEEL v
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EEXELBRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continuead)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s business. As
at the date of this annual report, the gender ratio amongst
members of the Board and senior management is 5 males to
4 females. All Board appointments will continue to be made
on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of
the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee, each overseeing and being
responsible for affairs in different aspects of the Company. All
Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference.

The written terms of reference for each board committee are
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and they are posted
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee. It currently
comprises one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus
(Chairman), Ms. Fan Wei, Ip Cho Yin, 4.2 and Dr. Lau Reimer,
Mary Jean. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a
former partner of the auditors of the Company.

60 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2021 /22

BEET ®

EFEgREZTIEHER
EEEORMEETME S THE  EhRTIER
BEEMBE Tz Hite

ARBREAKREEEETEMEZ TR E o
HEIRREFSEAEBELEREFTEROVRE K
BEREZTCAESFENSFH RARESAHR EF
EREHESHREEASNMRIILLAIAEH4L -FIAE
EENENZEIREBUREESFATREE IR
DEREFENEZTIENED BIEERENRU—
#IZTEAEZRE  BREFRIMER S Fik XL
RBEHR KR (EEREMGE) KA B AR
BRE RRRAERSRBRECZBREARSERES
S ROVER R BRI

EFXgEET
EFXZEEMU=RAEFTEEZE T IBEREEE &
MEEERRERRERELREZEST DHERKER
KRB REBENEF - AABMBEEFEEEEY
RERENSHERERLE -

it

BREFELEENEERBREEITEGEM TR
A1) > 3 53 B T B Bk 52 PR R AR B A U

BZEEY

EFECRUBZRZES AREE—LFITES
R=Z2BUFRTES BIRBRITE (EF) “ER
YT -BEHBAE xre+r RIASHERE L -HESZ
LZEEMERT AT ZBENNEEGBA -

l!Il!!!!!!.--.-----ﬂz?



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERKRS

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information, overseeing the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management,
internal control systems and relationship with external auditors,
and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns under the protection of confidentiality about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Company.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguard against
improper use or disposal, relevant laws, regulations and
rules are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant
accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements,
and key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance
are appropriately identified and managed. The systems and
internal controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are
designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings for the
purposes of reviewing the quarterly, interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial
reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and risk
management systems, and the other matters in accordance
with the Audit Committee’s written terms of reference. The
Group’s audited annual results for the Year have been reviewed
by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee. It
currently comprises one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Fan Wei
(Chairlady), Mr. Ji Zuguang, Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus and
Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy and to ensure that
no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.
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EEXELBRS

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting to review and make recommendation to the Board on
the remuneration packages of all Directors and other related
matters in accordance with the Remuneration Committee’s
written terms of reference.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the member(s) of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Remuneration band

FriM e E

EETEHZET @

HNEET B
ERFWEEREFT—RES UREFNES
G EERRREBEMEE S S8R EME
BEE TR mEERRMEE-

RIFEEEE AT ZFRIMFCEEA 5% » B E2022F
SHELFESHREERBNE Z HNSEEHIWMT :

Number of individuals

A

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments are set out
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
The Board has established the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee. It currently comprises two non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ji Zuguang (Chairman), Mr. Ip Cho
Yin, v.2, Ms. Fan Wei, Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus and Dr. Lau
Reimer, Mary Jean. The primary functions of the Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee include reviewing
the Board’s structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

According to the policy of the Company, appointments of Board
members will be made on a merit basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria. The selection criteria used
in assessing the suitability of a candidate include:

° the candidate’s academic background and qualifications
(including professional qualifications, skills and knowledge
which are relevant to the Group’s business and corporate

strategy);

° the candidate’s relevant experience in the industry;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERKRS

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
(Continued)

J the candidate’s character and integrity;

° the candidate’s willingness and capacity to devote
adequate time in discharge of a director’s duties;

° whether the candidate can contribute to the Board a
diversity of perspectives;

° where the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an
independent non-executive Director whether the candidate
is in compliance with the criteria of independence under
the GEM Listing Rules; and

° any other factors as may be determined by the Board from
time to time.

In terms of nomination procedures, any Board member
may nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as a
Director to be considered by the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee. The Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee will then evaluate the personal profile
of the candidate based on the selection criteria set out above,
undertake due diligence in respect of such candidate and make
recommendation for the Board’s consideration and approval.
For nomination of independent non-executive Director, the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee will also
assess the candidate’s independence in accordance with the
CG Code and the GEM Listing Rules. For re-appointment of
retiring Directors, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee will review the candidate’s overall contribution and
performance (including the candidate’s attendance at Board
committee meetings, Board meetings and general meetings,
his/her level of participation and performance on the Board),
and make recommendations to the Board and the Shareholders
for re-election at general meetings.

During the Year, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee held one meeting to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of
Directors and other related matters in accordance with the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee’s written
terms of reference.
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TEERKRS

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the auditor, Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited, to
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted
to HK$1,060,000 and HK$100,000 respectively. Non-audit
services were mainly related to professional services in
connection with interim financial information.

SWRS Risk Services Limited provided internal audit services
to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to
HK$155,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Ms. Choi Yin Ying. She has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to update
her skills and knowledge for the year ended 31 March 2022.
For details and professional qualifications of Ms. Choi Yin Ying,
please refer to the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2022, which give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group on a going concern
basis. Statements of Directors’ responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements and external auditor’s
reporting responsibilities are set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report”.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining the Company’s internal
control system and risk management procedures and for
reviewing the effectiveness of these controls annually.
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TEERKRS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

To enhance corporate governance, the Group implements
internal control and audit supervision to reduce operating
risks. The Group has established an internal audit system
in accordance with relevant regulations. Internal audit is an
independent consultation, evaluation, control and supervision
activity carried out within the Group. Through systematic and
standardized methods, the Group reviews and evaluates within
various departments of their operating activities and target
achievement, the establishment and implementation of internal
control, the utilization of resources, etc. It also provides relevant
analysis, recommendations, assistance, and supervision for
management personnel to perform their duties in due diligence.

During the Year, the Directors have continuously reviewed and
are satisfied that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, including, in particular, financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions, are
effective and adequate to safeguard the Group’s assets against
unauthorized use or disposition, and to protect the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The annual report, interim report and quarterly reports offer
comprehensive information to the Shareholders on operational
and financial performance whereas AGM provide a forum for the
Shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. The
general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board.
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EEXELBRS

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continuea)
According to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. The requisition must be
lodged with the registered office of the Company. The written
requisition (i) must state the purposes of the EGM, and (ii) must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for attention
of the Board or the Company Secretary, and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition. Such requisitions will be
verified by the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office and upon their confirmation that the requisition is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will inform the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by serving sufficient
notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has
been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised
of this outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general
meeting will not be convened as requested.

As regards to proposing a person for election as a director,
please refer to the procedures as set out in the Articles of
Association on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect
of their rights to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company establishes different
communication channels with investors to update the latest
business development and financial performance including
the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports, the
publishing and posting of notices, announcements and circulars
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in
order to maintain a high level of transparency, and to ensure
there is no selective disclosure of inside information.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has published its Articles of Association on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. During
the Year, no amendments were made to the constitutional
documents of the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERELBRS

1. BOARD STATEMENT 1.
The Board attaches great importance to environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) issues. The Group has
established and gradually improved its ESG governance
and management mechanisms to promote the integration
of ESG into the Group’s operations and management. The
Board believes this integration will ultimately lead to stable
long-term environmental, social, and corporate values.

EFEEMH

EFEIFERRE HERER (TESGY) F
HeAEBEBRUNZED TEESCGE AN EER
B EMEBHESGRALTEBR ZKEERER B
FERELERERRETRERERENRE 1L
ghi*EE

1.1 ESG Governance Structure

The Group believes that well-established ESG
principles and practices will increase investment
values and provide long-term sustainable returns to
its stakeholders. Therefore, the Group has developed
a governance framework to ensure the alignment
of ESG governance with its strategic growth, while
advocating the integration of ESG into its business
operations.

The Board is the highest responsible decision-making
authority for ESG matters. To better manage the
Group’s ESG-related issues, the Board examines and
approves the ESG-related management approaches,
strategies, goals and targets, priorities, policies and
frameworks, as well as reviews the progress towards
their implementation and achievement with the
assistance of the assigned personnel from various
functional departments. Besides, the Board is also
accountable for ensuring the effectiveness of ESG
risk management and internal control mechanism
through a periodical review against ESG related
issues.

The Group has assigned designated personnel from
various functional departments for overseeing the
implementation of the Board’s ESG decisions. The
said personnel are responsible for collecting and
analysing the relevant ESG information, identifying
and assessing the Group’s ESG risks, as well as
planning and implementing ESG-related policies,
guidelines and measures. The designated personnel
from various functional departments also identify,
evaluate and prioritise material ESG issues through
materiality assessment, which are further reviewed
and endorsed by the Board for report disclosure. In
addition, the said personnel periodically report the
ESG-related matters to the Board for the evaluation
and subsequent implementation or revision of
the Group’s ESG strategies and management
approaches, and to ensure appropriate risk
management on ESG.
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RIE-HERELBRS

1.

BOARD STATEMENT (continuead)
1.2 ESG Commitment

As an enterprise that upholds corporate social
responsibility, the Group acknowledges the
importance of reducing its impact on the
environment. To fulfil the Group’s commitment
to corporate social responsibility and allow the
Group’s stakeholders to better understand the
Group’s progress in improving ESG performance,
the Group will continue to deepen the integration
of ESG concepts into its business strategy and
management system, and operate its business in a
more responsible and sustainable manner in order to
create sustainable value for shareholders and pursue
a sustainable future.

In order to identify and assess the material concerns
of the stakeholders, the Group has conducted
materiality assessment surveys through stakeholder
engagement. The assessment helped the Group
determine the factors that have material impacts
on its sustainable growth and incorporated them
in the development of its ESG strategies and
targets. The Group’s focus on ESG includes climate
action and energy saving, along with managing its
resources and waste effectively. Recognising the
urgent need for decisive action to mitigate climate
change, the Group has set targets to enhance
its performance on greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions, energy efficiency, water consumption
and waste management. The Group believes setting
ESG-related targets can enhance the Group’s
commitment to corporate social responsibility and
allow the Group’s stakeholders to have a clearer
understanding on the ESG performance of the
Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERELBRS

2. ABOUT THE REPORT 2. ERAFTHRSE
The environmental, social and governance report (the BRE-MHEAEARE ((HAESGHRSE)) FEMRE
“ESG Report”) covers the environmental and social AEER2021F481HE2022F3831HIEFE
performance of the Group’s principal segments during the FESB2RERMERIT S AEETFE
year from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 and presents the BERERAFEZENRAER  AESGIR G it N EE
efforts and achievements made towards sustainability by ENREAMEEHER UWREENFELRERL
the Group. The ESG Report details the performance of the BRI ©
Group in enforcing environmental and social policies and
fulfilling the principle of sustainable development.

2.1 Scope of the ESG Report 2.1 ESGHREZEE

The senior management of the Group identifies
the reporting scope by considering the materiality
principle, its core business and its main revenue
source. The Group’s principal segments are the
retail sales and wholesales of wine products and
other alcoholic beverages (“Wine Business”);
the provision of loan financing and consultancy
services (the “Loan Financing Business”); and
the provision of financial services (the “Financial

FEERREEBRBEEZMERA ZO
EBREITBWARBREERS ZH#HE &
ERFENBNTEAMEBGEEERR
HitvBBam (AEBEER)  BRHENRE
BERERERD (ERMERES)) kEHS
RS ((ERMRBEER) -HRNEAERBDE
IEMRBANMEZEBRIRES (B
ERBEB) NEE BRERBESN
ESGRIET B ALRESGH S - RESGIR S

BT R EMIER (TKPIs ) HiREASE
BREBRPEARENE (THE)) 5
BEERIZNB ARSI ENRBEETE
BRAOM-BEREEXERABRZENEH
SIRAFRZ BEEARARS -

Services Business”). Since the Group has ceased
its operation of the provision of cryptocurrency
exchange business in Japan (the “Blockchain
Services Business”), the ESG performance of
the Blockchain Services Business was no longer
consolidated into the ESG Report. Key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) shown in this ESG Report were
gathered and analysed based on data collected from
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) that are under the Group’s
direct operational control. Information relating to
corporate governance practices can be found in the
Corporate Governance Report included of this annual
report.
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2. ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)

2.2 Reporting Standard

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance
with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as
set out in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Group attaches great importance to materiality,
quantitative, and consistency during the preparation
for the ESG Report. The Group has applied these
reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide.

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to
identify material ESG issues of the Group during the
Year, thereby adopting the confirmed material issues
as the focus of the ESG Report. The materiality of
ESG issues was reviewed and confirmed by the
Board and the senior management of the Group.
Please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” for
further details.

Quantitative: This ESG Report discloses KPIs in
a quantitative manner. Information regarding the
standards, methodologies, assumptions and/
or calculation references; and sources of key
conversion factors used for KPIs is stated wherever
appropriate.

Consistency: Except for the change in reporting
scope, the statistical methodologies applied to the
ESG Report were substantially consistent with the
previous year, allowing meaningful comparison. If
there are any changes that may affect comparison
with previous reports, the Group will provide
explanatory notes to the corresponding section of
this ESG Report.

The Group has established internal controls and a
formal review process to ensure that any information
presented in this ESG Report is as accurate and
reliable as possible. This ESG report has been
approved by the Board.
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2. ABOUT THE REPORT (Continued)

2.3 Information and Feedback
Your opinions are highly valued. If you have any
enquiries or suggestions, please feel free to contact
the Company via the following channels:

Email: info@madison-group.com.hk
Website: www.madison-group.com.hk
Address: Units 26-28, 8/F., One Island South,
2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang,
Hong Kong
ABOUT US

Regarding the Wine Business, the Group provides
customers with a one-stop shop service. The Group
provides its clients and wine aficionados with a full
range of products and value-added services, aiming
at enhancing customer satisfaction and retention by
improving customer convenience.

Apart from the Wine Business, the Group also engages in
the Loan Financing Business and the Financial Services
Business. Looking ahead, the Group will strive to
strengthen its all-round market position in Hong Kong as
well as to explore business opportunities overseas in an
attempt to create synergies with different businesses.

OUR APPROACH TO ESG

The Group recognises the importance of expanding its
business whilst not placing the environment in jeopardy. In
order to promote business growth and achieve sustainable
development, the Group is committed to striking a balance
among the interests of investors, shareholders, clients,
employees, business partners and other stakeholders in
society.
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4. OUR APPROACH TO ESG (continued)

4.1 Stakeholder Engagement

The preparation of the ESG Report, which included
the participation of different stakeholders, helped
the Group to review its current performance on
the environmental and social aspects and also
served as a basis for the revision and formulation
of the Group’s sustainability strategies. In order
to understand the stakeholders’ expectations
and concerns, the Group has established various
channels to collect opinions regarding its ESG
performance and to address reasonable expectations
of the Group’s stakeholders.

The following table shows the Group’s engagement
with stakeholders and their expectations through
diversified communication channels:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERELBRS

4. ETIWESGH E @
41 FHEZHE
TEFHHE L RIERNACSGIRE - BRAL
Eigs HEMEBERLE S EOEN
A EAET R CAEE T FERRES
B R o B T RIS (P EMEIE KRR
AEBEDETSEEELNESRMESGE
BrEE TEEAEREH SN2

wo
TRETAEEBESEEBRERBR
PERERPE

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
FnE HAEE R RAE EEEE
Government and e Compliance with local policies, e Written or electronic
regulatory authorities laws and regulations correspondence
BN REEHE ETEMEBUER AR ROER EEEEFEA
e On-time tax payment e \Visits and inspections
BN IR S REE
Shareholders and e Sustainable economic e Annual general meeting and other
investors performance shareholders’ meetings
REREEE Al B RIR RERBEFAEREMBRERS
e Risk management e Financial reports
R EIE MRS
e Sound corporate governance e Announcements and circulars
practices NERBK
RIFtXEARER e Company websites
NGIEER
Customers e Knowledgeable wine suggestions e Visits to flagship store
=B from sommelier 2EEES
M HIBREBEME B E B 22 | ¢ Customer service hotline and
= emails
e High-quality services EHR AR TS B4R S BB
BER
e Customer satisfaction
BEEaRE
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4. OUR APPROACH TO ESG (continuead)
4.1 Stakeholder Engagement (Continued)

4. REMMWESGH & &
41 HHEZHE ©®

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels

Good employment practices

RFEREER

BFHhE R REE BERE
Employees e Remuneration and benefits e Training, seminars, and briefing
== Fi B 2 & F) sessions

Bl g RERE

e Performance reviews

SIIMAITHERE
Participation in industrial
development
BHITERRE

e Safe and healthy work BT L
environment e Emails
ZeREREIFIRERE B
Suppliers and business e Operation with integrity e Business meetings and
partners S R E discussions
HIEm R ERB T e Fair and open procurement ERa=E e
process e Site visits
NERHANKEIBRE BithF 52
e On-time payment
SN
Industry e Establishment of industrial e Participation in industry forums
7% standards 2HT¥ERE

e Field visits

BthER

Loan and debt holders

BEREHFHAEE

Regular discussions
TE B 5%
Compliant operation
BREE

e Regular meetings
EHE &

Media and the public
HEE R AR

Transparent information disclosure
B ARERA

e ESG reports
ESGHR &

e Company website
NGIE b

e Social media platforms

HRERFE

EEREREMERAT F$#R2021/22
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4. OUR APPROACH TO ESG (continued)

4.2 Materiality Assessment

The Group pays attention to ESG-related risks that
may have significant impacts on the Group. Thus,
the senior management regularly conducts materiality
assessments of important ESG issues based on the
external socioeconomic environment and the Group’s
development strategy.

In accordance with the requirements of the ESG
Reporting Guide and industry standard, the Group
has identified ESG issues and comprehensively
assessed the importance of each issue to its
business development and the concern of
stakeholders, ranked the importance of ESG issues,
determined the focus of disclosure in the ESG
Report, enhanced the relevance of the ESG Report
and responded to the expectations and demands of
stakeholders.

Summary of the Group’s material ESG issues
according to their relative importance are shown as
follows:

4. ETPIVESGH # &=
4.2 EEMTG
AEEERAENAERELEETALEN
ESGHERIA K - AL > SR S I2E 2RI
BHECHBERAERSESR T8
HESGEBEHETEE M TG

AEELIRESCGHREIESIMTEREZE
K>BEEESGEEH IHRAFEEEEE
HRABEBERNEZUENFTHENRE
B HEESGEEZEZMETHF HEE
TEESGHREMIRBEE R UL RESGIR & /8
Bt WRIEFMNENHEREK

AEB ZESCEAEERAEHEEHE
A

Materiality Matrix
BEEMIERE

3
@
>
T

Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
PR B TR SamIS5 T

Climate Change Mitigation Data Privacy Protection
and Adaptation HRIERARE
MR R RIREE -

SHERRRZ HERRE

B

HiFHE

Water Consumption
i3

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

BERMEHR

@
Less material {(EEZE

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDERS’ ASSESSMENTS AND DECISIONS

,_
<}
=
=
P22l

Health and Safety
RERZE

Advertising and Labelling
EERRE

Employees’ Rights and Welfare
R BRI RA8F

O,

O)
Waste Management
ERYEE
O)

More material & EE 14

Whistle-blowing Mechanism
SERHE
()

Supply Chain Management
AR EE

Product Quality Management
ERaEEE
Customer Satisfaction

Training and Development
BHlRkER

Use of Packaging Material
BEMEIER

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESSES High =)

FEMEHZEERE
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5. ANER
5.1 EE#EH RIEF

5. HUMAN RESOURCES
5.1 Employees’ Rights and Welfare

Human resources are the most indispensable
cornerstone of the Group’s development. The
sustainable growth of the Group relies on good
recruitment and retention practices. The Group has
established and strictly enforced a comprehensive
human resources management system based on
applicable laws and regulations.

Employment policies are formally documented in
the staff manual of the Group (the “Staff Manual’),
covering recruitment and promotion, dismissal and
compensation, diversity, anti-discrimination and
equal opportunities, working hours and rest periods.
The Group’s management undertakes to ensure that
all human resources practices within the Group are
in compliance with relevant legal requirements. To
make sure that employees are aware of their rights
and welfare, the Group provides its employees with
the related documents and materials and clearly
conveys to its employees the information related to
the Group’s employment policies, mission and vision,
work ethics and related occupational safety and
health guidelines. Reports on poor labour practices
will be duly submitted to senior management of the
Group with recommendations on how to handle such
cases when necessary.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 124
employees (2021: 128).

ANERDAEBERR A NRNE
FoAEENAFERRBURAN RFHNE
BREBER - AEECRBEEREIRER
ROABILLBEBATEZENANEREE

ERABRREEASHRETELFMP BHE
BREMNET RENEE 2Tl RIKE
MPEHRE  THREARKSRE -AEH
EEEAERREAEENMBEANERE
RERTEREEREE - ARRER TH
BEEMN K@ AEER RS IR HEH
XHEMER TR EEHEGELEAEHR
BYREER Lo MRS B EER A/
BEZE2MNREESIZERE - ABATRS
IIRZREBRFEXRTEESREE
B rUurERRENFEELERGZ
e

202253831 H  KEBEEB124%E T
(20214F : 128%) ©
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5. HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)

5.1 Employees’ Rights and Welfare (Continued)

The distribution of employees of the Group according
to gender, age group, geographical region and
employment type was summarised as follows:
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5. N\ hER®
51 EEEFNKREN @
AEEBER - ERAT BB D RIER
B EERMARTINT :

2022
Number of Employees BT A 20224
By Gender ¥ 14 B
Male B4 54
Female pege 70
By Age Group e E AR R
30 or below 305k LR 19
31-40 31-40 81
41 or above 4180 £ 24
By Geographical Region #itE
Hong Kong 558 37
The PRC R 87
By Employment Type HEFEER
Full-time D 114
Part-time Ei 10

During the Year, the Group’s overall turnover rate
was approximately 25.00%'. The Group’s employee
turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region are as below:

FR AERERRBEEMRELEXS25.00% -
REEZMER S FHAERN Rt&E B 5 2R
REBRMEIWMT

2022
Turnover Rate (%)?2 TR E(%)? 20224
By Gender R
Male B 29.63
Female 7 21.43
By Age Group ¥ FEhe 40 Bl
30 or below 30z LR 43.37
31-40 31-40 24.69
41 or above 418 L £ 8.33
By Geographical Region &
Hong Kong 548 5.41
The PRC R 33.33
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5. N\hER®
51 EEEFNKREN @

5. HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)
5.1 Employees’ Rights and Welfare (Continued)

Notes:

1. The overall turnover rate is calculated by dividing the
number of employees leaving employment during the
Year by the number of employees as at the end of the
Year. Relevant figures have been disclosed from 2022
onwards.

2. The turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number
of employees leaving employment during the Year in
the specific category by the number of employees
as at the end of the Year in each category. Relevant
figures have been disclosed from 2022 onwards.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group, including, but not limited to,
the Employment Ordinance, the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance
and the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance of
Hong Kong and the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China.

Recruitment, Diversity and Equal Opportunities
The recruitment process is detailed within the Staff
Manual. During the process of recruitment, the
Group upholds the principles of anti-discrimination,
equal opportunities and diversity to select the right
candidates with suitable qualifications, experiences,
skills, potential and performance, regardless of their
age, gender, sexual orientation, marital status, family
status or disability.

Dismissal Procedures

When an employee is dismissed, the Group will
follow a set of procedures pursuant to the human
resources management system to terminate his or
her employment contract. Terms and conditions
for dismissal are outlined in the employment
contract and the related policy manual. In all cases,
supervisors will consult the human resources
department, legal department and/or management to
ensure that the termination of employment contract
are based on reasonable and lawful grounds.

=2

1. BREARTDRENNBERES T ABIRUE
KRBT A ESH BRI E2022
FIERIAINEE

2. MEAERDEBEANEERNBEBETIAR
FRIUAFRNWE T A ER L - HE RS
BH2022F LRI IR IR EE -

FRNAEERLANTEERNEKRERE
HEBEZERRABHEERSENERT
Z gEENRREB(RERAN) ~ (K5
IS ARG ~ (B8 9% 5 AR A% £51) ) A0 € 5 e fod 1A %
BIRO) R(PEARHKMBESZENE) ©

R -ZTtRTESEET
BEBETEETIFMPALMRE -4
BEEt AEETEERER FEHE
EEZTERA REAESBEERE KB
FRENBEMRRZIEEA FmEEH
HRANMEREBER T - RERIARS
JEPR o

fRERE

EREEER  AFEERBERANERE
Bz —RIEFRLHEREN &
BENRAEBRBRTMTE &I EEIFRR
FRABRI-FAAEBERT  TERGHBAANE
IREBFI S EREPIR, HEEE  UERS
EBaEMmR I LRESN-
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5. HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)

5.1 Employees’ Rights and Welfare (Continued)

Promotion and Performance Appraisal

The Group assesses the performance of the
employees regularly, the results of which are used in
their annual salary review, promotion opportunities
and training suggestions. The Group also gives
preference to internal promotion to encourage
consistent and continuous effort.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

Achieving work-life balance is essential for keeping
employees healthy and productive. The Group
has therefore standardised the working hours and
leave policy for different kinds of employees. The
Group has implemented the measure of an eight-
hour workday for all employees, whereas a five-
day workweek and six-day workweek are applied to
office staff and retail staff respectively. All employees
are entitled to a number of leaves such as public
holidays, annual leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, marriage leave and compassionate leave. The
provisions governing working hours and rest periods
are in accordance with local employment laws.

Benefits and Welfare

To attract and retain staff, the Group has formulated
a competitive remuneration and welfare package.
The standard remuneration package includes basic
salary, discretionary bonuses and medical insurance.
In addition to a basic salary, a year-end bonus is
offered to employees with outstanding performance
to attract and retain them for further development
of the Group. Share options are granted to eligible
employees based on the Group’s performance as
well as the individual’s contribution. In addition,
each of the sales team members is entitled to a
commission with reference to the sales volume
achieved. The Group will adjust the remuneration and
welfare of each employee regularly with reference to
individual’s experience, job performance, job nature,
as well as market conditions.
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BT IFRLEETHHERSESRERE
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ERELCTHEREABHER -ZEEBR
FREREERSX/NEILER > mka
EREREATEREDHNETARIFER
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FERER

BTIRSIRBEET AEEBET —F&
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5. HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)
5.2 Health and Safety

5. N\hER®
52 BEHEZR

The Group places health and safety of employees at
the first priority by strictly conforming to all relevant
occupational health and safety laws and regulations.
The Group has formulated, implemented and
monitored a series of codes of practice for health
and safety at work with reference to the industry
conventions and supervision regulations to ensure
the health and safety of its employees. Led by the
Group’s management, the administration department
and supervisors from various departments
collectively carry out safety management by
identifying potential risks, coordinating health and
safety training, providing related information to
employees, as well as equipping adequate first aid
supplies and fire service equipment.

Furthermore, the Group has established safety
procedures for the job with hazardous nature and
required every employee to be accountable for the
Group’s safety goals. General safety orientation
on safety regulations and emergency procedures
are provided to new employees. The Group has
also formulated emergency measures such as fire
emergency plans and regularly arranged fire and
evacuation drills in order to prevent casualties in
case of accidents. A system for reporting hazards,
accidents, injuries and ilinesses is also set up so that
responses can be made promptly.

During the Year, the Group recorded one work-
related injury with 151 lost days due to work injury.
However, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with health and safety-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group, including, but not limited to
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of
Hong Kong and the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases. In addition, there was no work-related
fatalities occurred in each of the past three years.

FEBEREENREAZE2REEN &
BRETHEERBERERAZENERER
RO -AEEESRITEERKEERE
FE - BRAER-—RIBERERZS
SR UEREEZERE -EAEEER
NHRT THRHMRSESFIEESE
BEEETRR HEETR2EE {5
BEAZ2EI REESRMHEBER
REcHR NS MABmAOHEh®RE -

o xEFEFECEEETFZEEE
F i BZREREAHAEENLZEZER
AEET - AEETRAMABEERHTR
ETAREEEFNELAZ2EI K&
BMITGIE T HEEE S RERESEN I
EHZIH RREEE  BUBREHE
TEHRFRENBTC - AERTRELE S
BB URERZRE R UEEERF
15 790 By ST IR FE ¥ o

FRFERG/ISIG BIGEAT
EEBERI51B A AEBLARER
ERERERBREAZZEBRERKRED
RHEAEBEREATE  BFEEFAERN
EER(BEZERBEEA) R(TEARHK
MBIBERIAE) b BE=ZF K
HERTIFABMZETERE-
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5. HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)

5.3

5.4

Response to COVID-19 Pandemic

To avoid the spreading of COVID-19, the Group has
conducted additional sanitation procedures in its
warehouses and offices. As a preventive measure,
employees’ temperature must be taken before
entering the Group’s premises. They were also
required to wear a face mask at all times. In addition,
the Group announced flexible and adaptive working
arrangements to reduce potential exposure.

Training and Development

It is the Group’s conviction that its success hinges
on the employees’ performance. Training and
continuous development are therefore indispensable
to keep abreast of the rapidly evolving trend of the
industry and to satisfy customers’ ever-changing
needs. Therefore, delivering knowledge and skills
to the Group’s employees and hence fostering their
career development has long been a core strategy
of the Group. The Group is committed to employee
development and has implemented relevant
policies on providing various training programmes
to strengthen their industry, technical and product
knowledge.

All newly recruited employees are required to attend
the induction training. Training activities including
orientation programmes, coaching and on-the-
job training, aim to enhance employees’ sales and
marketing techniques, client management skills,
customer service, product information, quality control
and industry knowledge. Training content is regularly
reviewed and updated to ensure that such content
continues to be of relevance and brings value to its
employees.
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5. N\DER ®
5.4 1B KERE &)

5. HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)
5.4 Training and Development (Continued)

As mentioned previously, the Group is in favour of
internal promotion. Therefore, adequate on-the-job
and professional training are provided to make sure
employees are qualified for senior positions. The
Group encourages its employees to apply for internal
and external training to strengthen their technical
skills by providing training allowance for all eligible
employees who enroll in courses related to their job
nature per calendar year. The Group also pays for the
employees’ professional membership renewal fees
that are relevant to their current job position.

During the Year, the Group recorded approximately
61.29%" of trained employee, with an average of
approximately 3.29 training hours per employee?.
The percentage of trained employees, the breakdown
of trained employees and average training hours
completed per employee are as follows:

SORIPRI » REE KB AEE - EI > &
EEREHEMNNEBKREFEEEI > UER
BREEEREIESBU TEERERE
EFRFRE R IEBIEIILE R E R I
BERSMATHELEERRENMAES
EREERHEBIEM sEBTRER
SXMNEEERBURAMNEEXEESERE
FHo

FR FZEEBBRIBEB DY
61.29%' > FHIELEEEIFHA#3.29
MR- ZHEEBT DL ZIEEHMA R
SRS M TFIIENIREIT

Percentage Breakdown Average

of Trained of Trained Training

Employees® (%) Employees* (%) Hours® (Hours)

ZilEE ZilEE T3

Indicators® o iEe B (%) AR (%) B85 (1VB)

By Gender R

Male B4 77.78% 55.26% 3.96

Female pegE: 48.57% 44.74% 2.77
By Employee Category RESHER

Senior Management SREEE 44.44% 5.26% 15.67

Management SIE 7.69% 2.63% 1.65

General Staff —REE 78.65% 92.11% 2.52
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5. N\OhER ®
5.4 1IZIIKRERE &
HiaE

5. HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)

5.4 Training and Development (Continued)
Notes:

The calculation formula of percentage of trained
employees is shown as below:

Percentage of trained employees = X/Y * 100%

X = Number of trained employees during the Year
Y = Number of employees as at the end of the Year

ZIMEEEDLEHNATARNMT ¢

ZilfEE B D = X/Y * 100%

X=FARZIESR/HY
Y = RERNESEH

The calculation formula of average training hours per 2. SHEBNTHEFIFHENAELAKN
employee is shown as below: ™
Average training hours per employee = X/Y * 100% FLEENFEBEIIRFE = X/Y * 100%
X = Total number of training hours during the Year X = FRES B
Y = Number of employees as at the end of the Year Y= RERNEELH
The calculation formula of percentage of trained 3. REHISNZIRERETALENFEAR
employees by category is shown as below: N
Percentage of trained employees = X/Y * 100% BERE TN ZIREBEBT DL = X/Y *
100%
X = Number of trained employees in the specified X=FRRFEHEINZIRELH
category during the Year
Y = Number of trained employees in the specified Y = REXRNFTIENEEEH
category as at the end of the Year
The calculation formula of breakdown of trained 4. REHIASHNZIIEREPMENE AU
employee by category is shown as below: i
Breakdown of trained employee by category = X/Y * B A DN ZEERM = X/Y * 100%
100%
X = Number of trained employees in the specified X=FRFEHEINZIIEELH
category during the Year
Y = Total number of trained employees during the Y= FATIEELH
Year
The calculation formula of average training hours by 5. RERBSHNFEHEEINFHENGFEARN
category is shown as below: T
Average training hours by category = X/Y * 100% ZEE R B 50 FIIE IR E = X/Y * 100%
X = Number of training hours for employees in the X = FREFELERESEIIFH
specified category during the Year
Y = Number of employees in the specified category Y= RERNFEEINESEH
as at the end of the Year
Relevant figures have been disclosed from 2022 6. IHRABUIE E2022F BRI IAINEE o T 1B R

onwards. All the relevant training data excluded
employees who left the Group during the Year.
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5. NNER @
5.5 PHLEE T K@% T

5. HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)
5.5 Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group respects human rights and strictly
prohibits any unethical hiring practices, including
child and forced labour in the workplace. The Group
conducts recruitment in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Personal data and other credentials are collected in
particular during the recruitment process to ensure
that those laws and regulations are not violated.

Where applicable, the human resources department
of the Group collects and thoroughly checks the
documents provided by the applicants, including
identity documents, and subsequently reviews the
personal data and/or credentials of successful
applicants to ensure compliance with relevant labour
laws.

The Group guarantees that no employees will be
made to work against his/her will or be coerced to
work. Meanwhile, the recruitment of child labour is
also strictly prohibited; all employees recruited by
the Group are above the minimum legal working
age of respective jurisdictions. In circumstances
where any individual below the legal working age
is hired, corrective actions will be taken by the
Group immediately to rectify the situation, including
terminating the employee and reporting to the
relevant Governmental authorities. Overtime work
is on a discretionary basis, compensatory leave
or compensatory working hours will be provided if
overtime work is performed.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including, but not
limited to, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
and the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

FEBEEAR BREEIATEBZER
TR BEESEIRBBEFE T -AEER
BEAENTEBRERRRAETHE:
LTHEBEBETRENBAAER REM
AN LI ERAERBEBERRIRM -

HEERBNBERT  AEBANERIENE
WETHERERFERHIXE  BF
BMBHAXMF EMBEERFRINE ZE
ANER R /SHBE URFRETHRBS T
B e

FERREFCEEEDTEREEENBRT
BEBHIfF-RAF BERRLEEIERE X
EEEENMAERERENBRSBAZEZER
BNRBEIEIFFR NEEBEHE
RAEAETIFFRZEE  NEBR LK
EBEEMUAELBR BE#ERE
WEBFABRFEERS ~EBNIBRE
MNDETAE > SN T/ANEE T 1% > B S 42 (A R 3L
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6. BUSINESS OPERATION

6.1 Supply Chain Management

The Group recognises the importance of supply
chain management to its business and emphasises
the management of potential environmental and
social risks in the supply chain. The Group has in
place well-established procedures to select and
monitor contractors and suppliers. All suppliers are
carefully evaluated under rigorous and standardised
procurement procedures, and they are regularly
monitored and evaluated in a fair manner.

In the Wine Business, the Group mainly procures
wine products through (i.) purchases from wine
merchants and wineries; (ii.) purchases through
auction houses; and (iii.) purchases from individual
wine collectors.

The number of suppliers by geographic region is as
follows:
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6. X¥FEEE
6.1 HEHEHEIR
AEEEOEERSEN YR EE
WEREEMHERTETINBERTER
B REEBHIERENRFUEIERE
B ERE R RS o BT e A 1 T R AR
R B IR BB T2 R TP AR AT (S
¥ TE B T B 42 Ry 5T A o

B ELE AEETEHFBLUTE
EREEEEER ()88 88 KA
B(i)EHETHEE; Rii)BRAEEE
NE-EL -

rMEd R HERBENT:

Number of suppliers

Geographical region & HEFEHE
Hong Kong &% 63
United States EE 11
France VI 30
Spain 2N 2
taly BAF 1
Australia B 36
Others Hih 7

As part of the Group’s quality control measures to
maintain the Group’s corporate image, suppliers are
selected based on a number of factors, including
their reputation for product quality and supply
reliability, their history of operations, size of the
business, overall reputation, delivery time, products
portfolio, product availability, and promotions offered
by the suppliers. After approval, the new suppliers
will be included in the Group’s authorised supplier
list.
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6. BUSINESS OPERATION (Continued) 6. EFEE »

6.1 Supply Chain Management (Continued) 6.1 HEHEEIE (&
The Group also pays close attention to the AREBTEYRIAHEINIRERER
environmental awareness of its suppliers and activity WHEXNERESRREELSHRERRE®R
promotes environmentally-preferable products FRFB - EREEEERNBR T AEH
and services when selecting supplier. Whenever BREEERBHREFER VIR G
complying with operating requirements, the Group EamlRE-
gives priority to sourcing equipment that has a lower
environmental impact or is more energy efficient.
The Group recognises the importance of good AEEEERFNHERESERERE K
supply chain management practices in mitigating BREMCEEMBHNEEEH ARG EHE
environmental and social risks. In view of green BEE AEETBHEREBAES
procurement, the Group encourages its suppliers HHEBSHER 2B A RREEHIR
to consider the risks posed to their operations BzEB AEBRRKEHER RTHHEE
by climate change and to actively mitigate their moURRETEEERRBEE - HEH
environmental impacts. The Group’s suppliers are FEHREZERABRBEROETELE A
subject to regular monitoring and evaluation to BEERIESEe
ensure their compliance with quality and service
standards. Should products or services provided
by the supplier fall below the agreed standard, the
cooperation may be terminated.
In addition, the Group strives not to over-rely on a o KEBERFSERRARBEHE
particular supplier by maintaining more than one B—EAHEEREERIARE RO
supplier for each type of goods or services provided IFEERBRECHER  URRMEEHEN
in order to ensure the stability of the supply chain. BEM-

6.2 Product Quality Management 6.2 EmEEEIE

Quality management is always emphasised by
the Group as alcoholic beverages are susceptible
to external environmental factors such as the
storage environment. To ensure the quality of the
Group’s products and customers’ health and safety,
the Group has established strict guidelines and
procedures on the storage, delivery and packaging of
products.

The Group’s self-operated warehouses are
designed in conformity with the Fine Wine Storage
Management Systems Standard of Hong Kong
Quality Assurance Agency (HKQAA), in which
temperature and humidity control system is in place
to maintain an optimal environment for wine storage.
The floor and the ceilings of the warehouses are also
fitted with insulation and anti-vibration materials in
a bid to protect the wine products from heat and
vibration.
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6. BUSINESS OPERATION (continued)

6.2 Product Quality Management (Continued)

At the flagship store, some of the premier collectible
wine products are stored at wine refrigerators at a
specific temperature, while other products are kept
at shelves and a constant temperature is maintained
at all times to preserve product quality. In the event
of power failure, the back-up power system at
the warehouses will automatically generate power
to support the temperature and humidity control
system for up to eight hours. In the meantime, a staff
member is assigned to monitor the temperature and
humidity levels of the flagship store round-the-clock.

In addition to fulfilling the storage requirements, the
Group also carefully inspects sample wine products
and photos of old and expensive stock prior to
placing orders with wine merchants and wineries.
The Group also conducts quality control inspections
upon receiving the products. In line with the industrial
practice, the Group adheres to the suppliers’
return policy pursuant to the terms of the relevant
purchases.

To protect consumer rights, customers may request
for product return or exchanges for wine products
with vintages below 10 years and with the selling
prices below HK$1,000 per bottle upon presenting
the proof of purchase, in case of any quality issues
verified by the Group. Upon receiving the customer’s
return request, the management of the Group will
verify the reason for the return and obtain relevant
proof. Products will be recalled and remediations will
be taken in a timely fashion if any issues are found
related to product quality or food safety after the
quality control inspection. Analysis on the product
recall incident will also be carried out to prevent the
incident recurrence and implement corrective actions
where necessary in continual improvement on the
quality assurance practices.

During the Year, the Group did not record any
products sold or shipped which were subjected to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
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6. BUSINESS OPERATION (continued)

6.3 Customer Satisfaction and Complaint

Management

The Group’s customer-oriented business philosophy
emphasises the delivery of excellent customer
service. Most of the Group’s customers are local
and overseas wine merchants, avid wine collectors
in Hong Kong and the PRC, renowned Hong Kong
restaurants and high net worth individuals. The
Group endeavours to provide customers with a
convenient one-stop shopping experience and a
variety of unique, high-quality products at reasonable
and competitive prices. To this end, the Group offers
a wide range of services including wine consultation,
sourcing, delivery, storage, and evaluation and
consignment services to cater to the needs of
different customers.

The Group aims to provide customers with the
highest satisfaction when enjoying the Group’s
products and services. The Group’s commitment
to providing excellent customer services has been
recognised by the certification of Quality Tourism
Services Scheme issued by the Hong Kong Tourism
Board.

Feedbacks and complaints from the Group’s
customers are highly valued as it is critical to the
continuous development of the Group. Procedures
for handling feedback and complaints have been
set up. Complaints received will be discussed
and reviewed by the management during regular
meetings to prevent re-occurrence, appropriate
corrective actions will be devised in a timely
manner. During the Year, the Group did not record
any material cases of product or service-related
complaints.
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6. BUSINESS OPERATION (continued)

6.4

6.5

Data Privacy Protection

The Group endeavours to protect all sensitive
information pertaining to the Group and its
stakeholders and take reasonable measures
to preserve the integrity of customers’ and
stakeholders’ data and prevent any corruption or
loss of customers’ data. The Group has established
the I.T. Policy, which can be found within the Staff
Manual, in compliance with relevant data privacy
laws and regulations of the respective jurisdictions
to ensure that its employees have proper knowledge
and support with regard to handling sensitive
information. Only authorised personnel are permitted
to access the clients’ information database and
they are entitled to access the information on a
need-to-know basis. All employees are required
to covenant that he or she shall not, at any time
during his or her employment or after the termination
of the employment, disclose or make use of any
confidential information without the consent of the
Group. The action plans stated within the I.T. Policy
are reviewed annually. Any employee violating this
policy may be subject to disciplinary action up to and
including immediate termination of employment.

Advertising and Labelling

Improper dissemination of information and the sale
of alcoholic products to minors may result in grave
consequences. Therefore, the Group is particularly
aware of the important of preventing the sale and
supply of intoxicating liquor to minors and the
accuracy of the promotional materials, such materials
of the Group are subjected to strict compliance with
the Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Under the Dutiable Commodities (Amendment)
Ordinance 2018 of Hong Kong, the Group is also
required to display a sign containing both Chinese
and English versions of the prescribed notice in a
prominent location easily seen by the public.
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6. BUSINESS OPERATION (continued)

6.6

6.7

Intellectual Property (“IP”) Rights

The Group actively monitors the overall use,
registration and management of intangible IP rights
and put in place anti-counterfeiting measures. The
Group has obtained registration of the Group’s
trademarks in Hong Kong; the domain name was
also registered. In addition, the Group strictly
prohibits employees to install any unauthorised and
illegal computer and application software to ensure
that IP rights are observed and protected.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations concerning health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services and methods of redress that would
have a significant impact on the Group, including,
but not limited to the Dutiable Commodities
(Amendment) Ordinance 2018 of Hong Kong, the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection
of Consumer Rights, the Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China.

Business Ethics

Unethical business practices could weaken
the business stability of the Group. The Group
strictly prohibits bribery, extortion, fraud money
laundering, and any other corrupt practices.
Hence, the Board implemented a zero-tolerance
policy in practice in terms of bribery, extortion, and
fraud money-laundering. Through strengthening
corporate governance and risk management, the
Group adheres to the values of integrity, fairness,
transparency and accountability to prevent corruption
and protect the interests of stakeholders.
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6. BUSINESS OPERATION (continued)

6.7 Business Ethics (Continued)

The Group has established a strict corporate
governance mechanism in compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules and SFO and to forbid any fraudulent
behaviour in the capital market. Employees are
also encouraged to report any form of misconduct,
such as abuse of authority and bribery of clients
or employees. The Group will investigate upon
receiving the report, where necessary, the Group may
report the cases to the relevant regulatory and law
enforcement bodies. During the Year, there were no
concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees.

Besides, the Group has set rules and guidelines
to ensure that employees at all times do not place
themselves in a position of obligation that may lead
to a conflict of interest in dealings with customers,
suppliers, contractors and colleagues. Receiving and
offering personal benefits such as gifts when dealing
with suppliers, vendors or contractors is also strictly
monitored within the Group.

To ensure that all employees can perform their duties
with high ethical standards and professionalism,
employees are highly recommended to participated
in an anti-money laundering and counter-financing
of terrorism seminar to familiarise themselves with
the statutory requirements and enable them to
recognise and subsequently report suspicious money
laundering and terrorist financing activities.

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Group has not provided anti-corruption training
during the Year. The Group will arrange anti-
corruption related training for directors and staff in
the future to reinforce the concept of integrity.

With respect to the supply chain, the Group always
ensures that the procurement process for supplies
or services is conducted in a manner consistent with
the highest ethical standard to assure the continuous
confidence of customers, suppliers and the public on
the Group. Further description of the Group’s supply
chain management has been mentioned in “6.1
Supply Chain Management”.
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6. BUSINESS OPERATION (continued)

6.8 Whistle-blowing Mechanism
The Group has established a Whistle-blowing
Policy to encourage its employees to report
alleged malpractices or misconduct through
various channels. Audit Committee has the overall
responsibility of the policy such as monitoring
and reviewing the operation of the policy, and
providing recommendations for action resulting
from investigations. The day-to-day responsibility
of overseeing and implementing the said policy is
delegated to the head of compliance. Pursuant to
the said policy, the management should ensure that
the whistle-blower would be able to raise concerns
without fear of reprisals and that their identity as a
whistleblower will be kept confidential. The Group
provides assurance to the whistle-blower reporting
in good faith against unfair dismissal or victimisation,
even if the reports are subsequently proved to be
unsubstantiated.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering that would have a significant impact
on the Group, including, but not limited to, the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China,
and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China.

7. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group realises that environmental protection relies
on both collective and individual efforts. In the face of
climate change and increasing awareness of environmental
protection, the Group recognises the importance of
reducing emissions and environmental impacts by
integrating various sustainable measures into its business
operations. Relevant green measures can be found in the
following sections.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 7. RIERE ®
(Continued)
During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material FROARERFNEBERNEREREBELEE
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to air RMGHGEER B RN - BEERES
and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and EBEEMNEERREAR Y AEREREATLE
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that BREEFRNREB((EMEERG) R(PEAR
would have a significant impact on the Group, including, HFERG IEFEGIE RS RIRIE A ) o
but not limited to, the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong
Kong and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste.
7.1 Air Emissions 7.1 mEEHERK
Vehicle usage is the Group’s major source of air RHEZEEd  AEBRBEBIHEKZEER
emissions during its daily operations. Measures BAAEFER EEEmMGH 2 BHEEEN
implemented to manage vehicle usage are mentioned 7.2 GHGHER ©
in the section headed “7.2 GHG Emissions”.
During the Year, due to air pollutant generated by the FROAEBEENRESTEYHENER
Group slightly increased in comparison to previous EFERBEM - AEEEN T —FEH
year. The Group will continue its effort in mitigating BE IRV RBEEN -
the air emissions in the following year.
Summary of air emissions performance: REHMRIEME
Air emissions Unit 2022 2021
REEHEK B 2022%F 20214
Nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) kg
A8 (TNOxJ) F5 44.10 40.26
Sulphur oxides (“SOx”) kg
Aty (FSox.) s 0.14 0.11
Particulate Matter (“PM”) kg
R FREK (TPMY) T 4.07 3.75
7.2 GHG Emissions 7.2 GHGHER

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were
generated from petrol and diesel consumption by
vehicles (Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope
2) and paper waste disposal at landfills (Scope
3). In order to mitigate the GHG emissions, the
Group has set a target to gradually reduce its GHG
emissions intensity through reducing the usage of
vehicle, electricity and paper by 2027, using 2022 as
baseline year.
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7. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 7.

(Continued)
7.2 GHG Emissions (Continued)

IRIERE @

7.2 GHGHER &)

Scope 1 - Direct GHG Emissions

The Group has adopted the following measures
to mitigate direct GHG emissions from petrol
consumption by company vehicles in its operations:

° Plan routes ahead of time to avoid route
repetition and optimise fuel consumption;

° Regularly service vehicles to ensure optimal
engine performance and fuel use;

° Limit the speed of vehicles to avoid excessive
fuel consumption due to high vehicle speed;
and

° Switch off the engine whenever the vehicle is
idling.

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect GHG Emissions
Electricity consumption accounted for the largest
percentage of GHG emissions within the Group. The
Group has implemented measures to reduce energy
consumption, said measures are mentioned in “7.5
Use of Natural Resources”.

Scope 3 - Other Indirect GHG Emissions

Office paper waste disposal attributed to the
category of other indirect GHG emissions. Measures
implemented to reduce paper waste disposal will
be mentioned in the section headed “7.4 Waste
Management”. As a result, employees’ awareness of
reducing GHG emissions has been increased through
these measures.

During the Year, the Group’s total GHG emissions
increased in by approximately 11.02% in comparison
to previous year due to increase in business
activities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

(Continued)
7.2 GHG Emissions (Continued)

Scope 3 - Other Indirect GHG Emissions
(Continued)

7. RIBERE »®

7.2 GHGHER &)
#E3— H it IEGHGHEK (&)

Summary of GHG emissions performances: GHGEFERIRBE -
Indicator’ Unit? 2022 2021
BR B fir? 2022% 20214
Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions tCO2e

. Petrol consumption W |tk E =
BEEGHGHImM (#E1)

o UMKEH 24.49 20.09
Scope 2 — Energy Indirect GHG Emissions tCO2e

e Purchased electricity W —ECREE
AR B FEGHGHEKR (E5E2)

e  HEEE 172.03 156.44
Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions tCO2¢

o Paper Waste Disposal W _EEIREE
HhEEGHGHEE K (8 E3)

o HREEE 5.64 5.56
Total GHG Emissions tCO2¢
GHGHERAE 2 W_EICIREE 202.16 182.09
Total GHG Emissions Intensity® tCOz2e/million
GHGHE = E° revenue (HK$)

ML E S
B&WE C&x) 1.55 1.70

Notes: HiaE -

1

i GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon

dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited
to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the
World Bank Institute and the World Business Council
for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an
ESG report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange,
the “Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC
Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), the “Emission
Reduction Project 2019: Baseline Emission Factors
for Regional Power Grids in China” issued by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC,
the “Sustainability Report 2021” published by the
HK Electric Investments Limited, and the “2021
Sustainability Report” published by the CLP Power
Hong Kong Limited.

tCOz2e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent.

For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$130.5 million (2021: HK $106.9
million). This data is also used for calculating other
intensity data.
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7. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
(Continued)

7.3

7.4

Sewage Discharge into Water and Land
Due to the Group’s business nature, there was
no significant or unreasonable amount of sewage
discharged by the Group into either land or water. As
the sewage discharged by the Group is discharged
into the municipal sewage pipe network, the
amount of sewage discharge is considered as the
water consumed. The amount of water consumed
and corresponding water-saving initiatives will be
described in the section headed “7.5 Use of Natural
Resources — Water Consumption”.

Waste Management

Hazardous Waste Management

Due to the Group’s business nature, it did not
generate a material amount of hazardous waste
during the Year. Despite the Group did not generate
hazardous waste during the Year, it has established
guidelines to govern the management and disposal
of hazardous wastes. In case there is any hazardous
waste produced, the Group will engage a qualified
chemical waste collector to handle such waste and
comply with the relevant environmental rules and
regulations.

Non-hazardous Waste Management

The Group’s major non-hazardous waste included
office paper, general waste and wooden boxes used
for storing alcoholic beverages. The Group places
great effort in raising the awareness of its employees
on the importance of reducing waste production.
Therefore, the Group has set a target to reduce its
office paper disposal by 2027, using 2022 as the
baseline year. The Group has adopted the following
environmentally friendly initiatives to enhance its
environmental performance.

Green measures include but are not limited to the
following:

° Designate recycling bins to collect recyclable
materials such as plastics and paper;
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7. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

(Continued)
7.4 Waste Management (Continued)
Non-hazardous Waste Management (Continued)
° Reuse single-sided waste paper and office
supplies such as folders, envelopes and plastic
files where possible;

° Use recyclable products and rechargeable
batteries over disposable products and
batteries;

° Recycle office paper and electronic equipment
after their life cycle; and

° Print electronic correspondences only when
necessary.

The total non-hazardous waste disposed decreased
due to the implementation of effective waste
reduction measures. During the Year, the Group’s
total non-hazardous waste disposed of decreased
by approximately 36.76% in comparison to previous
year.

Summary of major non-hazardous waste disposal

7. RIERE @

7.4 BRYERE &
BEERVER (&

BUEEECERERERARRAR
e X R EHRERXHR

ERTEKERRTBEN L&
—RIEERRTH

B AERERRMEHNEFRME
K

EEVERINEFE M-

MR AEEEBENA BB BEER Rt
BREERVBREEEMAL -FR X
EEESRRYBREEREZFRLIL
36.76% °

TERSERVEERBEME

performances:
Types of waste Unit 2022 2021
EE =R B 2022% 20214
Office Paper tonnes
WAERBEM i 1.18 1.15
General Waste tonnes
—REEEY U 1.25 2.75
Discarded Wooden Box tonnes
BEE A U 0.15 0.18
Total Non-hazardous Waste Disposed tonnes
EEREERYEE U 2.58 4.08
Total Non-hazardous Waste Intensity tonnes/million
EERTEEMETE revenue (HK$)

M, B

C&t) 0.02 0.08
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IRIERE @

7.5 ERABARER

7. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 7.

(Continued)
7.5 Use of Natural Resources

The Group realises the scarcity of finite natural
resources and has therefore taken the initiative to
implement guidelines to better govern the use of
resources and minimise the environmental impact
arising from its business operations. Measures on
reducing general waste and office paper waste
production have been mentioned in the preceding
“7.4 Waste Management” section.

Energy Efficiency

In the Wine Business, establishing a qualified
environment for beverage storage, particularly the
continuous usage of air-conditioning to maintain
an optimal temperature for storage, is of utmost
importance to ensuring the product quality of
the Group. Therefore, electricity usage forms the
predominant part of energy consumption and GHG
emissions of the Group.

The Group also ensures that the use of electricity in
offices complies with the principles of power saving,
high efficiency and low consumption. Apart from
placing great effort in procuring energy-efficient wine
cellars and cabinets, the Group regularly inspects
the airtight quality of the wine cabinet seal to avoid
the wine stored from being tarnished or energy from
being wasted. Guided and monitored by the Group’s
administration department, different business units
across the Group have actively pushed forward
environmental practices and measures such as:

° Keeping light fixtures and lamps clean to
maximise their efficiency;

° Switching off external lighting of the flagship
store during out-of-operation hours;

° Using split-type air conditioners with grade 1
energy label and setting the air conditioning
systems at a minimum of 25.5 degrees Celsius;

° Setting the computers to automatic standby or
sleeping mode when idling; and

° Switching off electronic appliances, lights and
air conditioners before break, after work and
holiday.

AEERBERERBRAEGR  Fitx
BEMAERIES > UEARREERER
WRABEMBVEXHBESHIREZF
E-ABRLVEE—REZRYRMRLAEE
MZEMBHNAIX 7.4 EYERE —
& o

BEIR X &

FEEEBIEH BUGKRNRRER
B AEFECRATEBUERRERER
E HRERAEEZEREEMSEMRE
oA BIHEDTEBRERBER
GHGEFM A T EIRE

FEEBTHERMAZENENERTEEH
FE B RBHFEZRA BRI RBEIAE
BERBESN  AEBRTEERREAE
HONEHE URF#EFzEHEEEN
RESER - TAEREESMNESHEE
ET AEESEHHFIRBHETIRRE
MK FEIE > BN

s RERBEERERZRE UENR
= 0EE

gt

o HEMRIE RIS K RERA IS SMEE

s GHA—MRERREMNOEAZER I
REBNRBBEERESWEK25.5
E;

e NERBAERKESBBFHEIEA
BERRART K&

o TEWKREA THBNIRBRIERIEE
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RIE-HERELBRS

7. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

(Continued)

7.5 Use of Natural Resources (Continued)

Energy Efficiency (Continued)

The Group is committed to making continuous
improvements on its energy conservation
performance. Therefore, the Group has set a
target to raise employees’ awareness of energy
conservation by displaying posters or other
promotional materials in prominent locations at
its operations from 2023 onwards. Anomalies in
electricity consumption will also be investigated and
energy-saving measures will be taken.

During the Year, total energy consumption by
the Group increased by approximately 7.55% in
comparison to previous year due to increase in

7. RIBERE »®

7.5 FHEARER #@)
BEB (2
FEEROBERSHBERB AL &
EEERTEE H2023ERERATHE
RAUBEMERALMESEH LIRS
EENSEER AEE S S BEETHATE
B 5 30 SR B B S HE M o

FAAREBIZSIBRMN AEBEERHEE
MEREFIRMAT.55% REBRKNTF
FE 4t 78 55 77 % BN BB AR 1 BY B BE 3 il LURL D

business activities. The Group will continue its effort BEJRIHFE
in reducing the energy consumption by adopting
more active energy-saving measures in the following
year.
Summary of energy consumption performance: BERHFERINBLE ©
Types of energy Unit 2022 2021
REREEEY Efi 2022%F 20214
Direct Energy Consumption MWh
BB RHRE JKELBF 90.53 75.19
° Petrol
e A 70.13 44.20
° Diesel
o R 20.40 30.99
Indirect Energy Consumption MWh
B A RHAE JEELBF 352.43 336.68
° Purchased electricity
e  HEEE 352.43 336.68
Total Energy Consumption MWh
AERHFEME 2 JK R BF 442,96 411.87
Total Energy Consumption Intensity MWh/million
EERHERERE revenue (HK$)
JKEEE, B8 WS
(&) 3.39 3.85
Note: WaE -
1. The unit conversion method of energy consumption 1. BEREEBENEMREFEATRERRE

data is formulated based on the Energy Statistics
Manual issued by International Energy Agency.
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7. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 7. RIE(RE @
(Continued)
7.5 Use of Natural Resources (Continued) 7.5 EFHBEAER @&

Water Consumption

Due to the Group’s business nature, water usage
was only confined to water used by the Group’s
employees in everyday activities. The Group did not
encounter any problem in sourcing water that was fit
for purpose.

Recognising water as one of the most precious
resources on the planet, the Group has been seeking
effective ways to use water and prioritise water
conservation. Therefore, the Group has set a target
to raise employees’ awareness of water consumption
by displaying posters or other promotional materials
in prominent locations at its operations from 2023
onwards.

During the Year, total water consumption by
the Group increased by approximately 2.72% in
comparison to previous year due to increase in
business activities.

FEKkE

MR AEMEREE  AERNBEKEE
R EENRHEESPERANKE K&
EEYEESKE R RIBE RS

KK ERBEENERZ — > AEE—
BEESKAMWAKAR  LELETH
WAK-RAIL AEBEEREBR 52023
FEEEPRAEZERRUBERE B®RAEM
EREN LIRS RENHABKER-

FA AREBISBMN AEBEBEKE
WAEFEMA2.72%

Summary of water consumption performance: EAKEREHE

Indicator Unit 2022 2021
5 B 20225 20214
Total Water Consumption m?3

FEkRE A K 635.50 618.68
Total Water Consumption Intensity m?/employee

FEKBEERE YHKEBE 4.87 4.83
Use of Packaging Material BEMERNER

Packaging materials such as plastic packaging rolls
and carton boxes are used in the Wine Business. The
Group advocates the adoption of simple packaging
and is dedicated to minimising the use of plastic
packaging rolls as far as practicable.

AEBEGRERENAEERAKRAEE
BEMH AERRERABERE IR
NEFNTERTEERVERENBGREE

4o
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7.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
(Continued)

7.5

7.6

Use of Natural Resources (Continued)
Use of Packaging Material (Continued)

7.

IRIERE @

7.5 ERABAER @

BEMBNER @)

Summary of packaging materials consumption BEMEEEHRE .
performances:
Types of Packaging Material Unit 2022 2021
BRMEEE Efi 2022% 20214
Plastic products kg
B T= 48.00 49.18
Paper products kg
A F= 5.20 4.56
Total packaging materials used kg
BEMBHERS F5e 53.20 53.74
Total packaging materials Intensity’ kg/thousand
BEMEBEEEE bottles of alcoholic

beverages sold

Fr/FHRELZ

B B 0.002 N/A

Note: HiaE -

T During the Year, 28,960 alcoholic beverages were
sold. This figure has been disclosed from 2022
onwards

Environment and Natural Resources

The environmental impact caused by the Group’s
business operation is relatively insignificant since the
Group does not engage in industrial production. The
Group is mindful of its responsibility to minimise the
causation of any negative environmental impacts.
The Group regularly appraises the environmental
risks of its business and adopts preventive measures
to reduce the risks and ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations.

Indoor Air Quality

Indoor air quality was regularly monitored and
measured by the Group. During the Year, the
indoor air quality of the Group’s premises was
spotless. To enhance indoor air quality, air purifying
equipment was placed in the premises and the air
conditioning system was cleaned regularly. These
measures filtered out pollutants, contaminants and
dust particles and maintained indoor air quality at a
satisfactory level.

] 00 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2021 /22
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H2022F fERIIAKE ©

7.6 IRIGHABARER

HARAEBRTELEETIEEE At E
BEGEKEHRENZEEATBR/ N -FE
B HEEROERNEIMEARRERE
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7. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 7. RIBERE »®

(Continued)

7.7 Climate Change 7.7 RIZEE

The Group recognises the importance of the
identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues; therefore, the Group is committed
to managing the potential climate-related risks
which may impact the Group’s business activities.
The Group has integrated climate-related risks into
the Group’s enterprise risk management (“ERM”)
system and initiated a climate change assessment
to identify and mitigate the potential risks that may
arise from its business operations. The result of
the assessment was reviewed and confirmed by
the management. These risks mainly stem from the
following dimensions:

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events, such as typhoons, rainstorms and
floodings may lead to a disruption of the product
transport and shipping worldwide. Thus, the delivery
could be delayed or lost due to the adverse weather
conditions and lead to decrease in the Group’s
revenue. Besides, the damaged products due to
inappropriate handling during the transportation
process may also affect the Group’s product quality.
To strengthen business resiliency in face of extreme
weather events, the Group has developed strategies
for mitigating and responding to them across its
value chain.

In addition, long term shifts in weather pattern
might affect the agricultural activities including
the selection of suitable vineyard location and the
growing condition for the wine grapes, and hence
increase the cost of purchasing the wine products.
In response, the Group closely monitors the market
dynamics of foreign and domestic raw materials,
analyses and forecasts changes and future trends,
and replenishes stocks reasonably at appropriate
times, to control the increase in purchases costs.
Meanwhile, the Group actively builds up an adaptable
supply chain and expands its scope of the suppliers
to ensure the stable supplies against the shifts in
weather patterns.

7 £ [ BA B 3 ) e 4% A B K L1 AR BT RS R
MWEZM -EIt AEER NN EETER
EAERXGEHNEBEETREREARRE -
FEBERREERRERMARERN D
XREEERML (TERM ) » R E) R IEE
Esffh > AP R BABEBESAEESE
WEERR EEEEERKEDTEE
Re-BBREEREUTELE:

BRERRE
HIRBER R BENRBE - FRANMKE
BmimRiE JEEREREDRERRMNE
R - RIE > YR BEER S KRR E BUIE
BXWHER REFEBB AR LD IE
S REHBIZ P RIEAS S ME N RIEIERE
EmTRETEFAEENEREE-RE
HIBHmRARGEERBMREXE 25 H
B 5 E R EE &SRR EHE SRR AN
RBg e

o RENREEANEEIEGRER
XLe OREECENITRUERE
BRAENERGH ERBATEBEE R
ZRLAIE N o Wit - AE BRI R A S
R R T IB B A 0 AT TR E K R AR i
Do ERGEMTET EFIERBRA L
TReFR > AEBBRIGEBEZAHEE
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7.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

(Continued)
7.7 Climate Change (Continued)

Transition Risks

The Group anticipates that there will be more
stringent climate legislation and regulations to
support the global vision of carbon neutrality. To
meet the laws and regulations, the Group may
need to reduce its reliance on natural resource
and emissions. If the Group fails to comply with
the laws and regulations, negative publicity may
arise and the Group may need to acquire additional
environmentally friendly equipment or incur
professional fee, which would increase the Group’s
related capital investment and compliance costs. In
response to the policy and legal risks as well as the
reputation risks, the Group regularly monitors existing
and emerging trends, policies and regulations
relevant to climate and be prepared to alert the
top management where necessary to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines or reputational
risks due to delayed response. In addition, the Group
works closely with its suppliers and selects suitable
suppliers with sustainable farming practices in order
to reduce the Group’s impacts on climate change, if
possible.

COMMUNITY

The Group recognises the importance of making a positive
impact on the community and realises the importance
of giving back to the members of society. Therefore, the
Group has formulated relevant community investment
policies and encourages its employees not only to engage
in community services and voluntary activities to give back
to the differently abled and financially challenged members
of the public but also to share their experience after
participating in the charitable activities to nurture a caring
culture within the Group.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
temporarily suspended the organisation of voluntary
activities. Going forward, the Group will expand its efforts
in charity work to cater to the needs of its community by
focusing on environmental area.
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R - tg8KRER

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

w5

INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Bt X FRESGHR & 151 A A & 5l

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

Section/Statement

BEEERE =11z
Governance Structure 1.1 ESG Governance Structure
EREE ESG &A%

Reporting Principles

2.2 Reporting Standard

PE SRR A A
Reporting Boundary 2.1 Scope of the ESG Report
PE R0 [ ESG & HE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures, and KPIs
FEHRE -BE —RIKERKPIs

Description

it

Section/Declaration

BB

Aspect A1: Emissions

greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
B (BE1) KRB #E (%BEZ) RE EFE&%
(UMt H) & (MEA) = (QDLJ\&;_%%“ fi
ER st &) ©

~EBT

BEA1 : HEik4)
General Disclosure Information on: 7. Environmental Protection
— I E (a) the policies; and 7. BIERE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to Exhaust Gas and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
ERBERRARERBIER mKEEI MO S5 -5
EREEEEYNELEN
() BUK;
(b) BTFHBETABEALENEREEZE &R
B o
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions | 7.1 Air Emissions
data. 7.1 mASHEW
B 8 R AE R BE I B o
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) | 7.2 GHG Emissions

7.2 GHGEE®

KPI A1.3 and & KPI A1.4

Total hazardous and non-hazardous waste produced
(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
FREAXEERBEEEEYRE UE8) & (8
B BE WMUSESE8A -SERMETE)

7.4 Waste Management
TABEYER
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

w5

INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

(Continued)

Bt ZXFRESGHR GRS REB RS @

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures, and KPIs
FTEHE -BE —RIKERKPIs

Description

it

Section/Declaration

= BB

wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HMEEEERBEREEYN G £ R PTET I
NREBRERAEDELEE SIS

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps | 7.2 GHG Emissions,
taken to achieve them. 7.4 Waste Management
HIMPIEI UMM EBE R KR AET B L BRI | 7.2 GHGHEIK >
By B o TABEYER

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous | 7.4 Waste Management

7.4 BERY)EE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BHEA2: ERER

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including

7.5 Use of Natural Resources

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

Ho i SR BB A AR LRI BRI B > LUK FRET B9
KM G ER R AEDIELE SRR L8R -

—RIEE energy, water and other raw materials. 75 ERBERER
BERERER (BEER KEEMEME) B
o

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type | 7.5 Use of Natural Resources —
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) Energy Efficiency
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, | 7.5 EB BARE R RN
per facility).
ﬁ*ﬁ’*“EIJ"E’JE%&/YFHE@E,}_ (W&~ & siH)

mEE UTETFERSHE) KBE NSESE

T_L BIEXRME) °

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per | 7.5 Use of Natural Resources -
unit of production volume, per facility). Water Consumption
MEKEREE NMUSESEMN -BERM | 75ERAAAERFHEKE
8o

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set | 7.5 Use of Natural Resources —
and steps taken to achieve them. Energy Efficiency
HMPTEI U MEREANM G ERRAENELEER | 75 EREAST R RN
FrEREXRY 2 B o

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing | 7.5 Use Natural of Resources —

Water Consumption

75 ERABARAER—FEKE
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Et3FFESGIR&ESIE5INBEZE35| @
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures, and KPIs
TEHE -BE- —RIEEKRKPIs

Description
it

Section/Declaration

= BB

KPI A2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.

Rl mPTABEMRNEE CUIEEE) &k WER)
BEEBULSE-

7.5 Use of Natural
Resources—Use of
Packaging Material

75 EABRER-EEMEN
A

BEAS : IRIERXAER

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant

7.6 Environment and Natural

on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

I EBEHHIRIERRARERNEAZ E R
BREEBEBRTZENITH

— I E impacts on the environment and natural resources. Resources
HEZBTAHRERRARERERNEAZENEE | 76 BEHBARER
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities | 7.6 Environment and Natural

Resources — Indoor Air
Quality

TERIFHBAER-ENER
=

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[EEA4 : RIZEME

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of

7.7 Climate Change

issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.

HME R RAIESHETAEELENERRMEE
FEE REHTEH-

— AR iR EE significant climate-related issues which have | 7.7 @Rt
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
HAREHERKRPTEEHETAEERENEX
RIZEMEENEEK-

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related | 7.7 Climate Change—Physical

Risks, Transition Risks
7.7 RIFE{E—BRER B
2l

mpnrReEsRAs 5202122 105




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERELBRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Et3FFESGIR&ESIE5INBEZE35| @
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures, and KPIs
FTEHE -BE —RIKERKPIs

Description
it

Section/Declaration

= BB

Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1 : EE

General Disclosure
— R E

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,

recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

B RmE-BERSEA TIEFE - BRHF

L - 2ahb RERUEREMFEREND

(a) HBHE; &

(b) BTFHTFETABEAZENEREZE &R
&K o

5.1 Employees’ Rights and
Welfare

5.1 B BRI K EF!]

KPI B1.1

Total workforce by gender, employment type
(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
ZUR - BEEL 2B EE)  FEAER i
B ONEEEH-

5.1 Employees’ Rights and
Welfare
5.1 B BRI KRB

KPI B1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.
B4R FERARN Rt E S D EE MK

5.1 Employees’ Rights and
Welfare

5.1 B R K EF!]

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: gREHELE

General Disclosure
— iR

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

ERARHZ2THRERREREEECHENRSE

B

(a) BE; &

b) BTFHTFETABERTSENEREEZE KRG
K& #} o

5.2 Health and Safety,

5.3 Response to COVID-19
Pandemic

52 REHEZS

5.3 FEHCOVID-19A R 1T
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Et3FFESGIR&ESIE5INBEZE35| @
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures, and KPIs
TEHE -BE- —RIEEKRKPIs

Description
it

Section/Declaration

=B

KPI B2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred
in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.

BE=F (ORERFEE) SFRITHNABKL

Ko

5.2 Health and Safety
52 fEEHEE

measures adopted, and how they are implemented

and monitored.

PR BV B 2 R RR Bl 2 48 T > WA AR R FAT
B A Eo

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 5.2 Health and Safety
ATEEXIIEEH- 52 EFEHEZ S
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety | 5.2 Health and Safety

5.2 fEREZE

BEB3 : &Kk iE:l

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure
—RIEE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.
BRRAREEITIERENAH R AERNEER -
B EEIEE) ©

5.4 Training and Development

5.4 Bl RER

KPI B3.1

The percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).
M REERN WehEERE -HREERE) 8
PHZHEEE DL

5.4 Training and Development
5.4 Bl ERE

KPI B3.2

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.
RN REESRNB D BREETHZIINTY
B8 o

5.4 Training and Development
5.4 1Bl k8 R
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Et3FFESGIR&ESIE5INBEZE35| @
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures, and KPIs
FTEHE -BE —RIKERKPIs

Description
it

Section/Declaration

= BB

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
EEB4 : % T#8)

General Disclosure

Information on:

5.5 Prevention of Child and

practices when discovered.
HMTEERERBREERAERB RN P

B o

— R E (a) the policies; and Forced Labour
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations | 5.5 B 1E 2 T K384 T
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BRI IEE T HI%5 T :
(a) BE; &
b) BTITHETABEAZENERERERRAG
K&} o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment | 5.5 Prevention of Child and
practices to avoid child and forced labour. Forced Labour
iR T BB N BB R E T RBREIZE T | 55HIEETRARHISET
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such | 5.5 Prevention of Child and

Forced Labour
5.5 BF1EE T Kaglss T

[EmEBS : e EIE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social

6.1 Supply Chain Management

environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

A RHNHEESEIRANIRE Rt g AN
BH U BRARAIT RER A -

— AR EE risks of the supply chain. 6.1 ftFEHE B IR
BIRHERENIRIE T g R REE -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 6.1 Supply Chain Management
EtE DR HEREE o 6.1 {HAESEE IR

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging | 6.1 Supply Chain Management
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices | 6.1 {fEEEE
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
mit BRAEAHEFNEN aHHNITHERAENN
HEFMHE  UREARITRERF L

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify | 6.1 Supply Chain Management

6.1 fHFEsE EIE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERELBRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Et3FFESGIR&ESIE5INBEZE35| @
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures, and KPIs
TEHE -BE- —RIEEKRKPIs

Description
it

Section/Declaration

=B

KPI B5.4

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

A REHEERREESARRERMRFENIE
B> R ABRMITRERF &

6.1 Supply Chain Management
6.1 (EFEHEEE

[EHEB6 : EMEE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

General Disclosure
—REE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods
of redress.

ERFREERMBRFNEREAZE - ES - RE

RINEEE AR ED :

(@ BE; &

b) BTFHEFETABEAZENERERRRG
K&K} o

6.2 Product Quality
Management,

6.3 Customer Satisfaction and
Complaint Management,

6.4 Data Privacy Protection,

6.5 Advertising and Labelling

62EMEBEE

63FRMEEREREE-

6.4 ERHZFAIRE

6.5 BERIRE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERELBRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Et3FFESGIR&ESIE5INBEZE35| @
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

PO & B B RHRIE R ARER » U R RIT R
BEET T K o

m 7R

General Disclosures, and KPIs | Description Section/Declaration
TEHE -BE - —RIKBERKPIs | Hit =8B
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped | 6.2 Product Quality
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. Management
BERCDEXERLHTALZ2HREEHRAMAR |c2ERE28EE
WH B DL
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints | 6.3 Customer Satisfaction and
received and how they are dealt with. Complaint Management
REMNRERRRBNKFHEUKRELRH %o BIBFAMRERZHEE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and | 6.6 Intellectual Property Rights
protecting intellectual property rights. 6.6 & &= 1
ot LA S R RIS A S EERE B RARVIE B -
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | 6.2 Product Quality
procedures. Management
I E SR TEBEKEREBWIER - b2EREBEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and | 6.4 Data Privacy Protection

6.4 BRI fRAE

EEB7 . R&S

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General Disclosure
—RIEE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRI IEEERE ~ 313 ~ BREF R L R E2AY

(a) ;&

b) BTFHTFETABEALENEREZE &R
&K o

6.7 Business Ethics
6.7 BEEE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERELBRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Et3FFESGIR&ESIE5INBEZE35| @
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures, and KPIs
TEHE -BE- —RIEEKRKPIs

Description
it

Section/Declaration

= BB

KPI B7.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERBAHETANHESRELESENES
FRBENHEE RFRER

6.7 Business Ethics
6.7 EmEEE

directors and staff.
Wi EEREERENRETE-

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and | 6.8 Whistle-blowing
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are Mechanism
implemented and monitored. 6.8 IR
S B RRERER  UREBRITRERA
Eo

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to | 6.7 Business Ethics

6.7 BEERE

[BEB8 : HERE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand

8 Community

focus area.

EEITHRBABAER WERHERE) o

— AR EE the needs of the communities where the issuer | 8 &
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
BRUHEZ2HRTHREEMTHEREENBRA
EBEMETRTEMENEEK-

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, | 8 Community
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, | 8 #H&
culture, sport).

EFEMEE WHBE BEFE - HFLER R
B X1t 88H) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the | 8 Community

8 #H&
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

... @ -
-;o:.:- SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited EXPH(EB)EAMBHAMBRAE
oo 43/F., Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue EHEH SR BB
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong FIE—HA4318

TO THE MEMBERS OF MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Madison Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 121 to 279, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

] ] 2 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2021 /22
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
from continuing operations of approximately HK$15,932,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022. In addition, at 31 March
2022, the Group had bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately HK$49,738,000, while its amount due
to a shareholder, loan from a non-controlling shareholder,
borrowings, promissory notes payables and the convertible
bonds totaling amounted to approximately HK$370,919,000
which will be matured within the coming twelve months from 31
March 2022. These conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

ERFECENEXRTHBRE

EHEEILRAM BRI LN ERE E2022
FE3FMHIEEE BSEEXREFELCEETELS
1873 8HAY 415,932,000 0 tb4h 0 EEEFR20224F
SHS1BEAERITH G RIE$449,738,0008 0 MH
Bl —2REARB-RE—RIFERREZER B
FOBNARERE AR ESSH4370,919,0008
TEARF 2022 3B31THENEKRRKR+ZEE REHF - Z
EERNBERGEEY RIS EMSERLE
AEATEBREZMAEN SEEMNFELSERED
BREARE BEETEMZEEERER

e g
HREFFTEESRERMANEXIE SR H AR
BB BRERNBETRAEENFTE-BEFEREH
MEFBERGEMBRERAEAERRETREN-
BT EHEESREHEBIER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS cContinued)

Valuation and impairment assessment of
inventories

FEGERRMEG

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on page 155.

The key audit matter

FRE IR

As at 31 March 2022, the Group maintained inventories
of approximately HK$14,016,000 and no write-down
on inventories was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2022.

1202238310 EEBNEFEHNA14,016,000% 7T
MEE2022F3A31 B IEFE L BERTFEMR -

The assessment of impairment in respect of these
inventories involves significant management judgement in
estimating the net realisable value of the inventories.

ZEGENRETGIREREEATEENSIFER
Y 88 K HI i o

FAREEIE @

FLRGEMHBRRMNI2IRFI6BEZ G5t HRK

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BMNEHMAREEZER

Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the
assumptions and critical judgements of the Group’s
impairment assessment on inventories and the management
estimations or judgements on the net realisable value of
inventories based on the latest invoice prices and current
market conditions.
EMNEZEFECREENERERKRETT R &
e BERHEEFERETENRR RN EEER
FEPEEFER G S E o

We have checked the net realisable value for inventories
up to the date of this report on a sample basis and
discussed with the management in respect of the
adequacy of the allowance made by the management
based on assessments of individual market value. We
have challenged the assumptions and critical judgements
used by the management by assessing the reliability of
the management’s past estimates, taking into account the
subsequent sales status after year end and with reference to
market values of inventories.
EMEMEREBEARGHBRZFEIERFE LME
EERBENmENGMFENEEES T CRBE R EET
Hime HMEB BN EREEBT stz FEM L st RN E
FZHERRERKL2EFENE EXREEBMEANRKRR
o B 5 1) i o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS cContinued)

Recoverability and impairment assessment of
loan and interest receivables

FE U & 7R Be # B BY BT YR [B] 4 B iR (B 5T 1

Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 162 to 167.

The key audit matter

FAREHEER

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s loan and interest
receivables amounted to approximately HK$395,542,000,
net of accumulated impairment losses of approximately
HK$50,796,000.

R2022%F3HA31H ES£BENEREREIELNS
395,542,0007 7t » Bi0FR R 5tRE1E K49 4350,796,0007

7750

The measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL”) requires
the application of significant judgement and increased
complexity which include the identification of exposures
with a significant deterioration in credit quality, and
assumptions used in the ECL models (for exposures
assessed individually or collectively), such as the expected
future cash flows and forward-looking macroeconomic
factors.
TREAEEEL (FREEEEBE) Nt 2B KERAE XA
MEmMEMME  EhaE#HEEERREBEENARK
?Eﬂﬂféfféﬂéﬁﬁqﬂ@ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂiéﬁ (RUME B sk E TG 8 &

mE) > B TR A R 2R IR & M 2 M Al B 14 B9 7 B A%
l%o

We consider the impairment assessment of these
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance
of these receivables (representing 64% of total assets)
and the subjective nature of the calculation because the
estimates on which these provisions are based entail a
significant degree of management judgement and may be
subject to management bias.

ARELERBFNERY (GREENGI%) MstENE
BEE BT AELERBANBRETLEAENESS
B AAEEEEEMENNGLEEEEREENEIES
o TR RE R BB RENEE

FAREEIE @

F2RAGREMHHRRNE24KRB162E167TEZ G5 R

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RN BStMAEEZEIR

We assessed the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
models, including the model input, model design, model
performance for significant portfolios. We assessed the
reasonableness of the Group’s criteria for assessing if
there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so
allowances for financial assets should be measured on a
lifetime ECL basis.

EMsTE EEEFEHEEFERANSEN GRFEREKR
BHENERBA - BARFEEXARE - HMTE BE

EF L EERRERERELMACSHNEENBBEREE
HTAMAE EGIREEF BN GE M-

We challenged whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of the
recent losses incurred in the portfolios and assessed the
reasonableness of forward-looking adjustments.
BMEAECKEBRRESAREANBRUKKRELAGPRITHE
ERIEKR Wl T ARE MR B SIE MY -

We assessed and tested the sensitivity of the credit loss
provisions to changes in modelling assumptions.

ZAFLTLAHEERRERHRRERREFBRIE -

For a sample of exposures that was subject to an individual
impairment assessment, we specifically reviewed the
Group’s assumptions on the expected future cash flows,
including the value of realisable collateral based on available
market information.

AR BESENEREAME  RMAEERT S£EHRE
HREERENRR BEERTHASNRRmMmIIERE

(=
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill

72 B E

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively and the accounting policies on pages 140.

The key audit matter
RAREtEIE

The Group has goodwill of approximately HK$9,028,000 as
at 31 March 2022. No impairment loss was recognised in
respect of goodwill during the year ended 31 March 2022.
B E2022F3831HFE > SEEZEEL#9,028,000
BT B E2022F3B31HIEFE > & mE AR
o

The Group’'s assessment on impairment of the
cash-generating units (“CGU(s)”) to which the goodwill
was allocated is a judgmental process which requires
estimates concerning the forecast future cash flows
associated with the CGUs, the discount rates and
the growth rate of revenue and costs to be applied in
determining the recoverable amounts. The selection of
valuation model, adoption of key assumptions and input
data may be subject to management basis and changes in
these assumptions and input to valuation model may result
in significant financial impact.

EEBRHYE P EEENResELEN ((REEEE M) 2
BESTED—IBHE RS SEHHEBASESEM
REKRBEIKREZBEBHEAN WG REAIEREEFBAN
FEAIRRIEE REET(Es - EEMERT - ERABRRE
REMABBUEZIEEERENEE EREABARK
BHNEEOEeENEANY BT E-

The extent of judgment resulted in this matter being
identified as a key audit matter.
HETNWIEEERNZEERAN SR EFFE

FARESEIE »

FRRGREMBRRNT22RE140B 2 G5TEHR-

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BMNEHMAREZEE

We have tested the future cash flow forecasts on whether
they are agreed to the budgets approved by the board
of directors of the Company and compared the budgets
with actual results available up to the report date. We
have also compared prior year cash flow forecasts with
actual results in current year for reliability of management’s
estimates. We have also challenged the appropriateness
of the assumptions, including the growth rates and gross
margin, against latest market expectations. We have also
challenged the discount rate employed in each calculation
of recoverable amounts by reviewing its basis of calculation
and comparing its input data to market sources.
EMERKRKREAERARERTE EEEESSHEN
EEETAE TREEHREE RS ORI SNEREEE
LR K MER F—FNRERSEFAEAFENERER
ETTHEB URREEBGANAIESE -RATHERMT
BEANRS (BREEXEREMNEX) EEBREER K
PR ERTEEERIERAABBET SRR H5t 8
Bl e R AR HERE -

As any changes in these assumptions and input to valuation
model may result in significant financial impact, we have
tested sensitivity analysis in relation to the key inputs to the
impairment assessment which included changes in growth
rate and discount rates employed.

AR ZERZREERANBABBENEIEHTIEESE
BARMBEE  WIEFIR =B RRE TR A IR
REDH BREEMEAIERERAERER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

INFORMATION OTHER THAN

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

OF THE COMPANY AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the
Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process.

IZ’% ll-'il;

\l:

EMBHRRRGZHEMBIINE

BEAREFANHMENAE HMWENBEMER
RERNER BEFBEGEEMBRERKLEMBLUL
B H B IZ MRS ©

BPMGEMBRENBERIREEHMER BR
FIEE R WL LE 3 RAE R B RES

ihm o
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ERZSHMER LEIEBERFEEZSHME
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BREAEAT—BIAUAMEAHFEERBERR
Mo RBRMMATHO T HRMABEZSESHME
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EAMZ D ENERNEEEREFRS
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KEAMNEE URERAFECERSEHER IR
F BRAEFEER EEEFEUFELEE
MEEMERNBERSG R

BEZZEGRAEER EEENVBREERE I
FULFHEEZ -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR ZEMMBAESMBERRRKENS
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED £
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about KN EEZESEREGAUERREBESAEFE
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are ERIEAHEREL (TR BT RMFELERMER) -
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, TiRERFCHENZTEERER B T2ELA
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, ZHABRMERMNZEETRS BRI RFMNIRE
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms AR BEHMBAR - HAWAMEARENANE > HET
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume AEMATEBSEERKESE GEBREBLESKFER
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for 55 B NRBIEBEE BB ENETHNES TIE—
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level  EAE3IRE AER PRI (MM 7Z7E) o #8352 B4t ] A5 A H#X
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted FETEEERSIFE W B WE @R RERE SIETEEA TR
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material ZFRERBEZSESMBRRMIELENEERTE
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from  BJ#%18 &= K2l o

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise fEAIRIESBETERETE TIEN—D > HM
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism EEEEBT TP ERSEHE REFEE @RS

throughout the audit. We also: o FAITF

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement e HR R T N MFER R MER GRS B R
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due RETEERERMEMN AR KT RITES
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures ErRUEHZERE URENTERBEEN
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that Bt RF O FARMBEENER BN NEA
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our EEAREHRE - BE - BERER  ERMRM &
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement ERAEESIz £ AL RFEZEIBAREEM H
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from RNEAREREIMLNEE SN REZEREER
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional IRV E K552 PR A9 & B o
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to e THREBEZABNAIZET ULRTEEMAIE

the audit in order to design audit procedures that are NATITBEENSEZREF BENLIFE BE
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose NEEHINEREERER

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies e T BRAREEMEBETHRENBEEMNEU
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates RIEH G sHE st RAERIIREN S o
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR REMAES GaMBRREAENSE

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED T @

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s e B BRREERARECEEEGHANE
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting EMERE R LIREMERNSE/RE B
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a Tt EREERYE E£EFELEE
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions NELEBEARRENZTERERBBANEXNTE
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability TRZ-WBEMEBEEFEERFTEERZR A
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that KM BEZEMRSPREEIGFSMBRRE
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw RREREE I EBRIEERE AE:]
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures EMNER -BRMONERDENEE ZHAMR
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such ERHIEFRESNETRE A KK EFIE
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our HIERNAIEEN EEEFERELE XK

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content e G BRENEBEEN A - EERA
of the consolidated financial statements, including the R (BENEFTE) UNEETERREST AT
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial E2YHEER G REEe

statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding e o EEEANERIERTHNTFERIER

the financial information of the entities or business TEBENEFTRE UEHEaMBHRERE
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the XER-ZMasEkEs BEABTEESS
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for TE-HZEMEARMNBIREREST

the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among [REMEBIEN  HMHABEZEZEGERE T2 HNE
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and #E -BREZH EAZFHRSE  QERMESTH
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in % Bl tH P9 38 $2= I A9 (£ 5] 82 A FR G o

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we FEMTAEBEZZEERERER  KARXRMETSER
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding B MMM EXEEZE R THHEHBEAJESE
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 2 A S E E R FBIIMENFAERGMNEMSESIER
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear (%8 F8) FrvEUH b& B & B94T7 Bh ol % FB A [ S0 48 i o
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BET RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Kwan Chi Fung.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwan Chi Fung

Practising Certificate Number: PO6614

Hong Kong
23 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GofEmkEMEE R R

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Bl F2022F 3531 HILFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FAETT FAET
(Restated)
€=l
Continuing operations FBREER
Revenue W= 8
- sales of alcoholic beverages — BB RIEE 65,434 51,280
- loan financing services —EFRERY 65,058 55,666
130,492 106,896
Cost of operations EIER A
— cost of alcoholic beverages — BB MmN (52,677) (42,635)
Other income HAUA 9 18,717 5,533
Staff costs BT (33,933) (30,304)
Depreciation TE (5,936) (11,673)
Administrative and THREMESESAEE
other operating expenses (16,345) (13,420)
Net impairment recognised on loan and  [EWE R K F B FEE 2R
interest receivables (ER=RE 12 (35,566) (20,144)
Change in fair value of financial assets BAFESABEZ
at fair value through profit or THBEEEE
loss (“FVTPL”) 18 508 1,798
Change in fair value of TEEMIAZ
derivative financial instruments REEEE 34 6,974 42,489
Finance costs B A 10 (27,549) (51,452)
Loss before tax PRI ATES 18 (15,315) (12,912)
Income tax expense gz 11 (617) (4,918)
Loss for the year from continuing ELREFERSEER
operations FREER 12 (15,932) (17,830)
Discontinued operations BARIEEEEK
Loss for the year from discontinued ELRE A IEREER
operations ZEANER 37 (1,346) (33,118)
Loss for the year FREE (17,278) (50,948)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GofEmkEMEE R R

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company
— from continuing operations
— from discontinued operations

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Loss for the year attributable to
non-controlling interests
— from continuing operations
— from discontinued operations

Loss for the year attributable to

non-controlling interests of the Company

Loss per share (HK cents)

From continuing and
discontinued operations
Basic

Diluted

From continuing operations
Basic

Diluted

From discontinued operations
Basic

Diluted

AT ER NEEERN
518 -
—RERFEREER
—REHBRIEREER

RABEA NBIEER
iR

FFEREREIEFERER

—REFBEEER
—REBRIEEEETR

ARBIFERER
FABAE

FhREE GBI

REFEEEXEBR
ERIEEEER
Bx

REFEEEES
SN

REBRILEEER
=N
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Note
K&t

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)

(R&E7)
(15,367) (14,852)
(1,274) (20,116)
(16,641) (34,968)
(565) (2,978)

(72) (13,002)

(637) (15,980)
(17,278) (50,948)
(2.67) (6.38)
(2.67) (6.54)
(2.47) (2.71)
(2.47) (2.87)
(0.20) (3.67)
(0.20) (3.67)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GofEmkEMEE R R

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Bl F2022F 3531 HILFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FAET FAET
(Restated)
(R&E7)
Loss for the year FREE (17,278) (50,948)
Other comprehensive income Hithz2mis
Item that may be reclassified F5 12 o] SEE 7 7 48 B 18 7
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIHEH :
- Exchange differences arising from —MEENERELEZ
translation of foreign operations i =R 10,458 25,689
— Release of translation reserve upon —HERBABBEE[D
disposal of subsidiaries BREEE 39 2,811 -
13,269 25,689
Total comprehensive expense for the year A4 E R 4258 (4,009) (25,259)
Total comprehensive (expense) income MTFALTEGEANZE
for the year attributable to: (FAs) W48 %E
- Owners of the Company —ARRBEBA (8,174) (21,376)
— Non-controlling interests —JEERE R 4,165 (3,883)
(4,009) (25,259)
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As at 31 March 2022

JR20224E3H31H

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment
Loan receivables
Deposits

Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Finance lease receivables
Deferred tax asset
Goodwill

Current assets

Inventories

Finance lease receivables
Loan and interest receivables
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from associates
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Contract liabilities

Amount due to a shareholder

Amount due to a non-controlling

shareholder

Loan from a non-controlling shareholder

Borrowings

Tax payable

Derivative financial instruments
Promissory notes payables
Convertible bonds

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HEMBRRR

Note
Jiog=3
ERBEE
R 5 R 5% 17
FEWE R 24
e 25
BEEE 19
FTREEE 20
BB EEWERIE 20A
B IBE BE 21B
EES 22
MEEE
78 23
MEHEEREKIE 20B
FEWE R K H 8 24
85 R EMEWEIE 25
FE U Bt A B FRIE 26
RITHEmRNRIRS 28
mEas
B 5 REMENRIE 30
HEafE 20A
BHEE 29
FE — 2B ERIE 27
FE— 2 IEERARER
Er| 27
RE—BIEERKE
ZE®: 31
EEN 32
FETIRIA
TTEESMIA 34
AR 24 36
AR ES 33
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2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
2,050 2,556
21,288 15,091
2,434 1,896
1,280 146,886
5,307 4,599
8,876 -
13,665 11,620
9,028 9,028
63,928 191,676
14,016 20,379
6,382 -
374,254 394,385
109,931 23,059
273 267
49,738 19,657
554,594 457,747
29,459 23,097
7,955 3,576
12,534 15,467
18,286 296
= 2
96,450 105,300
44,992 49,992
10,980 10,791
= 6,974
65,595 59,667
145,596 -
431,847 275,162




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBARRR
As at 31 March 2022
JR2022F3H31H

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Convertible bonds
Lease liabilities

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M aE FET FET
MEEEFE 122,747 182,585
BEEBREBERRSEE 186,675 374,261
BERMNEES
[RZN 35 6,231 6,231
M (2,704) 4,924
KABEB ANELER
3,527 11,155
JEERR T 172,740 227,937
T AR RE 176,267 239,092
EREBER
BILRIBEE 21 1,089 933
AR ES 33 - 133,144
HESs®E 20A 9,319 1,092
10,408 135,169
186,675 374,261

FI21E279B 2 IR B M B MR 20226823 E =
FEHAEREBEETIHUTEERNAZE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 121 to 279
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 23 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ji Zuguang Kuo Kwan
st REE
Director Director
e e
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
n‘7r A * & @J %e

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LA SIN 4
Convertible
bonds -
Share equity Non-
Share Share Other Capital Merger options  conversion  Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
THBHS-
s iR Rt Atk aftdE  BREGE ERERER BERE HERE Bt Bt FEREE a5t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T iz 7 7 FE#n FE#T FE#n T FE#n T iz %
(Note 2) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Hita) (itp) (Hite) (Hitd)
At 1 April 2021 20214818 6,231 1,311,985 20,047 (103,832) (598,127) 20,609 174,182 (8,012) 4,351 (825,879) 11,185 201,931 239,092
Loss for the year ERER @ o @ o B = a a @ (16,641) (16,641) (637) (17,278
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREMEENE
- Exchange differences arising on tranglation of ~ ~BEENEREEZERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - 5,656 - - 5,656 4,802 10,458
- Release of translation reserve upon disposal of  —HEHBATKEEREEE
subsidiaries - - - - - - - 2811 - - 2,811 - 2811
Loss for the year and other comprehensive EREERERLE (B2 YELE

expense] income for the year - - - - - - - 8,467 - (16,641) (8,174 4,165 (4,009)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based IUREBEEZROATER

payments expenses (Nofe 42) (W) - - - - - 546 - - - - 546 - 546
Disposal o subsidiaries Vot 390) WERBAT (s90) @ o @ 12,038 B = a a @ (12,938) - (59,362) (59,362)
Appropriation to statutory reserve funds EEEERZNE - - - - - - - - L (877) - - -
At 31 March 2022 HBE200£35318 6,231 1,311,985 20,047 (90,894) (598,127) 21,155 174,782 455 5,208 (856,335) 3,521 172,740 176,267

Attributable to owners of the Company
RAFREARG
Convertible
bonds -
Share equity Non-
Share Share Other Capital Merger options conversion Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
TakES-
% R EE HihE fies-1-1 afEE  BRESE RaB4EE hERE ERRE 268 @ ERER e
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
FET FEr FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FiEn FET FET FET
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢/ (Note g
(Hita) (i) (Hitte) (Hitd)
At 1 April 2020 2020E4818 5193 1,267,060 29,047 (62,029) (598,127) 29,623 174,782 (21,604 4223 (786,176) 31,992 165,923 197,915
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - - - (34,968) [34,968) 115,980) 50948)
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREMPENE
- Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ ~HBEEHEREL 2 ERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - 13,592 - - 13,692 12,007 25,689
Loss for the year and other comprehensive EREERENZENGLE

income for the year - - - - - - - 13,592 - (34,968) (21,376) (3,883) (25,259)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based EILNRREEZROITRT

payments expenses (Note 42) (Waw) - - - - - 3.219) - - - - (3.219) - (3.219)
Lapse of share options BRELH - - - - - (5,7%) - - - 5,795 - - -
Lapse of put option (Note &) THBEEN (We) - - - 20,144 - - - - - (10,402) 9,742 - 9,742
Deemed disposal of equity interest ina subsidiary B E—BHBAT 2 KR

ote 40) (f#40) - - - 61,947) - - - - - - 61.947) 65,897 3950
Issue of shares upon placing of shares RRERETRE (W2s5)

(Note 35 1,038 56,082 - - - - - - - - 57,120 - 57,120
Share issue expenses BRAER - (1,157) - - - - - - - - (1,157) - (1,157)
Appropriation to statutory reserve funds FEEEEZ AR - - - - - - - - 128 (128) - - -
At 31 March 2021 HENE3E3A 6,231 1,311,985 29,047 (103,832) (598,127) 20,609 174,782 (8,012) 4,351 (825,879) 11,155 221,937 239,092
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

ii-l P
171 R |

EY Lk

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

Notes:

(@)

The other reserve was arisen from the transfer of the entire
issued share capital and shareholder loan in Madison Wine (HK)
Company Limited to Madison International Wine Company Limited
upon reorganisation.

The capital reserve was mainly arisen from the changes in
ownership interests in subsidiaries without loss of control,
common control combination, deemed contribution from a related
company and the issue of put option, amounting to approximately
HK$20,144,000 exercisable by non-controlling shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, BITOCEAN, a subsidiary
of the Company, issued additional ordinary shares to its minority
shareholders which constituted a deemed disposal of the Group’s
equity interest. As a result, approximately HK$61,947,000 was
reduced from capital reserve.

The merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the
acquisitions of subsidiaries under common control and
represented the difference between the consideration paid for
the acquisition and the carrying amount of the net asset of
the subsidiaries at the date when the Group and the acquired
subsidiaries became under common control.

On 18 May 2018, an amount of approximately HK$76,213,000
had been capitalised into the share capital of Bartha International
Limited (“Bartha International”), a then subsidiary which adopt
merger accounting for common control combination. As a result,
HK$33,363,000 and HK$42,850,000 were recognised in merger
reserve and non-controlling interests respectively.

In accordance with the relevant regulations applicable in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), companies established
in the PRC are required to transfer at least 10% of their statutory
annual profits after tax in accordance with the relevant statutory
rules and regulations applicable to enterprises in the PRC to the
statutory reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of
their respective registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
as set out in the relevant PRC regulations, the statutory reserve
may be used to offset against accumulated losses of the
respective PRC companies. The amount of the transfer is subject
to the approval of the board of the directors of the respective PRC
companies.

The capital reserve related to the put option of approximately
HK$9,742,000 has been transferred to accumulated losses upon
lapse of the put option at expiry date during the year ended 31
March 2021.

Mt -

HithEED AR EERFEREE2E
RABNEETREAKRKRRER
RABMESL-

BREEX (FEB) A
ZBRERBEEAR

<

BRAEAFEETEXREMNBARANEREE LREH S
H WEAEBATNEEURETIEERRBREAT
fEBE4920,144,00058 TSR L HAHE o

REE2021FE3HSIBEEE AR B AR
BITOCEANB H/D# AL g s L@k AR HE A
EEMBRRE AL REARFEE IR T 461,947,000

I o

AEBZEHRERWBELFRZES T -—RHMNBAE
EELE > W A5 W BB AR SZ A 2 AUME B A & B Ko P UL 2 Y
BRAEARZRHEZFERZWB AR ZEEFEERE
BxEZEE-

R2018FE5H818H 476,213,000 2 & X1LEA
Bartha International Limited (%t B34 & R4 & 6
BEENMKEB R B)) BNEA - ALt > 33,363,000/ 7T K&
42,850,000 Tt 2 B & HHE B R IEIER R D o

REFEARAME (THREY) BAEZARER 1R
B3z 2 A B AR BE AR B ¥ 28R E AR R
FERRBREZFREEEFENRDI0%EAETE
HE EERBZHGRAEERSEBAMELZ50%
b ZIRINBRPBLERAH 2 E TIRG ZERFRE
NERFRESTRRARDZRFERE BRSEEARS
BRTERARESTERER S IIEE-

BESL AR MM B A REE9,742,0008 T ER A
AN E E2021F 38310 ILF F 2 1 B & 2805 5 5
ERFTERE

il
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

™ AL hy =
GERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
(Restated)
(& E7))
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KSR
Loss for the year from continuing operations F R BiFEEBEFRE B8 (15,932) (17,830)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations ERIZE B B4R IE &£ 2 F518 (1,346) (33,118)
Loss for the year FREER (17,278) (50,948)
Adjustments for: U TIEERAE
Income tax expense TSI 617 4918
Bank interest income IRITH BULA (29) (15)
Government grants Y I 4 Ay - (2,526)
Depreciation e 5,978 11,823
Net loss on disposals and written off of HERMBERER&EZ
plant and equipment 5187558 43 358
Share-based payment expenses RN e 546 (3,219)
Change in fair value of derivative MESHMITAEZ AT EEE)
financial instruments (6,974) (42,489)
Impairment loss on intangible asset ETEEREBR - 28,711
Net (reversal of) impairment loss B EWRIBHER
recognised on trade receivables EE () JFEE (34) 169
Net impairment loss recognised (reversal) FENE R F] B HEST
on loan and interest receivables BB (B0 38 16,636 (23,793)
Written off of loans and interest receivables & Wg & 2 K FI| B 6 18,930 43,937
Net exchange gain BRI R (8,850) -
Interest income from consideration FEWRAER B
receivable (3,153) -
Interest income from finance lease MEEENEWA
receivables (1,220) -
Gain on early termination of a lease IRRTALIEFR A 2 W (5) -
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRAREEZ NG (4,165) -
Finance costs AEREL 27,550 51,452
Loss (gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAT ZEE (K& 1,161 (843)
Change in fair value of financial assets BATEFABRZ
at FVTPL THEEEEF (508) (1,798)
Operating cash flows before movements in ~ EE&EEEFHAI 2 KERERE
working capital 29,245 15,737
Decrease in inventories FERD 6,363 7,786
Increase in loan and interest receivables FEW & =R ) B A8 0 (11,530) (6,139)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K H A g WIS S N 2,811 (6,932)
Increase in amount due to a shareholder FEA — % B BR R IEE N 17,990 -
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K EAMES RIEE M 6,556 4,284
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities HH8E OFL) 1B (3,089) 12,148
Net decrease in financial asset at FVTPL BAFESTABEZ
EREE R/ IFER 508 485
Cash from operations RETEFRRE 48,854 27,369
Income tax paid BER (2,335) (10,204)
Withholding tax paid B ISR = (678)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  &&EFMEREFEE 46,519 16,487
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘7r A Eﬁ: @ /I E %e

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
(Restated)
(& E7))
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREEH
Purchases of plant and equipment BERERSZE (796) (44)
Net cash (outflow) inflow on disposal of HENBABRZRE (Rt)
subsidiaries A FEE (90) 428
Advance to associates FENBEABRIE (6) (4)
Bank interest received BUERTTHIE 29 15
Interest received from consideration receivable B Uz FEUR LB F] B 902 -
Receipt of finance lease receivables W B B & M & FE R IB 5,625 -
Receipt of consideration receivables B FE W B - 92,139
Proceeds from unlisted promissory EWIELEMmZ A REE
note receivable Frigs1a - 42,525
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEFMBIRE P 5,664 135,059
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest paid BAHE (9,170) (17,432)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEERE (8,601) (10,226)
Repayment of borrowings BEER (5,000) (54,000)
Proceed on issue of shares upon placing BLE R EITRMA ZFEHRIE - 57,120
Capital contribution from non-controlling FRBIIEZEGMEENHE
interests of a subsidiary - 3,950
Government grants received B W T 47 B - 2,526
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder ~—#% JE1ZRE G R B - 2
Repayment of promissory notes payables BERMEAREE - (119,525)
Repayment of loan from a director m—REZREEER - (38,000)
Transaction cost in connection with the issue B2 & R 1T IR IDABRIZE 7 AL A
of shares upon placing - (1,157)
Repayment to a director B—HEREN = (164)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES R EZEEZEFFIRIES S5 (22,771) (176,906)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND IR& KIRSZSEYIE N
CASH EQUIVALENTS CRZb) %8 29,412 (25,360)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FYPRERREEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 19,657 42,031
Effect of changes in exchange rate EXREH) & 669 2,986
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF X IRE&KEEZEEY) -
THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash BIIR TR R IRE 49,738 19,657
Please refer to note 38 for details of major non-cash transactions. TEFRERFFELRHMIFE38 0
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GENERAL

Madison Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Act, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 15 April 2015 and its shares are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 8 October 2015.
Royal Spectrum Holding Company Limited (“Royal
Spectrum”), which is a company incorporated in the
Republic of Seychelles and is directly interested in
approximately 31.58% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2022, and Mr Ting Pang Wan
Raymond, which is aggregately interested in approximately
43.49% of the Company as at 31 March 2022 and has
control over Royal Spectrum, are controlling shareholders
of the Company. The addresses of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section of the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
major operating subsidiaries are mainly engaged in sales
of alcoholic beverages, the provision of financial services
and the provision of loan financing services. During the
year ended 31 March 2022, the Group discontinued
its blockchain services business upon disposal of a
subsidiary as details in notes 37(a) and 39(a). Accordingly,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2021
has been re-presented.

The functional currency of the Company and the
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) while that of the subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are Renminbi
(“RMB”). For the purpose of presenting the financial
statements, the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HK$ as its
presentation currency which is the same as the functional

currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

— B

FHREREEBRLE (TERAFI) KR20155F
AB15AIREREHNE AT AH22E (1961F 5
IFEM > BREHRE]) THEFEEMAIL
RERRERATDRERMDENR2015F1088H
REBHERZAMBERAE (THZFR) GEME
T o 7220224838 31H » Royal Spectrum Holding
Company Limited (T Royal Spectrum ) & —
AR EEHEEMEAMA LN ABNBEZEES
AT BEBITIRALNSI 58NN  UKREE
20224 3A3IHTBERER A AEIERKE
WE AN ATH43.490% M FE & 48 5t R ZEHIRoyal
Spectrum o R A B SE IS R R = B & S B
P ER FRI AT BRI —& o

FRBH/—EREEZERATD -HXTBZZEWBEL
A FENEEBRRBEE RHESRRE RREMH
EXMMBER N&ZE202243A831BLFE
A EE B P MY EE37 (a) 2 39(a) F 5% 4t i & — R I /&
ANEBERIEREEIBEIRT - FIL > B E2021
F3A3IHZ e RE REMEE KSR ENER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group incurred
a net loss from continuing operations of approximately
HK$15,932,000. In addition, at 31 March 2022, the Group
had bank balances and cash amounted to approximately
HK$49,738,000 while its amount due to a shareholder, loan
from a non-controlling shareholder, borrowings, promissory
notes payables and convertible bonds, totaling amounted
to approximately HK$370,919,000 which will be matured
within the coming twelve months from 31 March 2022.
The Group’s ability to meet these liquidity requirements
depends on its ability to generate sufficient net cash
inflows from future operations and/or other sources. These
facts and circumstances indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue
as a going concern. Taking into account the Group’s cash
flow projection, including:

- The holder of convertible bond had agreed not to
demand for repayment of the outstanding balances
due from the Group until such time the Group has the
financial ability to repay without impairing its liquidity
position;

- The entire amount due to a shareholder and the
outstanding promissory notes payable have been
settled subsequent to reporting period through
offsetting with the consideration receivables;

- Subsequent to the end of the report period, the
maturity date of the loan from a non-controlling
shareholder of approximately HK$96,450,000 is
extended to 30 September 2023.

- Implementing various strategies to improve the cash
flow status, such as managing the loan receivable
portfolio and various investments; and

- Putting extra efforts on the collection of trade debtors
to improve the debtors turnover days.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continueq)

The directors of the Company consider that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due for at least the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period and
accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first
time, the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) and the following amendments to HKFRSs,
which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKAS(s)”), amendments and interpretations, issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”).
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions
Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021
Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs and the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLFE 20223531 HIEFEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to

HKFRS 3
Amendments to

HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 1

Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments?

Reference to Conceptual
Framework!

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and
the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates?

HKAS 8
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction?®

Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment:

HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use’
Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of
HKAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract'

Amendment to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018 - 2020 cycle!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continuead)
New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that, the
application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values, at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in the principal (or most
advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless
of whether that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 or value-in-use in HKAS 36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at
fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective
fair value measurement.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. If
a subsidiary prepares its financial statements using
accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments
are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements in
preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group’s returns. When the Group has less
than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, power
over the investee may be obtained through: (i) size of
the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders; (ii)
rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii)
the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights; (iv)
any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decision need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholdings’
meeting; or (v) a combination of the above, based on all
relevant facts and circumstances.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non- controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of subsidiaries, it (i)
derecognises the assets (including any goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiaries at their carrying amounts at
the date when control is lost, (ii) derecognises the carrying
amount of any non- controlling interests in the former
subsidiaries and convertible bonds issued by the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including any
components of other comprehensive income attributable
to them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest, with any resulting difference being
recognised as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable
to the Group. When assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
are carried at revalued amounts or fair values and the
related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity, the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as
specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiaries at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in associates or a joint
venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs incurred
to effect a business combination are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the
business combination are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes;

o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee
benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or
the replacement of the acquiree’s share-based
payment transactions with the share-based
payment transactions of the Group are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that standard; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, EXGHHBER ®

POLICIES (continuea)

Business combinations (Continued)

° lease liabilities are measured at the present value of
the remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease
was a new lease at the acquisition date, except for
leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms
of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another
standards, are measured at acquisition-date fair value
except for non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash— generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

After application of the equity method, including
recognising the associate’s losses (if any), the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
additional impairment loss with respect to its investment
in the associate. Goodwill that forms part of the carrying
amount of an investment in an associate is not separately
recognised. The entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment in
the associate. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: ldentify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° The Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created and enhanced; or

° The Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer, excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties, discounts and sales
related taxes.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

Sales of alcoholic beverages

° Provision of wine auction services

° Commission from dealing in securities, futures and
options contracts

° Commission from underwriting and placing services

o Provision of corporate finance and advisory services

° Provision of loan referral services

° Provision of high performance computing services
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from sales of alcoholic beverages is recognised
when goods are transferred to and accepted by the
customers, which is the point of time the customer has
the ability to direct the use of the products and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits of the products.

Auction service revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the Company transfers the promised auction
services to the customers upon the fall of hammer in
auctions. Auction services revenue includes buyer’s and
seller’s commission, which are based on a percentage of
hammer price of the auction sales.

Commission and brokerage income is recognised at a
point in time when the trading transaction is executed,
with reference to the trading transaction volume and the
commission rate applicable.

Underwriting and placing are at a point in time with
reference to the detailed terms of transactions as
stipulated in the contracts entered into with its customers
and counterparties.

Financial advisory fee from corporate finance and advisory
services is recognised over the service period based on
services provided as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the services provided by the Group over
the period in accordance with relevant terms of the
agreement. Payment of the transaction is due immediately
when the services are rendered to the customers. The
Group has the primary responsibility for providing the
services to the customer or for fulfilling the order, for
example by being responsible for the acceptability of the
services ordered by the customer.

Loan referral services income is recognised at a point in
time when the service for the transaction are completed
under the terms of each engagement and the revenue can
be measured reliable as only that time the Group has a
present right to payment for services performed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

High performance computing services income is
recognised over the service period based on services
provided as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the services provided by the Group over
the period in accordance with relevant terms of the
agreement. Payment of the transaction is due immediately
when the services are rendered to the customers. The
Group has the primary responsibility for providing the
services to the customer or for fulfilling the order, for
example by being responsible for the acceptability of the
services ordered by the customer.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer. A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of
low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight
line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern
in which economic benefits from the leased assets are
consumed.
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted
by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a significant
event or change in circumstances resulting in a
change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using
revised discount rate;

° the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless
the lease payments change is due to a change
in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used); and

o A lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement
of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made
at or before the commencement date and any initial direct
costs, less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group
incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove
a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or
restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is
recognised and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease
term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of
the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the
lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-
of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative standalone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, HKFRS 16 permits a lessee not
to separate non-lease components, and instead account
for any lease and associated non-lease components as
a single arrangement. The Group has used this practical
expedient for all leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to right-of-use assets. Leases for which the Group
is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the
contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is
allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, rather than by reference to the
underlying asset. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the group applies the exemption described above,
the sublease shall be classified as an operating lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which cases, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation
to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as “deferred income”
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit cost

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Taxation (Continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right— of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised at initial recognition and over the lease terms
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment held for use in the supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand
and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or
less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances
and cash as defined above.

Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Alternatively, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see
the accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above) (Continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivable arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), and fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit
impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the
debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased
or originated credit impaired financial assets, a credit
adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting
the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit
losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on
initial recognition.
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at
which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased
or originated credit impaired financial assets, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit impaired financial
assets, the Group recognises interest income by applying
the credit adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the
credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “interest income” (note 8 and “other
income” (note 9).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

o Investments in equity instruments are classified as
at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either
the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if
such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different
bases.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is disclosed
separately in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 7.
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ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are
measured at amortised cost. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes
the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and

EREHEEK ®

EMIH®

EHEE (B

FEEEEEEN
EFEEVEEIURERTENEERRE
BREBEME AEERNBSEHERMIAE
EWENRRER GRS AN IAZEE
WENRABRETER FETHER  A£E T
ZRAEATXFHNEEREMER BFEBE
KBRRERBZHRANE HEIF ERFBIAE
MER -PIEENABEEENSEREEERR
EEROMED BUFHE BREERAEMER
LHEBESHEERREBAKEMETENX
KEIR U ERRBAEBEEEEFNSEIE
BRRBEACEER IR

LHEHZ EFEENREELREERRESHE
ZREME @5 BUTER !

TR TR (WA) HAAEBEETRER
HEHMEKREBI ;

s HHATEREBABRTHEHEEE
AETENES FBRAEHERTNIRE

s BEBAKEXRENBRIFAREEEEL;

s F—EBANHEMEMTANGEERKRA
Z8Em;

mpnrREEgRAT F352021/22 163




B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating is
not available, the asset has an internal rating of “Normal”.
“Normal” means that the counterparty has a strong
financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that receivables that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

The ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group
entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is 1) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, 2) held for trading, or 3) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with
any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not
part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest
paid on the financial liabilities and is included in the
“change in fair value of derivative financial instrument”.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-
trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or they expire. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an
equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market
interest of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible
bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability
component, representing the conversion option for the
holder to convert the loan notes into equity, is included in
equity (“convertible bonds — equity conversion reserve” or
“convertible bonds issued by a subsidiary”).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
“convertible bonds — equity conversion reserve” until the
embedded option is exercised, in which case the balance
stated in “convertible bonds - equity conversion reserve”
will be transferred to share capital. Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated
in “convertible bonds — equity conversion reserve” will be
released to the accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bond are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bond using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition
in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

The potential cash payments related to put options issued
by the Group over the equity of a subsidiary are accounted
for as liabilities. The amount that may become payable
under the option on exercise is initially recognised at
the present value of redemption amount as a written put
option liability with a corresponding charge directly to
equity.

Written put option liability is subsequently re-measured
as a result of the change in the expected performance at
each end of the reporting period, with any resulting gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss. In the event that the
option expires unexercised, the written put option liability
is derecognised with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts
are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the
definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are
not closely related to those of the host contracts and the
host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continueqd)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions of
the Company

Share options granted to directors/employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the date of grant and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited,
lapsed or cancelled after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses/retained earnings.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services
are measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless the fair value cannot be reliably
measured, in which case the goods or services received
are measured by reference to the fair value of the share
options granted. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve), when the
Group obtains the goods or when the counterparties
render services, unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Going concern and liquidity

The assessment of the going concern assumptions
involves making judgement by the directors of the
Company, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. Please refer to note 2 in relation to the going
concern assumptions adopted by the directors of the
Company.

Allowance for inventories

The management of the Group reviews the ageing of
the inventories at the end of the reporting period, and
makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items identified that are no longer saleable in the market.
The identification of obsolete inventories requires the
use of estimation of the net realisable value of items of
inventories and judgements on the conditions of items
of inventories. Where the expected net realisable value
is lower than the cost of certain items, a write-down of
inventories may arise. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying
amount of inventories was approximately HK$14,016,000
(2021: HK$20,379,000). No impairment allowance for
inventories was recognised as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Loss allowance of loan and interest
receivables

The loss allowance for loan and interest receivables
are based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, bases on the
number of days that an individual receivable is outstanding
as well as the Group’s historical experience and forward-
looking information at the end of the reporting period.
Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may
be necessary to make additional impairment charge to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. As at 31 March 2022, the
carrying amounts of loan and interest receivables were
approximately HK$395,542,000 (2021: HK$409,476,000),
net of accumulated impairment losses of loan and interest
receivables of approximately HK$50,796,000 (2021:
HK$37,754,000).

Loan receivables mainly include financing advances
provided to customers which are mainly secured by real
estates and other collaterals. Apart from assessing the
financial positions of customers, the management further
reviews value of the pledged real estates and other
collaterals by reference to recent market transactions in
comparable properties or fair values determined by the
directors of the Company. If the market value of secured
real estates and other collaterals is deteriorated and is
below the carrying amount of the corresponding financing
advances, provision on impairment may be required.
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Impairment of intangible assets

The management of the Group determines whether the
intangible assets are impaired (see the accounting policy
regarding impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill).
The impairment loss for intangible assets is recognised
for the amounts by which the carrying amounts exceed
their recoverable amounts, in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of
intangible assets are determined based on the higher of
value-in-use and fair value less cost of disposal. These
calculations require the use of estimates such as the future
revenue and/or discount rates. As at 31 March 2022, the
carrying amounts of intangible assets are approximately
HK$1,280,000 (2021: HK$146,886,000). No impairment
loss was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$28,711,000).

Useful lives of intangible assets

At 31 March 2021, the intangible asset included a license
acquired from third parties with indefinite useful life.
The license allowed the Group to conduct the sale and
purchase of bitcoin and Japanese Yen through ATMs.

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, intangible asset includes a
club membership acquired from third parties with indefinite
useful life.

The Group’s licenses and club membership are classified
as indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance
with HKAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. This conclusion is
supported by the fact that there were no specific terms
for the rights and the directors of the Company expected
that the business underlying the rights can be operated
perpetually. Under HKAS 38, the Group re-evaluates the
useful lives of the licences at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the view of indefinite useful life for the
assets. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of club
membership and license of the Group are approximately
HK$1,280,000 and Nil (2021: HK$1,280,000 and
HK$145,606,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March
2022, the carrying amount of goodwill was approximately
HK$9,028,000 (2021: HK$9,028,000), net of accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$3,817,000 (2021:
HK$3,817,000) as detailed in note 22. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, no impairment loss of goodwill
(2021: Nil) was recognised.

Impairment of plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the
Group has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belongs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Impairment of plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

The future cash flow is estimated based on past
performance and expectation for market development,
including but not limited to the impacts of COVID-19
pandemic. As the current environment is uncertain, the
estimated cash flows and discount rate are subject to
higher degree of estimation uncertainty. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates
or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets were HK$2,050,000
and HK$5,307,000 (2021: HK$2,556,000 and
HK$4,599,000) respectively. Details of the impairment of
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are disclosed
in Notes 17 and 20, respectively.

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The directors
of the Company are responsible in determining the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The directors of the Company work closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
directors of the Company regularly assess the impact and
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments,
including unlisted promissory note receivable, unlisted
exchangeable bonds, put option of non-controlling
interest and put option to the promissory note holder.
note 7 provides detailed information about the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and
liabilities.

Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Deferred tax asset has been recognised
on deductible temporary differences as disclosed in
note 21. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future profits generated are less
than expected, a reversal of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for period in
which such a reversal takes place.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and accumulated losses.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of
the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and issue of new debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7r A /H\j- %ﬁ $E %e B{j -LI

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BYFE2022F3531 HIFFE

EXEREIR @
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(a) ERT AR

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
Financial assets ERIEE
Financial assets at amortised BSIHENASTE SREE
cost (including cash and cash (BEREEESEEY)
equivalents) 567,756 443,001
Financial liabilities ERasE
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAFEFABREMEE
— Derivative financial instrument —TEEMIA - 6,974
At amortised cost B AT E 400,378 371,498
400,378 378,472

] 80 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2021 /22




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7r A /H\j- %ﬁ $E %e B{j -LI

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, deposits, trade and other receivables,
amounts due from associates, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, amount due to
a shareholder, amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder, loan from a non-controlling shareholder,
borrowings, convertible bonds, derivative financial
instruments and promissory notes payables.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

() Currency risk
RMB is not freely convertible into foreign
currencies. All foreign exchange transactions
involving RMB must take place through the
People’'s Bank of China or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange.
The exchange rate adopted for the foreign
exchange transactions are the rates of
exchange quoted by the People’s Bank of
China that are determined largely by supply and
demand.

Certain bank balances are denominated in
RMB, HK$, United States dollar (“US$"),
Euro (“EUR”) and Pound sterling (“GBP”),
certain trade payable are denominated in USS$,
EUR and GBP, and certain borrowings are
denominated in JPY, which are currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cContinued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

()

Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary
assets and liabilities that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency
of relevant group entities at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

RMB AR
us$ Eay
EUR Bt
GBP HiE
JPY HE

Sensitivity analysis

As HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does
not expect any significant movements in the
US$/HK$ exchanges rate. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the foreign currency
sensitivity analysis does not give additional
value in view of insignificant movement in the
US$/HK$ exchange rate.

No sensitivity analysis is presented for RMB,
EUR and GBP as in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the expected change in foreign
exchange rates of these currencies will not have
significant impact on the loss during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuead)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If a 5% increase/decrease in JPY against
the HK$ and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the
year would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$4,027,000 (2021: increase/decrease by
HK$4,484,000). 5% is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items.
The sensitivity analysis includes cash and cash
equivalents where the denomination is JPY
other than the functional currency.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate loan receivables,
finance lease receivables, other borrowings,
loan from a non-controlling shareholder,
promissory notes payables and convertible
bonds. The Group currently does not have
an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances. To mitigate the impact of interest rate
fluctuations, the Group assesses and monitors
the exposure to interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity
risk management section of this note. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the prevailing
market rates on bank balances.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk(Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non— derivative instruments at the end
of reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of assets and liabilities
outstanding at the end of reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis point
(2021: 10 basis point) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis point (2021:
10 basis point) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2022
would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$43,000 (2021: HK$14,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk on its variable rate bank
balances.

Credit risk

As at the end of each reporting period, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivables, and loan and interest receivables.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to the credit risk are monitored on an on-
going basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of loan and interest receivables,
representing financing advances to customers under
the Group’s loan financing business, individual credit
evaluations are performed. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s financial background and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates.

As at 31 March 2022, 24% (2021: 25%) of all
financing advances given out are backed by real
estates and motor vehicles situated in Chonggqing,
the PRC as a security. The Group also verified legal
ownership and the valuation of the collaterals. An
advance given out is based on the value of collaterals
and is generally less than the estimated value of
the collaterals. The Group closely monitors the
ownership and value of the collaterals throughout
the loan period. Advances to customers are due
by the date as specified in the corresponding loan
agreements.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. As at 31 March 2022, 11% (2021: 8%) of
the total loan receivables was due from the Group’s
largest debtor.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of the collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of loan receivables as at the end of
the reporting period. The Group does not provide any
guarantees which would expose the Group to credit
risk.
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continueq)

The credit risk for bank balances is considered
minimal as such amounts are placed with banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines
the ECL on an individual basis for customer with
significant balances and/or collectively by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit
loss experience, as well as the general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

For other non-trade related receivables, finance
lease receivables, considerations receivables and
amounts due from associates, the Group has
assessed whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If
there has been a significant increase in credit risk,
the Group will measure the loss allowance based on
lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical location for trade receivables is mainly
in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2021:
100%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March
2022 respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk of loan
receivables by geographical location is mainly in the
PRC, which accounted for 86% (2021: 88%) of the
total loan receivables as at 31 March 2022.

With respect to credit risk arising from trade
receivables the Group has limited concentration of
credit risk as it has a large number of customers in
sales of alcoholic beverage and auction business
segment.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuead)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout the reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

° internal credit rating
° external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtor

o significant changes in the value of the collateral
supporting the obligation or in the quality of
third-party guarantees or credit enhancements

° significant increase in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the debtor

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the debtor,
including changes in the payment status of
debtors in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the debtor
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible to
develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading
to categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where
available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly available
financial information and reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. Especially the following
indicators are incorporated:

o actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations.

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the debtors,
including changes in the payment status of
debtors.

The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties.

] 88 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2021 /22

!HI!!!!!!!'-------ﬂz?'

7. EMIT AR ®
(b) BAFRMGEEBERBERESMITALE

B )
EEER (@)
KEFRE LA
ARBEEAR AEESEECEER
BEESRRRESIERESARTR
LREHBENERRIERRSE B8
SARE R R E I TR S 4 (T
B MESEFESERERNBERT &
BEEREZE e EREMABMENEER
REBRIEHABIMEZ R - £EH A
Ti542

s FHEERERABITEENENL
REANEHES  MHREERRT
NWERIBHRERTFEF-

e EMAEHERRRITIAFLEERE

AEEFEEEAEENRARKENFS

WEEFR EXXZNEBEENRELE
WHEFHZEDE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuead) 7. M I H @#&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HBEMEEEERBEEMITALE
policies (Continued) Bl @)
Credit risk (Continued) =ERE &)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) KEFAZIEERE ()
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework KAEBEMNEERRIRERBIEUT

comprises the following categories: A

Category (Grading) Description Basis of recognising ECL
R GE4R) it BAFEREEHENEE
Normal For financial assets where there has low risk of 12-month ECL

Special mention

default or has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

FEN R RBIRS N 1 E LR E § R g i 5
EEMEEREEREERENEMEE BF K
)

For financial assets where there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but that are not credit impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)

12BREHESRA

Lifetime ECL - not credit
impaired

Fapais] MRAEEIUREERREZEEMELRLRE 2HPERAEEFE-LELR
BERENEHEE (55 ZMRR) EERE
Substandard Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired Lifetime ECL - credit impaired
Doubtful when one or more events that have a detrimental
Loss impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)
REREE ERTSHZEEMFRRRERBENIFEE 2HEHEEHE-HREES
GIE=2= N—ERLEE4 AsHBEESRTIEALRE  RAE
BRE ERE (EE=RR)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
bk BERBRTNEBABAREVFERBEEAER RN MHEEHTHE

AB®ITKREABRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)
Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from loan and
interest receivables, trade and other receivables are
set out in notes 24 and 25 respectively.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The directors of the Company have given careful
consideration on the measures currently undertaken
in respect of the Group’s liquidity position. As
disclosed in note 2, the directors of the Company
believe that the Company will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due for at least the next twelve months from
the end of the reporting period and accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative and
derivative financial liabilities. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cContinued) 7. EMITAR®

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBREEEEEABEEMITALE
policies (Continued) Bl &)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEERRE (&)
Liquidity tables TEET

More than More than

On demand 1yearand 2 years and Total
or Within less than less than undiscounted Carrying
one year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
BEXEER KGR
F—&FR —EEME REELE RERELE REfE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FET FAET
At 31 March 2022 202238310
Non-derivative financial FrtEmas
liabilities
Trade and other payables B REMERTIE 29,459 - - 29,459 29,459
Amount due to a shareholder R —fRRIIE 18,286 - - 18,286 18,286
Loan from a non-controlling RKE—LFEREER
shareholder ZEF 98,379 - - 98,379 96,450
Borrowings A 44,992 - - 44,992 44,992
Convertible bonds iakES 150,000 - - 150,000 145,596
Promissory notes payables ERARER 65,595 - - 65,595 65,595
406,711 - - 406,711 400,378
Lease liability HEER 9,380 8,260 1,393 19,033 17,274
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cContinued) 7. EMIHE®

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(b) MERREEBERBREMIALSE

policies (Continued) Bl &)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEEERE (B
Liguidity tables (Continued) TEEZRx (&
More than More than
On demand 1 year and 2 years and Total
or Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
one year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
BREREER R
F—FR —EERE MEERE RENELB REE
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAET FET FAET
At 31 March 2021 #2021E3831H
Non-derivative financial FntEmas
liabilities
Trade and other payables BRREMENTIE 23,097 - - 23,097 23,097
Amount due to a shareholder -2 REHE 296 - - 296 296
Amount due to a non-controlling ~ FE{ JEIZRRIE B
shareholder 2 - - 2 2
Loan from a non-controlling RKE—LFEREER
shareholder ZEF 106,353 - - 106,353 105,300
Borrowings (N 49,992 - - 49,992 49,992
Convertible bonds R RS - 150,000 - 150,000 133,144
Promissory notes payables EBEIRRER 65,595 - - 65,595 59,667
245,335 150,000 - 395,335 371,498
Derivatives fT&IR
Derivative financial instruments 74 &8I E - - - - 6,974
Lease liability HE&E 3,777 1,139 - 4,916 4,668

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or within 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 March
2022, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts
of these borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$44,992,000 (2021: HK$49,992,000),
respectively.
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(c)

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables (Continued)

Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the directors of the Company do not believe that
it is probable that the lenders will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The directors of the Company believe that these
borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows of other borrowings will
amount to approximately HK$48,542,000 (2021:
HK$53,937,000).

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the financial asset (liability) is categorised
in its entirety is based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The
financial assets (liabilities) of the Group at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position are
grouped into fair value hierarchy as follows:

Fair value
Fair value as at hierarchy
RT5EHZATE NTEER
2022 2021
20226 20214
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Derivative financial instrument
TEeMIA
- put option to the promissory - 6,974 Level 3
note holder
—ERRBRAAZDERE E=k

Notes:

For recurring fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the impact of changes in
unobservable inputs are detailed as follows:

(i) If the discount rate to the valuation model were 10
basis point higher/lower while all the other variables
were held constant, the carrying amount of the put
option to the promissory note holder would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$52,000.

7. % F]ﬂ I E &
(b) HHEEEEEEERBREMITALE
VI NE=))
mEEERE (&)
TEBEL K (B)

(c)

Valuation technique
and key inputs

EERTRAREABE

Swaption Model
AR

KA REERBNMHBRR ZRATEER
BBME AT KA BEIT EHEY 1B ZKED B
BR-FEABDEEDBR/ATERRREE
BB EStEERBHEZE - EF > H
thEMB AT RFBRERHBEROS
48,542,000 7T (20214 : 53,937,0007%8
7o) °

TMIRANAFEAE

FERETEMEERBRRSRSHAR
BRATEFE-EMEE (AR BEREZ
NFERBRBANZEE HERERTES
ERERZRBERBAHEE D K&
%#ﬁ@qz{ﬁéﬂ\ﬁa‘i‘k#ﬁﬁ%EZ%ﬁﬁﬁé (&
B) HEDEUTRTERER

Relationship of key inputs

Significant and significant unobservable

unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
HRAAUBEREARTHEZS

EXTAHERARE ABBEAATEZRE

2021: 11.97% The higher the discount rate, the

lower the value (note (i)
20214 : 11.97% WREHE BEYE (W)
Mt

HABEATEERE=B2ARIELTES
B2 ERAREHA SRR SRS
—F

() MHEEREZEEREEMN,E0EEERS
MATAEEME BIGER R & RIA L RR
HEAZR AR ZEREER DR,
1 N4952,0007 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuead)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of

7. EMIT AR ®
(c) EMIAMNATENE &

REEUBEEZE=RTHEE (BB 2

financial assets (liabilities) on recurring basis: TEFEZHER:

Put option Put option

Unlisted to non- to the

promissory controlling promissory
note interests note holder Total

EEH ks AREBEFEA
ERER PA L] 2D h A ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2020 120203H831H 41,212 (9,742) (49,463) (17,993)
Gain on fair value changes AT EEBNE 1,313 - 42,489 43,802
Lapsed during the year FRKM - 9,742 - 9,742
Derecognised during the year FREIEER (42,525) - - (42,525)
At 31 March 2021 72021438310 - - (6,974) (6,974)
Gain on fair value changes AT EERNE - - 6,074 6,974
At 31 March 2022 120223831H - - - -

FRATEERSR ZBILEER -

During the vyear, there were no transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy.

EAYNEIE = 5 REPNIES 0 N R SN I
ERGMBRETRBERMREUHE
MAARNARSEMEERERMBENER
HEZAZHAFERE-

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values due
to their immediate or short-term maturities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B F20224F3531HILFE
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8. WmkoaiEH
INFORMATION
Revenue &
The principal activities of the Group are sales of alcoholic AEEZFEERABEARHEE  REEHR
beverages, the provision of financial services and the BRIBHERMERE - W FE22MWT -

provision of loan financing services. An analysis of revenue
for the year from continuing operations is as follows:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers HERZBHWRE
Disaggregated of revenue by major BRIEZERIRBES DK
products or services lines
Sales of alcoholic beverages segment BIEEmIEE &b
- Sales of alcoholic beverages income — BB EIEE WA 65,434 51,230
Loan financing services segment BERBERE D
— Loan referral services income —ERENRFBIA 16,440 9,222
Total revenue from contracts with customers BE2& 5 7 &4 iH 42 28 81,874 60,452
Revenue from other sources HA R 2 W
Loan financing segment ERMEDEL
— Interest income — Micro loans —FBWA—/NEBER 39,080 34,102
— Interest income — Other loans —FEWA-HMERR 9,538 12,342
48,618 46,444
Total revenue W e 4B EE 130,492 106,896
Disaggregation of revenue by timing of recognition ¥R M E 2 W
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
Timing of revenue recognition Wit 7 A 50 B R
At a point in time ¥ 5 R B 81,874 60,452
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (Continuea)

Revenue (Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

All sales contracts are with an original expected duration
of one year or less or contracts for which revenue is
recognised at the amount to which that Group has
the right to invoice for the performance performed.
Accordingly, the Group has elected the practical expedient
and has not disclosed the amount of transaction price
allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) as of the end of the
reporting period.

Segment Information

Information has been reported to the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”) (i.e. the executive directors),
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or
services delivered or provided. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving
at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating
segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1. Sales of alcoholic -
beverages
BEIEEmIEE -

2. Financial services -
services

& B AR TS -

3. Loan financing services  —

BERBRERT -

Operating segments regarding blockchain services
was discontinued upon disposal in the current year as
disclosed in note 39(a). The segment information for the
year ended 31 March 2021 has been re-presented and
does not include any amounts for these discontinued
operations, which are described in more detail in note
37(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

WEm ko ER @

Wz (#)
SREFTENEEZXZER

FRIAEHESNZIBRBHMRES —FRUTH
HESERAENMFBETZENLESERE S
BEDBW @GN -EHIL F"EFDEEATH#
BERERITERBEDEENRSHARERET
SO EIT) cBUEEZRFEEREER

SEER

MERDERFEDBREME BERERM
HERHEERURFHEG) » TEEERRE
(TXEBEERKRE) AATES BERSE
HeMERAEBRAIRS DR TEEERR
B EGHEERTHER 2 EAEED S

BEEME  ~&EBREEEMHRS
ZATEBREEDHWNT !

# B 858

retail sales and wholesales of wine products and other alcoholic beverages

TERMEREBERARAMBRBRR

provision of financial consultancy service and securities and futures dealing

RHPFAARFZUKREFRAERZ R

provision of loan financing and loan referral services

REEBRBERERENT RS

WK EE39(a) PRI EE » BRIGIRIEI R E DN A
FEHEBRIE -HE2021FE3831HILEFEN
DEHENTEEELEER EREEFNEMAS
X RMEE37(a) 0



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results from continuing operations by reportable
and operating segments:

Revenue Wz

Sales of alcoholic beverages B AR RS
Financial services ERARTS
Loan financing services BERHERY

Segment profit (loss) DECEM (B518)

8. WEKAHBEX &

(a) rEBuk e R 4G
UTHREEEREFEEEEBRATE
BREBEDEE D2 Wk EED T

Sales of alcoholic beverages B miH &
Financial services & BhAR 75
Loan financing services ERHMERY

Segment profit (loss)

Unallocated income

Unallocated expenses

Finance costs

Loss before tax

D EE A (B518)
RO ECWA
ROECHX

B E Rl A

FRILAI RS 1R

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(Restated)

(R &EH)

65,434 51,230
65,058 55,666
130,492 106,896
(1,241) (8,326)
(1,963) (2,958)
3,983 9,805
779 (1,479)
24,469 49,447
(13,014) (9,428)
(27,549) (51,452)
(15,315) (12,912)

DEREM (B18) ER D E 2w (B8) - 1

Segment profit (loss) represents the profit (loss)
from each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, directors’ salaries and certain
other income, changes in fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL and derivative financial instruments and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

WEASEPRTEAS - EFEFERET
HtWRA B AFESFABaZEMEE
MEEMIBZAFEEHABENE-
WHEHFEIBEBRREUETERD
Rk &RRT L2 ERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8.

INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by reportable and operating segments:

WEZBRaEBER @

(b) DWEEMER
FEERATERREEDHUIZEE
REEIMTOT

Segment assets DHWEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
(Restated)
Cs=cl))
Continuing operations FEREER
Sales of alcoholic beverages B RS 21,038 36,283
Financial services SRR 11 38
Loan financing services BRmERY 420,644 432,847
Total segment assets DEEEHRE 441,693 469,168
Assets relating to discontinued HERIFREEHHANEE
operations - 146,789
Unallocated assets KXOBELEE 176,829 33,466
Consolidated total assets EEEEMRE 618,522 649,423
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B3 2022F3H31 HIFFE
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8. WEKAEEKR

INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

(b) HEEEMERE &

Segment liabilities DEEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
(Restated)
(&)
Continuing operations FEBIREER
Sales of alcoholic beverages TERE BN i & 14,195 19,109
Financial services SRR 132 125
Loan financing services ERRMERD 27,169 18,744
Total segment liabilities DEBBEELE 41,496 37,978
Liabilities relating to discontinued BEAR EREXFEENEE
operations - 738
Unallocated liabilities FokLas 400,759 371,615
Consolidated total liabilities FEaBEs 442,255 410,331

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance MERDEIRALEDBEDEERMES -

and allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating — MMBEE (FEREBRILEKEER

segments other than assets relating to
discontinued operations, deposits, finance
lease receivables, certain other receivables,
deferred tax asset, amounts due from
associates, bank balances and cash and
certain unallocated head office assets; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than liabilities relating to discontinued
operations, certain lease liabilities, certain
other payables, amounts due to a shareholder/
a non-controlling shareholder, loan from a
non-controlling shareholder, borrowings, tax
payable, deferred tax liability, derivative financial
instruments, convertible bonds and promissory
notes payables.

HENEE RE REEEREN
EETHMEBWRIEVELERIEE
EBUWEE QAT RIEA RITEHR
REURETRDEBEEE) D
EEBNE; K

- FAERE (TERHEBRILEEEXER
HENaE - ETHEER - ETH
A TR B — R R — Rk
ERREME KRB —RIFERRR
ZER B BAREVERIERES
B -TTEESRIAE - TBMRESFKE
NERRE) NEEEEEDEL-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8. WHERDEEN @
INFORMATION (continued)
(c) Other segment information (c) HthaEER
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B E202263H31HLEE
Sale of Loan
alcoholic Financial financing
beverages services services Unallocated Total
BEGEHEE SHRY BRHERS KAk it

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FHT FHET FHET

Amounts included in the measure of FtAKE/FEAEL%Z
segment profit or loss or segment PHRHERRHEEHEZ
assets from continuing operations: 28

Additions to non-current assets (Note) ~ FEIFRBEE () 3,125 3 3,809 15,498 22,435
Depreciation nE 3,126 12 2,602 196 5,936
Net reversal of impairment loss BEEWHIBED 2

recognised on trade receivables HERDIEE (34) - - - (34)
Net impairment loss recognised on ERERKRF SRERDZ

loan and interest receivables HEFE - - 16,636 - 16,636
Written off of loans and BB H A S M

interest receivables - - 18,930 - 18,930

Amounts regularly provided to the EHIEEFTEEEAFEE

CODM but not included in the BEAAKEIFEEE
measure of segment profit or EBZ 7 ERS
loss or segment assets from PHEEHEZEEE

continuing operations:

Bank interest income RTFEWA - - - 29 29
Finance costs EAEI N - - - 27,549 27,549
Income tax expense FriStRf = - - 617 - 617
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FE202263531 HIEFE
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8. Wmk7IEHEHR @
INFORMATION (continued)
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (c) HthoaHEN &
For the year ended 31 March 2021 B E2021F3H31HIEFE
Sale of Loan
alcoholic Financial financing
beverages services services  Unallocated Total
BRI E LRRYE BRRMERE Ak st

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
TET TET T THT THT

(Restated)
(s E5))
Amounts included in the measure of G AKEFERELHEZ
segment profit or loss or segment ~ FHEHXPBEEHEZ
assets from continuing operations: .
Additions to non-current assets (Notg) ~ HREIFERBHEE (12 35 - 9 - 44
Depreciation nE 5,751 29 5,820 73 11,673
Net impairment loss recognised on trade & 57 UGB 2
receivables REEE 169 - - - 169
Net impairment loss reversal on BB ERRF E
loan and interest receivables BElZREFE - - (23,793) - (23,793)
Written off of loans and B EF KA S MisE
Interest receivables - - 43,937 - 43,937
Amounts regularly provided to the EHRERTEIEEERAEENE
CODM but not included in the WEAAKEFELE
measure of segment profit or EFZ27HERT
loss or segment assets from PHEENEZHEE
continuing operations:
Bank interest income HBTHEUA - - - 15 15
Finance costs REMAE - - - 51,452 51,452
Income tax expense PREMmEE 776 27 4,115 - 4,918
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments, Wiz ERBEEFABIEEMIAE VRIERIE
deferred tax asset and those relating to discontinued BEEAENRERIEREEBNEE-
operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7r A /H\j- %ﬁ $E %e I“j

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BYFE2022F3531 HIFFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8. WHkDEER 2

INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Geographical information (d) MIBEIHEFR
Information about the Group’s revenue from external BREAAEBEKBINESERL ZWm 2B RS
customers is presented based on the location of BEEMMET - BEAEEERBEE
operations. Information about the Group’s non- (MERERUREBEV-RIEREEE -EE
current assets other than finance lease receivables, REWERGRN 2ERNREEMEBUER
deferred tax asset, deposits and loan receivables, is Fl) o
presented based on the geographical location of the
assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
For the year ended 31 March As at 31 March
RENBER 2K FERBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
20225 20214 20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
PRC R E 65,058 55,666 3,211 2,235
Hong Kong 5% 65,434 51,230 14,454 14,587
Japan B - - - 146,247
130,492 106,896 17,665 163,069
(e) Information about major customers (e) EEEFREHN
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, RE E2022F %2021 E3B31HIEEE
there is no customer contributing over 10% of the EEPEMBBEAEERRLIENI0%-

total revenue of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

9. OTHER INCOME

Continuing operations

Bank interest income

Consignment income

Net exchange gain

Government grants (Note)

Interest income from consideration
receivable (Note 25)

Interest income from finance
lease receivables (Note 20)

Gain on early termination of a lease

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets
(Note 20A)

Net reversal of impairment loss on
trade receivables

Others

Note:

The government grants recognised from continuing operations
during the year ended 31 March 2021 of approximately
HK$2,364,000 represented government grants received for

9. Hthlk A
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
(Restated)
Gcs==¢7l))
RITH B WA 29 15
FEWA 328 1,951
PE R Uz /3 5E 8,098 674
B AT AL (B a2) - 2,364
FEWRENF BULA (B25)
3,153 -
BB E R W ERIER BURA
(Ht&£20) 1,220 -
AR LN W 5 -
HEFREEEZ K
(H15£20A) 4,165 -
B 5 EUNERIBR ] 2 R EE D]
HRE 34 -
Hi 1,685 529
18,717 5,533

Miaz -

which there are no unfulfiled conditions and other contingencies

attaching to these government assistances.

BE02153AMHILEFE  REFBEECEXHEIN
AT 48 Bh 49 #%2,364,00078 7 © B U B9 BURT #85 b I R
R IR R A M A FIRMIN2E BT RE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. 7l & K s
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
(Restated)
(& &E7)
Continuing operations FEREER
Interest expense on: THRBEBZFEMRX :
— convertible bonds —ABRRES 12,452 11,387
— promissory notes payables —ENERRTER 5,928 25,272
— other borrowings —HAMER 5,741 9,477
— loan from a director —REB—REHEZER - 2,789
— loan from a non-controlling shareholder ~ —HRBE—%IFIERRBREZERN 2,086 2,196
— lease liabilities —HEaE 1,342 331
27,549 51,452
11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11.FfrEMREAX
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Continuing operations FEREER
Current tax: BREAIRIA ©
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) FRE 2T ER (TSR 2,429 159
Under (over) provision in prior year: TEBETRRE (BERH)
Hong Kong Profits Tax EENER 281 (214)
EIT EMER - (5,092)
281 (5,306)
Deferred taxation (Note 21) LR IE (B7321) (2,093) 9,387
Withholding tax on undistributed profits ROEAETEINR - 678
617 4,918
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11.FIERHAX @

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits during both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is charged under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
qualifying corporation will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. For the year
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, Hong Kong Profits
Tax of the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
The profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at the tax rate of 16.5%.

Tax exemptions represented reduction of Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the year of assessment of 2021/2022,
subject to a ceiling of HK$10,000 (2020/2021:
HK$10,000).

Profits of the subsidiaries established in the PRC are
subject to PRC EIT during both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the statutory EIT tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years. Further 10% withholding income tax is
generally imposed on dividends relating to profits.

ERENEGRRZMEFELGRERIRREMNH
16.5%5T & ©

SEASHREZHNESEMEFEY aEREE
B2,000,0008 mimM 2 MR EA8.25%  MiEEHE
2,000,000 w2 @M MNEAR16.5% & £2022
FIHASIHK2021FILEE AEBEER ST
NEBHERZFSRMARGITE - ARTE MK
MERFIENEMESEEEEENFBEEE
16.5% 894 — I E IR o

TRIER RIEH2021/20225 T M EE 2 HHEFE
Bz LR 410,000 7(2020/2021 -
10,0003 7T) °

RPN Z B AR ZiER 5 miEEE A
MBS o

BRBE(PRETEMERE) (RERBRE) &
EEEROEBRIZG > X MEFE > RS
NEREERFEFIRRIRER26% —REGH A
m A A R IR B BN ERIM 0% TR PRSI ©
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1.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax from continuing operations per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other BRINE -
comprehensive income as follows:

Continuing operations
Loss before tax

National tax on profit before tax, calculated
at the rates applicable to profits in the

tax jurisdictions concerned

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax

purpose

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for

tax purpose

Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Deductible temporary difference not

recognised

Under (over) provision in prior year
Withholding tax on undistributed profits

Income tax expense for the year

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7r A /H\j- %ﬁ $E %e B{j -LI

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BYFE2022F3531 HIFFE

PRIRAT RS 1R

EW%&V?E%EL%%M
EREAENBRRATEFN B
%*m%
BEZRRIRA BN R
AEHRESNRETE
FABFAERNRIEEE

REDBRMBGENRFEZE
AR HESD BT 10 S B £ B

LEBBENE (BERER)
FOEF B ENR

FARMBMAX
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11.FF SR EAX @
REEENMERES REEE

meBRmkHMEENERAIIFRRABEY

e B A

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
(Restated)

(#£=E 7))

(15,315) (12,912)
(1,833) (1,417)
(15,521) (8,415)
15,628 17,699
(93) (3,000)
1,747 3,749
252 878

281 (5,306)

156 730

617 4,918




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

2 Amounts included in administrative and other operating 2

expenses

BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE
12.LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. FNEHE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$°000
FAET FAET
(Restated)
(#&&E5)
Continuing operations FBIREER
Loss for the year has been arrived at after F£AREEEDNEE Gt A) T3
charging (crediting): &FIF
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) BEME (WaE13) 4,638 5,137
Reversal of equity-settled share-based EEEREIR L
payment expense — directors - (2,464)
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e 2R EMER 27,089 27,866
Sales commission HERE - 291
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme R k1@ F| 5t 2 =k 2,013 1,292
Equity-settled share-based payment DEmEENROBNHRES
expenses — employees —EE 193 3,186
Reversal of equity-settled share-based BEEBRKRERR Z L]
payment expense — employees - (5,004)
Total staff costs BT RARE 33,933 30,304
Net impairment loss recognised (reversed) MEWERKLF SRR
on loan and interest receivables BEFEE 16,636 (23,793)
Written off of loans and interest receivables FEUT & 3 & ) B Hf 4 18,930 43,937
Net impairment recognised on loan and SRR EHER 2
interest receivables B RE 35,566 20,144
Auditor’s remuneration? 12 BB Y 22 1,060 1,210
Depreciation of plant and equipment B R s 2 e 909 1,898
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEEZINE 5,027 9,775
Cost of inventories recognised as expense’ MR A MEE A 51,067 40,976
Equity-settled share-based payment MEREENRMOREX
expenses — consultants? —Ea e 82 167
Net loss on disposals and written off of HE RIMERE REEZ
plant and equipment? 51875 582 43 358
Net (reversal of) impairment loss B 5 EUNGRIERE D 2
recognised on trade receivables BE (B5E) 38 (34) 169
1 Amounts included in cost of operations 1 BEMAFEETNEE

THEREMEERZTEaEEE
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13.EEM &£

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors

were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2022

RAXQBHEMBEAF

Emoluments paid or receivable

in respect of director's other EEEHERMMNES
services in connection with MEMBHEERSN,/ R
the management of the affairs R ZEIE
of the Company and/or its
subsidiary undertakings

Executive directors HITESE

Mr. Chen Ying-chieh (Note /) BRENLE W)

Mr. Hankoo Kim (Note i) SWNKE Writi)

Ms. Kuo Kwan FEut

Mr. Zhang Li RHTE

REANEREERRAHENE

Emoluments paid or receivable

in respect of a person’s ATEFEAM/
services as a director of the ek z &
Company and/or its subsidiary
undertaking:
Non-executive directors FHITES
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, u.2 ERBRY tras
Mr. Ji Zuguang AN RE
Independent non-executive BiFHTES
directors
Ms. Fan Wei BREYT
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KBETE

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean ASEREL

ENRENEESFHMENT

H E2022F3HA31HILLEFE

Salaries, Contributions

allowances Share- to retirement

and other based benefits
Fees benefits payments scheme Total

HE 2N BAER
g REMEF AUEREN BEGEA st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAET FET FET
- 1,690 220 36 1,946
- 910 17 18 945
180 - 17 - 197
- 975 17 18 1,010
180 - - - 180
180 - - - 180
180 - - - 180
720 3,575 271 72 4,638




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continves) 13.ZFFHB & @

Year ended 31 March 2021 B E2021F3A31HIEFE
Salaries, Contributions
allowances Share-  to retirement
and other based benefits
Fees benefits payments scheme Total
e R BB
e REMER BEURNEN SRR st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET FAT TET

Emoluments paid or receivable FEAXATHEWEAT
in respect of director’s other EBEEHEBRNEZRMN
services in connection with HitnfR#EE [/ &
the management of the affairs Bl ZE#$
of the Company and/or its
subsidiary undertakings

Executive directors HTES

Mr. Chen Ying-chieh (Note j) BREMNGE W) - - - - -
Mr. Hankoo Kim (Note i) EHNLE Wati) - - - - -
Ms. Kuo Kwan Ellfc3en - 1,690 728 36 2,454
Mr. Zhang LI RS E - 784 56 18 858

Emoluments paid or receivable FAEAEELFARRENE
in respect of a person’s ARNEFEMAM/
services as a director of the ik zEE
Company and/or its subsidiary
undertaking:

Non-executive directors EHTES
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, v.A BEHELE 17t 180 - 56 - 236
Mr. Ji Zuguang SN RE - 975 56 18 1,049

Independent non-executive BiERTES

directors
Ms. Fan Wei ERLE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KRREEE 180 - _ _ 180
Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean AEBREL 180 - - - 180

720 3,449 896 72 5,137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continves) 13.ZEHBMME &

Notes: wrat

()  Appointed as executive director, chairman and chief i)  F2019F11B1OHEZEANTES TERS
executive officer on 19 November 2019 and retired as [EHITE > WH2020FE7B31HEBEHITESE
executive director, chairman and chief executive officer on FEREERTE
31 July 2020.

(i)  Appointed as executive director on 19 November 2019 and (i)  F2019F 11 B19REZEANITES > TP
retired as executive director on 31 July 2020. 2020E7H31HREHITES -

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no REE2022F K%2021FE3B31HIEFE > AEH

emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of TEZNHEMNFTEARDEEFEANMALTER

the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the R WIEABREEE - NEE2022F X20215F

Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the SABIBLEFE BMEALNDEETHEXRENK

directors of the Company has waived or agreed to waive BT HT BN ©

any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2022

and 2021.

There is no discretionary bonus paid during the years B E2022F 2021383 1HIEFE > i@

ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. B BIEAL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2021: two) were directors of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2022, whose emoluments
are disclosed in note 13 above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2021: three) individuals for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

14.EEME
HE202253H3 1HIELFE  AEBRLEERES
HENA TR =% (2021F : Z4) AKX AT E
o HEFIRER EXMIFE13 - REE2022F K
2021F3B3THIEEFE R N 2% (2021F : =
&) AEHEIEWT ¢

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e R EMER 1,994 3,197
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RIKEH 5+ 2 {H2r 36 54
2,030 3,251
Their emoluments were within the following bands: HENFUTHE :
Number of individuals
AE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 %E 1,500,000 75 2 3

No incentive were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office was
incurred during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

There is no discretionary bonus paid by the Group to the
five highest paid individuals during the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021.

15. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

B E2022F 2021 5F3H31HIEEE » REBEH
EEHAZESHINA TGS EABEEMN
ATRIMASEEFNEEBNEABEREE-

REE2022F K2021E3H31HILEE » NER
MERLZESHMA T GRIBTEAL -

15. 12 &
REE2022F K2021FE3H31HIEFEE i EX
NHEZERE  BRSHPARETEREZTAR
/%\O
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16. LOSS PER SHARE

From continuing and discontinued operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

16. 5 A5 18
REFECEEBRELLEEXS
AR E) A T R A R S T 1R 9
NFBIESE

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FAET
Loss 518
Loss for the purpose of basic loss per T EAATHEAE AEGEER
share for the year attributable to the EBRERNBIBEZER
owners of the Company (16,641) (34,968)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: EE#EZERNTE !
Change in fair value of put option to FACVP Capital Limited3F 1% p3 1
non-controlling interests in CVP Capital mZ EAE AT EED
Limited and loss attributable to the RANBIHEE AELEIR
owners to the Company - (865)
Loss for the purpose of diluted loss TEREBEHEEMS 2 Ei8
per share (16,641) (35,833)
2022 2021
20225 20214
(Restated)
(#&&E75)
Number of shares &8
Weighted average number of ordinary M EEREAREEERY
shares for the purpose of basic and LB IETHE
diluted loss per share 623,127,227 547,725,988

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share has been
adjusted retrospectively for the consolidation of shares on
20 January 2022 (Note 35).

The computation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the conversion of the outstanding shares
options and outstanding convertible bonds since their
exercise would result in a decrease in loss per share from
continuing and discontinued operations for the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.
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AEESREESEER U AREEIRERITEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

16. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 16. B REG1E @
From continuing and discontinued operations REFERESEFRERLEKEERE @
(Continued)
From continuing operations KEFEREERE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share XANBBEEANEEEREARBESENDRE
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the TNEEAE

following data:

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
(Restated)
(#&&E5)
Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share IR EFERK S £ EERER
from continuing operations [ SEi= ) o= (15,367) (14,852)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: ET#E @B E !
Change in fair value of put option to FACVP Capital Limited3F 1% % ##
non-controlling interests in CVP Capital mREEZ AT EEE
Limited and loss attributable to the RAENBHE AELEE
owners to the Company - (865)
Loss for the purpose of diluted loss MEREBEEEEMS B8
per share (15,367) (15,717)
The denominators used are the same as those detailed FMERNDESEFE LSRR EARAKRE EEIE
above for both basic and diluted loss per share from Frssai & AR o
continuing and discontinued operations.
From discontinued operations REBKRILEEET
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted  REBR LS EENER
loss per share from discontinued HEREEME 2 /18
operations (1,274) (20,116)
The denominators used are the same as those detailed FTERENDESHREFEREERMNERILER
above for both basic and diluted loss per share from EEBRHE LN EREAREEHIBBEIBME
continuing and discontinued operations. ME AR o
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COST

At 1 April 2020

Additions

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39)
Disposals and written off
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2021

Additions

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39)
Disposals and written off
Transfer

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2022

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT AND
DEPRECIATION

At 1 April 2020

Charge for the year

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39)

Eliminated upon disposals and written off

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2021

Charge for the year

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39)
Eliminated upon disposals and written off
Transfer

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2022

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2022

At 31 March 2021

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

A

1202054518

RE

HEWRBAR (#72#39)
HE Rt

EREE

12021438317

e

HERBAE (W39
HE RsH

£

ERBEE

1202283R318

Rt RERTE

120204518
FRXH
HEMBE AT (H2239)
& R biish B 4 8
ERBE

1*202143A31A
ER3H
HEMBAE (W39
U5 TR 84 B 2 8
af

ERBE

*20223A31H

REE
*202263A31H

1202135318

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 55 R R MY 51

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

A7 =N
17. B E R &
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Shop and office Motor

improvements equipment equipment vehicles Total

Hi-RE
HEMERE E#RE MM AR HE st
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FEn FEn FEn FEr FEn
17,718 544 8,454 6,340 33,056
- 12 32 - 44
- - (233) - (233)
(7,566) - - - (7,566)
192 - 549 237 978
10,344 556 8,802 6,577 26,279
534 - 215 47 796
- - (444) - (444)
(5,754) - (636) - (6,390)
- (556) 556 - -
66 - 144 124 334
5,190 - 8,637 6,748 20,575
16,095 522 5,700 5,889 28,206
1,245 9 742 - 1,996
- - (94) - (94)
(7,208) - - - (7,208)
182 - 181 460 823
10,314 531 6,529 6,349 23,723
255 10 643 11 919
- - (62) - (62)
(5,731) - (616) - (6,347)
- (541) 541 - -
66 - 110 116 292
4,904 - 7,145 6,476 18,525
286 - 1,492 272 2,050
30 25 2,273 228 2,656
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

17.

18.

19.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the
term of the

lease

Shop equipment 20%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 30%

The impairment loss for the plant and equipment as at
31 March 2022 and 2021 were assessed with reference
to a value-in-use calculation of the cash generating
units to which the assets belong, no impairment loss is
recognised.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
recognised realised gain from wealth management
products of HK$508,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the gain from
fair value change of promissory note receivable is
HK$1,313,000 and realised gain from wealth management
products of HK$485,000.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

COST [N

At 1 April 2020 $220205F481H
Impairment loss for the year FRRERRE
Currency realignment E R sE

At 31 March 2021 K202143831H

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39(a))  HEWBAT (#:#39())

At 31 March 2022 1202243/ 31H

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 March 2022

IREE
2022538310

At 31 March 2021 R202143831H

17.

18.

19.

MRt
R R B A I BRI T E R 5t
RITE

HEYEEER FHEAM
[EEER 20%
R EBRIPFARE 20%
RE 30%

72022F % 2021E3RB31 B E K& H R EE
EHe2EZEEFMBNERESELSBNUNEREE
BTG WERS R EAE

BAFEGFAEGZEHREE
B E20228F3H31HILFEE  KEBNIEME R
EIR W 4 A508,0007 7T ©

HE2021F3A31HIEEE  EWRARRTEENAQ

BEEIR W A4485,00078 7T ©

HithE\AEE
Club
membership License Total
BFnEH hE R Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
1,280 179,081 180,361
- (28,711) (28,711)
- (4,764) (4,764)
1,280 145,606 146,886
- (145,6006) (145,6006)
1,280 - 1,280
1,280 - 1,280
1,280 145,606 146,886
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The club membership is an intangible asset acquired from
third parties with indefinite useful life.

The license represented the virtual currency exchange
service provider license registered with the Financial
Service Agency held by BITOCEAN Co., Ltd
(“BITOCEAN”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, which are acquired through acquisition of
BITOCEAN that allows BITOCEAN to conduct the sale and
purchase of bitcoin and Japanese Yen through auto teller
machines. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
license was disposed along with the subsidiary.

Impairment testing on club membership with
indefinite useful life

The club membership held by the Group is considered by
the directors of the Company as having indefinite useful life
because it is a life-time membership which has no explicit
legal life. The club membership will not be amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite. Instead, they
will be tested for impairment annually and wherever there is
an indication that they may be impaired.

No impairment loss has been recognised for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 as the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the recoverable amount was higher
than the carrying amount. The recoverable amount has been
determined based on fair value of club membership.

The fair value of the Group’s club membership at the end of
each reporting period have been determined by the directors
of the Company with by reference to recent market prices
for similar assets in similar transaction and conditions.
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19. HthE\EHE E @

EEESESZTRBNARERIERSF
AN —BAETLEE-

ZEBARAABIEE2E FARBITOCEAN Co.,
Limited (TBITOCEAN J) 7£ & B4 IR 75 14 18 5= 7
MNEREERIBBRFFENEEE BB WE
BITOCEAN B A FBITOCEANEBEHIEE
BETHREMH TN E S c E&E 2022438
STHHNEFEER  ZFaEEzZ T AR —EFE
%o

BERERAIERAFHZEFREEZREER
&
ARBEEREAEEFEZEMEEABER
BIEAER DHREMEEA L ERREAESF
R EE -EMEER T THIE BEEHD]
ERFHEERARAR/LE TR EREER
RAEPRERA R ERETRENH -

L gL B, £ 20224F K 2021E3H31H L F EFEST
REEE RERARDESRATWESES
REREE JWE B REGMEE 2 ATFE
EERE

AEREMEENEREPRZATFEDBE
NREF2ETHLURGRIFHETHEEENER
HHEEE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 19. HMWELEE »

Impairment testing on license with indefinite
useful life

At 31 March 2021, the license held by the Group was
considered by the directors of the Company as having
indefinite useful life because it was expected to contribute
to net cash inflow indefinitely. The license would not be
amortised until its useful life was determined to be finite.
Instead, it would be tested for impairment annually and
wherever there was an indication that they may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing on license with
indefinite useful life, the Group estimated the recoverable
amount of license based on a value-in-use calculation
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer.

The valuation method adopted was the income-based
approach, which estimates the fair value of the license as
the present value of the profits attributable to the license.
The calculation used cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management the Company. During the year ended
31 March 2021, the senior management of the Company
applied EBITA ratio of -56% to 55% and net margin of -60%
to 37% in estimating the cash flow projections based on
the market performance, development and expectation in
cryptocurrency market. The discount rate applied to cash
flow projections is 16.41% and cash flows beyond the five-
year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 0.96%.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the recoverable
amount of the license was approximately HK$145,606,000.
Impairment loss on license amounted to approximately
HK$28,711,000 was recognised due to the fluctuation
and increasing regulatory requirements in cryptocurrency
market which resulted in downward adjustment of expected
future cash flows. The senior management of the Company
believed that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause further impairment loss.

{5 A &5 dp 1 FE R BY 5F AU A5 R (E U &L

R2021E3R831H AR B EERANERFTE
HERAEERENGEHER AAEHECHER
U EMFRERA - THETEHGHS®AER
ZH O ZFUErAEEE ER O EEEBEES
MERERBEMIETHEBEHM 5 ETRER

FLEAFm TR ENERETRERNSR K&
E2EZBUFXGHEMNGE BREEREES
BB A RO E58 -

FIR B EREZABAL  BRFENQAAE
BB ERGHENRE - ZTERAE
REATDSHREEBHENTFHBTHEEEN
HERE8T A c 8 E2021FE3831BLEEE > &
NEEHREIEAERBE2021ENHIBRIT &
BAITEEE > FE FEBITALE E-56%E55% A /3 £
. 60%;7%37%%%5%@%%?@:59” nm=Egk®
cEBANIEERETEAMNEIEXRA16.41% &8
L FEHNIRESME1Z0.96%MN 1% ER o

HZE2021F3831HIEEE  BENTKE £
#75145,606,000/8 T c HRN N E BB I K E)
REEEKRAWES ERAEHARKEBEEHRE T
aﬁ Y RE SR R PR R B E5 18 4928,711,00078 7T © 45
NEBEREEBRA ARNELERBRENEGEATRE
SBEATERE—FHRERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

20A. LEASES

The Group has leased arrangements for leased
properties (office premises, warehouses and shops).
The lease terms are generally two to three years.
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year
ended 31 March 2022 amounted to approximately
HK$21,639,000 (2021: HK$299,000), due to new
leases of properties.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
entered into sublease arrangements classified as
finance lease and disposal of the right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$15,498,000 and recognition
of finance lease receivables of approximately of
HK$19,663,000, resulting in gain of disposal of right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$4,165,000.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of right-
of-use assets was approximately HK$5,307,000
(2021: HK$4,599,000) in respect of the leased
properties.
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BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE
20A. 70 &

Right-of-use assets (i) ERAEEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
At 1 April Y=RE= 4,599 14,612
Addition wE 21,639 299
Derecognised upon early termination 2 A14% 1F B 48 IEFE ST (159) -

Derecognised upon entering into B ZHRFRIEER

sublease arrangements (15,498) -
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39(a)) HEMWBAT (#15239(a)) (217) -
Depreciation e (5,059) (9,827)
Exchange realignment PE 25 5 2 (485)
At 31 March R3B31H 5,307 4,599

AEBEBFHEEYE BABM BEME
HNWEELH HEHR—KRAME=
FoHZE2022F3831HIEEE B
BV FREEELNA21,639,0008 7T
(20214 : 299,000 7T) ©

REZE2022F3831HIEFEE » REBEFT L
PDHEAMERENSHZH  LEFRE
B E#15,498,0008 T MR B S E
FIEA919,663,0008 0 EEHEFB#E
EE 2 WH 494,165,000 73 ©

R2022%F3831H BB EYENMER
HEEMNREELN 45,307,000/ 7T (2021
£ 4,599,000 7T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B F20224F3531HILFE
20A. LEASES (continued) 20A.10 8 @&
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEE®RE
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Non-current JETRE 9,319 1,092
Current RED 7,955 3,576
17,274 4,668
Amount payable under lease liabilities HEaBETEMNESEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Within one year —FR 7,955 3,576
After one year but within two years —FEEMF 7,934 1,092
After two years but within five years mMEERE 1,385 -
17,274 4,668
Less: Amount due for settlement 128 B R EIEARY FE T RRIE
within 12 months (shown (Ersasd rEmr)
under current liabilities) (7,955) (3,576)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 B & EIHA R BT =18
12 months 9,319 1,092
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group HE2022F3B31HIEFE AEEMBE
entered into a number of new lease agreements in METIZENHERZ TRIAEES
respect of renting properties and recognised lease E#9721,639,00078 7T (20214 : 299,000
liability of approximately HK$21,639,000 (2021: BIT) °
HK$299,000).
As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of lease R2022F3/831H  HEBENEREEYN
liabilities was approximately HK$17,274,000 (2021: 17,274,000 75 (20214 © 4,668,000
HK$4,668,000). 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE
20A. LEASES (continued) 20A.10 8 @&
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) FIEEPHEDNEEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(& E5)
Continuing operations FBREER
Expense relating to short-term leases %S H3fH & & A 380 915
Depreciation e 5,027 9,775
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEEaENFERX 1,342 331
(iv) Others (iv) Hfth
The total cash outflow for leases including interest REFERENRERIEESENHEZRS
paid on lease liabilities and payment of lease MHRBEREAEa G 2N ERIZINHEE
liabilities for continuing and discontinued operations BEZHIBEL%10,323,0008 75 (20214 :
amount to approximately HK$10,323,000 (2021: 11,141,000 7T) ©

HK$11,141,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

20B. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

Amounts receivable under finance leases:
Within 1 year

After 1 year but within 2 years

After 2 years but within 3 years

Undiscounted lease payments
Less: Unearned finance income

Net investment in the lease

Undiscounted lease payments analysed as:
Within 1 year
Over 1 year

Net investment in the lease analysed as:
Within 1 year
Over 1 year

The following table presents the amounts included in
profit or loss:

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets

208. R4 B TH & R ULk IE

FEEEETRUSRIE
1EMR

1EE2F

2EFIE

REGIREE SR
B RERENERE WA

HEREFHE

KRB ECNRAIFS :
1E A
Bl E

HEREFHEIRS
1E LA
i1 E

TREJFABDVEERE !

HECRAEEEZ Wa
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2022
20224
HK$’000
FET

7,500
7,500
1,875

16,875
(1,617)

15,258

7,500
9,375

16,875

6,382
8,876

15,258

2022
20224
HK$’000
FET

4,165




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

20B. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)
The Group entered into 3-year sublease arrangements as
a lessor for certain office space to its tenants.

The Group’s sublease arrangements do not include
variable payments.

The average effective interest rate contracted
approximately 9.51% per annum.

Management estimates the loss allowance on finance
lease receivables at the end of the reporting period at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. In determining the expected
credit losses of these receivables, management taking into
account the historical default experience and the future
prospects of the industries in which the lessees operate,
as appropriate, in estimating the probability of default of
each of these receivables occurring within their respective
loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon
default in each case. ECL was not recognised as the
amount involved is insignificant given that the low risk of
default of such finance lease receivables.

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSET (LIABILITY)

Deferred tax asset \LL#EIEEE

Deferred tax liability

222 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2021 /22

20B.RIEFEEKRHIE @

AEBFESEEARBTFEEPNETHAE
EEETUE DL
AEENDEZHLAE

ST

BRI FHERAROSFENZTILE

EEEMAA N REHARNREHSERNIBRE
EREERSEN2PEREEEE - REEZ
LRWHENEREEBER SEEF B
BHOKBRRARAFMCETENREKRSE (WB
B) UGt ZSRRRES BN EMRMIELT
HRFREEREARNSEEBANTEYE  UEESBERT
FBAEX ARZERERERRRIENELN
BRSSP B AT R WARBIBHE
Bk

21.EEREEE (BR)

2022 2021
20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
13,665 11,620
(1,089) (933)
12,576 10,687




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSET (LIABILITY)

(Continued)
The following is the major deferred tax asset and liability
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

21.RIERIBEE (BF) @

UTFRARERKBEFERINETRIELERIEA

prior years:

At 1 April 2020

(Charged) credited to profit or loss
(Note 11)

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2021

(Charged) credited to profit or loss
(Note 11)

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2022

BEERBERES

Withholding

tax on

undistributed

profitof ~ Impairment  Accelerated
subsidiaries on loan tax

inthe PRC  receivables depreciation Tax loss Total

i R A )

KAEEFZ
BN ERKEFAE MERERE REE @t
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
1202045 1H (880) 18,957 806 - 18,883

(HIB%B) st A B (Hr311)
(52) (10,873) (806) 2,344 (9,387)
ERAEE (1) 1,192 - - 1,191
12021538318 (933) 9,276 - 2,344 10,687
(0B st AB& (Ha11)

(156) 2,509 - (260) 2,093
EREE - (204) - - (204)
1202235310 (1,089) 11,581 - 2,084 12,576
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSET (LIABILITY) 1. BEERIBEE (BE) @

(Continued)

At 31 March 2022, the Group had unused tax loss of
approximately HK$116,279,000 (2021: HK$100,084,000)
available for offset against future profits. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of approximately
HK$12,630,000 (2021: HK$14,204,000). No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$103,649,000 (2021: HK$85,880,000) tax loss due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$1,518,000 (2021: HK$1,524,000) as at 31 March
2022 that will expire in five years from the dates they were
incurred. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 March 2022, the Group has deductible temporary
differences derived from impairment of loan and trade
receivables of approximately HK$51,269,000 (2021:
HK$51,945,000). A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to approximately HK$46,392,000
(2021: HK$51,438,000) of such temporary differences.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation
to remaining temporary differences of approximately
HK$4,877,000 (2021: HK$507,000) respectively as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. As at 31
March 2022, deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
HK$80,439,000 (2021: HK$76,847,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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R2022%3831H  AEEF#116,279,000%
7t (20214 : 100,084,000% 70) KB AR IEE
B AEREARTEN MIELERBEEECDRE
$B#912,630,0005 75 (20214 © 14,204,000
7o) cARFRFTEEHMUTER > BB EILEF T
103,649,000 75 (20214F : 85,880,000 7T) B9
BRREBEEERNELERIESE - 1R2022438
STH AEINBEEECESNEELEBBHIE
AERNFEAREIEL1,518,0008 7T (20214
1,524,000 70) - A58 ] IR HAAL & o

R20225F3B3 1H AEBEEEARRE FZEUW
FIEHEEEN A HRE R EE451,269,000
BT (20214F 51,945,000 7T) c B S E
= #A#946,392,0007%8 7t (20214 : 51,438,0007%8
70) RIEEREEE - EMG THREEY
4,877,000 75 (20214 : 507,000 70) FE 58 R
RBEE RARAAKIEB TN EREZ%EH
RIS FE R IR E A o

RIBDEFFERE > B2008FE1H1HE » S EM
B AT RNEMNE KR EBHEMTEINR -1
2022 3H31H AN AL E ol {2 6 8 18 =
REoRRE BEREBERORBRRBEAIESTE
B R ERPEWB AR R B EL 2 G
7= FA#980,439,0007 7T (20214 : 76,847,00078
7o) RERE MBI REHIEIER IR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

B FE202263531 HIEFE
22. GOODWILL 22.FHE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
COST %N
At the beginning and the end of the NAFBFEEFIRER
financial year 12,845 12,845
IMPAIRMENT A
At the beginning and the end of the MR EEFY RER
financial year (3,817) (3,817)
CARRYING AMOUNTS IREE
At 31 March M3A31H 9,028 9,028

For the purposes of impairment test, goodwill at 31 March
2022 and 2021 has been allocated to a CGU, being a
subsidiary of the Company, Starlight Financial Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Starlight Financial”).

Starlight Financial

The recoverable amount of Starlight Financial has
been determined based on value-in-use calculation. In
assessing the valuation of the CGU, the management
adopted the income approach. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period, and a discount
rate of 10% (2021: 10%). Starlight Financial’s cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a pre-
tax 3% (2021: 3%) growth rate, which represents the long-
term inflation rate in the PRC. No impairment loss has
been recognised during the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021 as directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the recoverable amount was higher than the carrying
amount.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying
amount of this CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

SR ERE S » R2022F K2021FE3831H
BECESRE—ERESELEN INBAF
FEENECRHIZERERAARENBE AR (T2
WNER) o

ENER
EXkEsmNAWEEENIREERAEBESEE
E-RITERESELENEER SEEBERBI
AZ - ZtEEANREREBIEREERE
HENNERFBRBENYBEERBIEEI10%
(2021F 1 10%) - ENSHAEHENRES R
ERAMRKBAERE3% (202145 1 3%) (EIHEH
HWEIERE) #HE - NE E20225 K%2021438
SIHLEFEMEEDAESE ERAREARRE
ERATREEESRIREE-

EEERRENRERIVIAGEIELS
RAEERNHREELEBUZIREEBBAAEA
W lel £ 28

mRREREEERAT F352021/22 225




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7r A /H\j- %ﬁ $E %e B{j -LI

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BYFE2022F3531 HIFFE

23.

24.

INVENTORIES

Goods held for resale

RFEEam

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

Secured loans
Real estate-backed loans
Secured micro loans

Unsecured loans
Unsecured micro loans
Unsecured other loans

Interest receivables

Less: Allowances for loan and interest
receivables

Loan and interest receivables analysed for
reporting purpose as:

Non-current assets

Current assets

BE\EM
B i E IR IR E
BEHNEER

BIEWEM
BIEHEREM
BIEREMER

FEUEF] B

W BWERKRREZ

EWERKRHE
DA
FRBEE
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23.7 8
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
14,016 20,379
24. BIWER KT B
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
33,790 32,908
59,530 66,238
93,320 99,146
257,611 247,679
31,281 45,741
288,892 293,420
382,212 392,566
64,126 54,664
446,338 447,230
(50,796) (37,754)
395,542 409,476
TEEHREH
21,288 15,091
374,254 394,385
395,542 409,476




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24. Bl EZEAE @)

(Continued)

The average loan period as at the end of the reporting

period as follows:

Real estate-backed loans

Secured and unsecured micro loans

I

Other loans HMER

/

As at 31 March 2022, the loans provided to customers
bore fixed interest rate at 0.3% to 3% per month (2021:
0.3% to 3% per month), and were repayable according to
the loan agreements.

As at 31 March 2022, included in the gross balances
are loans of approximately HK$85,580,000 (2021:
HK$88,076,000) were secured by real estates in the PRC;
approximately HK$7,740,000 (2021: HK$11,068,000)
were secured by motor vehicles; and approximately
HK$139,433,000 (2021: HK$82,601,000) were guaranteed
by guarantors (including related parties).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held collaterals
with value of approximately HK$329,203,000 (2021:
HK$303,628,000) over the financing advances to
customers.

FEHERTER

B\ RERA/NEER

PSR FIHERBUOT

2022 2021
20225 20214

180 days to 180 days to
1 year 1 year
180K E15 180K E14F
90 days to 90 days to
4 years 4 years
90K E4fF 90K E44F
180 days to 180 days to
3 years 3 years
180K =34 180K E34F

R2022FE3831H  REFERFNERESTA
0.3%%E3% (2021%F : §50.3%E3%) WETF
X B W BARBENHEES -

R2022FE3A31H  EHBEEREUTEMNE
HE IR IR B 485,580,000 7T (2021
£ 188,076,000 7T) ; LAEMFIRENE
A7,740,0008 7T (20214 11,068,000
7o) 5 REERA (BERB ) BEROERLY
139,433,000 71 (20214 : 82,601,000 7T) °

R2022F3831H AEBRBNTFTELW
MBI AEEL329,203,0008 T (20214F
303,628,0007 75) AYIE A 57 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24.BEWWEZEAE @)

(Continued)
Movement in the allowance for loan receivables: FEW B R EEE)
Stage 3:
Stage 1: Stage 2: Lifetime
12-month Lifetime  ECL - credit
ECL ECL impaired Total
F=PEE
F—PEE FREER 2HTEH
1218 B 78 1A 2T FEEE
FEEE FEEE -EERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAET FAET
At 1 April 2020 11202045 1H 20,699 37,239 23,230 81,168
Decrease during the year FRRD (14,280) (6,569) (2,944) (23,793)
Write-off during the year FRFH (3,815) (18,855) - (22,670)
Exchange realignment ERHE 228 1,064 1,757 3,049
At 31 March 2021 2021438318 2,832 12,879 22,043 37,754
Increase (decrease) during the year FRIEM (R (811) (1,850) 19,297 16,636
Write-off during the year FREHE (89) (120) (4,556) (4,765)
Exchange realignment ERRHE 92 381 698 1,171
At 31 March 2022 12022438318 2,024 11,290 37,482 50,796
The increase in loss allowance for the year ended B E2022F3831HIEFEMNEEREFEIZINEH
31 March 2022 is due to the changes in loss rates A B R N EARR B IR R R o

resulting from uncertainty in economic condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24. Bl EZEAE @)

(Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of net loan and interest
receivables, presented based on the dates which loans are
granted to borrowers and interests are accrued:

Within 90 days 90HW

91 - 180 days 912180H
181 — 365 days 181E365H
Over 365 days #B48365H
At 31 March M3A31H

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, in
determining the expected credit losses for these assets,
the directors of the Company have taken into account
the historical default experience, the financial position
of the counterparties, value of collaterals as well as the
future prospects of the industries in which the borrowers
operate, considering various external sources of actual
and forecast economic information for estimating the
probability of default of each of these financial assets
occurring within their respective loss assessment time
horizon and the loss upon default in each case.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for loan
receivables.

UmERERKGRMEBRAREENEKRE
MR F S PRI T ¢

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
91,380 90,453
66,863 74,227
41,503 44,994
195,796 199,802
395,542 409,476

B E2022F K2021F3831HIEFE  WETEZ
EEENHEHAGEBRER ARBESERY
FHMNBFBOKE RV BT IERREEN
FMERAREFETENRRA = TEEEE
MERFEAREER 2 S @BINPIE  UhstZE
ETHEESEREHBEIAGTRERNZEOM
KR EHBRE

PRAR S BTGB ERURE B R FTAG
SAERMEFHNERNRREEEZS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24.BEWWEZEAE @)

(Continued)
As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, an analysis of 1202243831 H &2021E3831H  EWER
the gross amount of loan and interest receivables is as KA BEEDTUWT -
follows:
As at 31 March 2022 As at 31 March 2021
1#20224:3531H 12021538310
Stage 3: Stage 3:
Stage 1: Stage 2: Lifetime Stage 1: Stage 2: Lifetime
12-month Lifetime ECL - credit 12-month Lifetime ~ ECL - credit
ECL ECL impaired Total ECL ECL impaired Total
BoRE: EoRE .
BB BFIRER: ZBEEE F-BER:  FE&K: 2484
12f8A%HE  2HEH ={F | NEFESH 28R EEEE
FERE GEFE -fFEREE #wxt EEBEE  FEFBR -GEAAR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Gross amount: ko
Normal EEH 202,312 - - 202,312 208,295 - - 208,295
Special Mention HAs - 98,098 - 98,098 - 137,670 - 137,670
Substandard RiEE - - 117,318 117,318 - - 69,390 69,390
Doubtful g - - 27,812 27,812 - - 30,890 30,890
Loss BEE - - 798 798 - - 985 985
202,312 98,098 145,928 446,338 208,295 137,670 101,265 447,230
During the year ended 31 March 2022, bad debts of HE2022F3831HIEEE  HEMHEIEERY
approximately HK$18,930,000 (2021: HK$43,937,000) 18,930,000 75 (20214 : 43,937,000 7T) ©

were directly written off.

230 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2021 /22



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE
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BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND DEPOSITS

Trade receivables
Less: loss allowance

Net trade receivables

Payments in advance
Prepayments

Deposits and other receivables
Consideration receivable (Note)

Total other receivables and deposits

Trade and other receivables and deposits

Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

Trade and other receivables and deposits

Note:

The consideration receivable was interest bearing at 3% per
annum, unsecured, and repayable on mature date as at 16 June
2022. Details are set out in note 39(a). It has been settled on 16
June 2022 then set-off with the entire promissory note payable

and amount due to a shareholder.

Generally, the Group allows credit period of a range from 0

to 30 days to its customers.

8 5 R IA
o BEERE

8 5 W IR P8R

BATRIR

R IR

¥ & e HoAth & Wk IR
R AE (A73E)

HiEWRIE R 122 B ER

85 REMBUWREAERIZE

DA
nE
LSkl
85 REMB WA R IZE

mtat -

2. B REMEBRRERRES

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,369 2,115
(473) (507)
896 1,608
5,072 7,545
348 3,809
15,272 11,993
90,777 -
111,469 23,347
112,365 24,955
109,931 23,059
2,434 1,896
112,365 24,955

FERRBR3%EF R EmIKIR Kk EIN202266816H
FHAEEE - SFIBHNMEES9(a) LI ABEE 2022
FoR16EEH  RABRL BN RAREREREN—%
R ER AR IEAR IR o

FEE-RGETHEANEEHRNFOEI0H -
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND DEPOSITS (Continuea)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for doubtful debts presented based on the
delivery dates, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates, at the end of the reporting period:

Within 30 days 30HW

31 to 60 days 31E60H
61 to 90 days 61290H
91 to 180 days 91ZE180H
181 to 365 days 181%I365H
Over 365 days #BiB365H
Total st

As at 31 March 2022, the gross amount of trade
receivables arising from contract with customers
amounted to approximately HK$1,369,000 (2021:
HK$2,115,000).

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The
expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated
using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.
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BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

5. B REMBRFIERESES @

UTFARBRERRBERIGBHARZ A (RERH
Yo i 58 B HAMEE) 2589 E 5 B WRUE (0=
BREER) BIBREC DA

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
264 941

231 195

55 74

101 101

149 257

96 40

896 1,608

R2022F3B31H BERAGNESXNE B
TE48%E 4 491,369,000 7T (20214 : 2,115,000
EIT) ©

AEERERRARCEEFRRAEEZBIIE
MEERE B BERENREEHIEER
BEEREGS ERN2EEBANBEENT
BREFBANENP BRI R DM LREB AL
ERAR-EHBANEEMETENBREERTIU
KRS B A B A K TR R AR OR BY 5 S 1F B 5

o

HRAEEBEEEREERIAMRTERTR
BERETEANABEREN  ERAEARKENEER
BREIAgE—IRNAEETREREZHED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 5. B REMEWRRIEERRE @)
AND DEPOSITS (continuea)

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
2022%3H31H 2021438310
Weighted Weighted
average Gross average Gross
expected carrying Loss expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance loss rate amount allowance
MEEYED TSRS
BEX BEREE BiERE BiEx WEREE BERE
% HK$’000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET % FET FET
Current (not past due) BHR k) & 264 - * 1,576 -
0 - 90 days past due WHEIA 5 336 - NATEH - -
91 - 180 days past due #HHI1E180H 3 250 - NATEH - -
181 - 365 days past due #E31812365H * 46 - 52.2% 67 35
Over 1 year past due palifi gk 100% 473 473 100% 472 472
Total a5t 1,369 473 2,115 507
* The expected loss rate is close to zero. * BEEEREES-
The movements in loss allowance of trade receivables are B REWHRIEREREEEHTINT
as follows:
2022 2021
2022% 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
At the beginning of year R EH) 507 338
Impairment recognised during the year FAEDHRE - 169
Reversal of impairment recognised FERHE R E D
during the year (34) -
At the end of year REXR 473 507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE
26.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 26.HE AT IS
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cost of investment, unlisted RIHPBER A =* -
Share of post-acquisition profit and other U B F A H th 2 & U & 1Y
comprehensive income 1D %8 =* —*
Amounts due from associates e /NS E | 273 267
The balance represents an amount less than HK$500. * EER/DF5008 7T 0
The amounts due from associates were unsecured, ERBEANDREAEILT REREEXKE
interest-free and repayable on demand. 33 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

26.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continveq) 26.HtZ NTItE = &
Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 March 2022 B E2022F 202143831 H  AEEKE A F

and 2021 are as follows: BEIBWT
Place of
establishment  Class of Percentage of nominal value of registered Principal
Name of entity Form of entity  and operation  shares held capital and voting power held by the group activity
ERAB BEKA BIIKEENE FSROER FEAFMBEMEFTEERRERADL TEEY
Directly Indirectly
=L M
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022F 20214 2022 20215
Telebox Technology Holdings Limited liability Seychelles Registered capital 20% 20% 20% 20% inactive
Limited (“Telebox”) and company
its subsidiary
Telebox Technology Holdings ERETAF RER FMER kg

Limited (T Telebox J) &
HEMBAT

The Group acquired 20% of the registered capital of
Telebox in 2018 at a consideration of HK$156. As at 31
March 2022 and 2021, Telebox is inactive and the Group’s
unrecognised loss of this associate is not significant.

R20184 » AEE U BETelebox 20%BIFEMME &
B BA15678 7T Bl E20225F K&202143H 31
H > TeleboxE A FEAL & AR A8 » i B AR E B % 5
ENBNRERBRILIAEK

27. AMOUNTS DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER/ 27.FE{4—%MB®E —%IEEZERKBE
A NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER g
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and BRMEBEAREF REREARERER
repayable on demand.
28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 28.R1THEMRRIRE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Bank balances IR1T45 6% 49,700 19,639
Cash in hand FHEIRE 38 18
Bank balances and cash IRTHRIERIRESE 49,738 19,657

Bank balances carries interest at prevailing market rate for

the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. BRIBRIBITHEANESE

RE E2022F K2021FE3B31H IEFE - R1745
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

B S ER a iE &
12 A LR

Sales of alcoholic beverages
Receipt in advance

Contract liabilities are mainly from sales of alcoholic
beverages. In general, the Group receives certain
percentage of the contract sum as advance payment
from the customers upon signing of the sales contracts.
Receipt in advance represented upfront payment receipt
from customers for agency services in loan financing
business.

The changes in contract liabilities during the year ended
31 March 2022 were mainly due to the improvement in
management on purchases order and demand for agency
services from customers during the year.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March
2022 that was included in the contract liabilities as at
31 March 2021 was approximately HK$15,467,000 (2021:
HK$3,329,000). There was no revenue recognised in
the current year that related to performance obligations
that were satisfied in a prior year. The directors of the
Company considered that the contract liabilities as at
31 March 2022 will be recognised as revenue in profit or
loss within one year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

29. 8498 %F
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
9,313 12,331
3,221 3,136
12,534 15,467
EHEBETEXREEBNRBEE - —RMsS &

EERRIFHEGNRKEZR RIS OBENY
ETADLEAENRE RAWREZEFLE
TRELE AR 5 A9 AUIR AR 75 W BN B TR AT R o

HE2022F3B31HEFEGHNaEzEHTE
TTHRERRETPNEBITIERHERERS
NEIBNERE -

REE2022F3831H IEFEERRIL 5T A20214F
3A3IHZENBENKEAN 15,467,000 7T
(20214F © 3,329,000/ 7T) © 7A 7N 5 2 il 4 FE 53 £
RNE—FEEEBTERANSEERZWGR - AAF

BERAMN2022FE3A31HNANEGERN —F
AR B P RE D A I aR ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

B F20224F3531HILFE
30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. B 5 J H th FE {1 7R I8
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables B 5’ I 2,247 2,723
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBRESTER 27,212 20,374
Trade and other payables B RHEMENRIE 29,459 23,097
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables UTFARRESHEARLZEQHRENNEZEN
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the RIERVERE DA ©
reporting period:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30HW™ 991 1,661
31 to 60 days 31&60H 424 167
61 to 90 days 61290H 74 -
91 to 180 days 912180H 307 478
181 to 365 days 181E365H 86 53
Over 365 days #BiB365H 365 364
Total HB st 2,247 2,723
The average credit period on purchases of goods BEERNTHEEHENFI0ENH KAEEE
ranged from 30 to 90 days. The Group has financial risk ENFERREE UBERESMBEMREREE
management in place to ensure that all payables are FFPR BT ©

settled within the credit timeframe.

EERTREEERAT £52021/22 237




NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7r A /H\j- %ﬁ $E %e I“j

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

31.

32.

LOAN FROM A NON-CONTROLLING

SHAREHOLDER

The amount of JPY1,500,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$96,450,000 (2021: HK$105,300,000))
with fixed interest rate of 2% (2021: 2%) per annum was
guaranteed by Mr. Ting, a substantial shareholder of the
Company and is repayable within one year. Subsequent
to the end of reporting period, the loan was extended as
detailed in note 47.

BORROWINGS

Other borrowings HMEmR

The other borrowings are repayable within one year.

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s other
borrowings are as follows:

Other borrowings

All the other borrowings are at fixed rates.

As at 31 March 2022, included in other borrowings is
carrying amount of approximately HK$44,992,000 (2021:
HK$49,992,000) bore interest at fixed rate and were
due within one year. The fixed rate other borrowings
carried interest at 12% per annum and contained a
repayable on demand clause. These borrowings are
secured by the Company’s 77% of the entire issued share
capital of Hackett Enterprises Limited (“Hackett”) and
personal guarantee provided by Mr. Ting, the substantial
shareholder of the Company.

As at 31 March 2021, the borrowings were also secured
by the entire issued share capital of Madison Lab Limited.
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1. RE—AFERRRZEM

1,500,000,000H 7t 2 E = (18 E 52 4996,450,000
#H7T (20214 1 105,300,000 7)) B AT T E8
RTHREEFR BEENEAE2% (20214F : 2%)

32. fttrrA

WHE—FREEZE RIREHER > ERERE XK
sE4TEFUl o
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
44,992 49,992
HtER BN —EREER-

AEBHEMERNERFZEENT :

2022
20224

2021
20214

12% per annum

FF12%

12% per annum
FF12%

PR EMtERISREEFKHE -

1R2022F 3831 B HMtMERFNREABEN S
44,992,000 75(20214F © 49,992,000/ 7t) K
BEEAMEFE WR—FRINEF -BEFEHAM
ERNEFRAE12% T A FREREBIER -
15 8 5 B A A 5 L Hackett Enterprises Limited
(THackett)) 23 B &BTRANT7TBRAER
BINEERRT AL RENEABRIEAIEIF

20213831 H  fEFJIr U Madison Lab
LimitedfY 2 E E B2 1T AR AR (EHR I o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 33.0]#aflgEH

The Company issued convertible bonds with zero coupon
rate at a total principal value of HK$150,000,000 (“CB”)
on 28 July 2017 to Bartha Holdings Limited (“Bartha
Holdings”). The convertible bonds will mature on 27 July
2022 at its principal amount or can be converted into
136,363,636 shares in the Company at Bartha Holdings’
option at the conversion price of HK$1.1 per share.

The fair value of the convertible bonds as at 28 July 2017
was valued by an independent valuer at HK$271,290,000.
The convertible bonds comprise a liability component and
an equity conversion component.

The fair value of the convertible bonds as a whole is
determined by using the Binomial Option Pricing Model.
The fair value of the liability component of the convertible
bonds is calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate
based on an equivalent market interest rate of 9.23%
per annum for equivalent non-convertible bonds using
market comparable approach. The initial carrying amount
of the equity component is determined by deducting the
estimated legal and professional fee and fair value of the
liability component from the fair value of the convertible
bonds, which is included in the “Convertible bonds -
equity conversion reserve” under reserve of the Company.

Upon the share consolidation (note 35(b)) on 20 January
2022 and in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the convertible bonds, the conversion price of
the convertible bonds was adjusted from HK$1.1 to
HK$11.0. Based on the outstanding principal amount of
HK$150,000,000, the number of shares to be allotted and
issued to the holder(s) of the convertible bonds, assuming
full exercise of the conversion rights, was adjusted from
136,363,636 shares to 13,636,363 shares as a result of
the share consolidation.

The equity component of convertible bonds recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position is as
follows:

Equity component at 1 April 2020,
31 March 2021 and 2022

KAT 201757828 H @Bartha Holdings
Limited (TBartha Holdings ) 217 7T 2= 2/
A RES A& 48%84150,000,0007% 7T (AT
BRES)) - T BRBRESFEUEAESR2022F7
B27HEIHE > o 7% Bartha HoldingsMEIE L&
f&1. 1B TSR EE 1 %136,363,636f& A A E
B 1n

AR ESHER2017E7TB28H 2 AFET B L
HEMETEES271,290, ooo%ﬁomﬁﬁﬁfﬁ
HOEaER D REEEIRID

AMREFZAFEESERDHEAB B
REBEABEE -JBREFEEHRDZ A FE
BEBURFEFIBRRESFZESFHHNXES
%9.23% AP ELLLERTIHE) REEZFERY
REREBEHEFBE - BRE D 2P REETD
NREFEZREAEXEERARIRRES QT
BRPEEHOZATFEREE  HSt AR QTR
wRETNZIARRES - BaEREEIRN-

7202241 8208 E TR & #F (FY5E35(b)) &
RIBFTRRESNERRREE TRERESH
BRERIABTHEEEI1.08 T ERKRER
150,000,000 75> R HBITFEBEE &
MO BRRESTFAEALRERETHNRMDBEEH
136,363,636 A% %13,636,363% » AR &
fio

REREEMBRNRER I RRESFHT
mr

Issued by
the Company
BATET
HK$'000
FHET

202048 1H 2021 FE &
202243431 A #2815 174,782
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

Bl F2022F 3531 HILFE
33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 33. AR EFH @
The movement of liability component of the convertible MR ESZaBHSDEEWNT

bonds is as follows:

Issued by
the Company
rATET
HK$°000
FET
Liability component at 1 April 2020 R2020F4B1HZ & &2 121,757
Add: Effective interest expense mn:BRMNEMRS 11,387
Liability component at 31 March 2021 and 1202143831 H &2021FE481H 2
1 April 2021 BEE D 138,144
Add: Effective interest expense e ERMERE 12,452
Liability component at 31 March 2022 220223831 HZBEHD 145,596
34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 4.7TEEMT A
INSTRUMENTS
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Put option to the promissory note holder ~ RAREFIFTHE A Z B HEARE
(Note) (H132) - 6,974
Note: et
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company entered into REE2019F3H31H A B HER  — R EBE
a sale and purchase agreement with CVP Financial, a company REEAMAIZERARKAT ELRERER) ST
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and BBz ((BRHE) BRI A2 EFRKGERER
wholly-owned by Mr. Ting (the “CVP Agreement’), pursuant to EmzEERERREHES2RHackettiR D (MERFE
which the Company has conditionally agreed to acquire, and B&1% 1) » HHE P Hackett2 S B 2 1TIE 4552% o

CVP has conditionally agreed to sell, 52 shares (the “CVP Sale
Shares”) of Hackett, representing 52% of the entire issued share
capital of Hackett.
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL . TEERMT A @

INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Note: (Continued)

Under the CVP Agreement, the consideration (the “CVP
Consideration”) for the purchase of the CVP Sale Shares is
HK$462,800,000. The CVP Consideration shall be satisfied:
(i) in respect of 60% of the CVP Consideration, by the
Company allotting and issuing 504,872,727 new shares of the
Company (the “Shares”) (collectively referred to as the “CVP
Consideration Shares”) of HK$0.001 each at an issue price
of HK$0.55 per Share (the “Issue Price”) to CVP at completion
of the CVP Acquisition; and (ii) in respect of 40% of the CVP
Consideration, by the Company issuing a promissory note in
the principal amount of HK$185,120,000 (the “PN2") to CVP at
completion.

The PN2 is a three-year interest free note which may be
redeemed any time at the request of any party by giving the other
party prior notice. The PN2 contains the put option for the PN2’s
holder (the “PN Put Option”).

The fair value of the Promissory Note is determined based on the
valuation conducted by an independent valuer on the Promissory
Note as at 29 March 2019 (“PN Valuation”). The Promissory
Note contains three components, the call option for the Company,
the put option for the Promissory Note holder and liability
components. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
call option was insignificant for the Hackett.

The fair value of the put option at 31 March 2021 is determined
by using Swaption Model, under which the liability component
is calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate based on an
equivalent market interest rate of 11.97% per annum for similar
instruments without put option.

The principal of PN2 has been partially repaid with the amount
of HK$119,525,000 during the year ended 31 March 2021. The
corresponding embedded PN Put Option had been lapsed upon
repayment.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recognised
gain on change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
amounted to approximately HK$6,974,000 as it was lapsed
upon maturity of PN2 (2021: gain on change in fair value
HK$42,489,000).

et : (#8)

RiFEEWHE BERREFERNZAE (BRARE)
#462,800,0008 7w iz RNBAMUMNUTARNIZAMA ¢ ()
HAbe0nzBRE AARAB N iz BB EIETRE
BETESKRERM0.558T (ME1TE)) MEaREEE K
8517504,872, 727 G R EE0.001 B T2 R AT R
7 (Thefn)) HRATERRKERSB)) 5 Ri)EF40%
EZEEAREBE BARINRTABEARRETASES
185,120,000 8 Tt A R E ((KREE2)) °

ARRB2R-ZFHEERE DJEEIE—FERESB
ME—HEHFABENEERED A RRER2EIEK
PR A AR (TR R RIEDEHARE) -

ARERZAFENDBREEILGENM201943829H
MARERET2HA ((ARERMGEE) BEE AR
EROEZ@HD > ARBZBBHEE - AREREFE
AZR LR EES D A ABEEDAS  DEHRE
FHackettlll N &E K o

R2021E3B31H BB A FTEUIEHELE
EoEPERIDZAFEFRRER T ER LI #
ZHEUTEZRERHEENRI1.97% 2 KR8
EREBFHE

B ZE2021F3ASIHIEFE AR EE2NASTEE D
B8 > ©%4119,525,0008 T HHEMNBRARN AR Z
BIHEER R ERB RN -

REZE2022FE3831HIEEFEE  AEEMTEESHT
BB EPN2EI SR AU AFELSHBEINRE S
TB# 46,974,000 7 (20214F | AT EEE 2 W
42,489,000 7T) ©

il
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at
31 March 2022

Authorised:
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021 of HK$0.001 each

Share Consolidation on 20 January 2022
(Note 1)

At 31 March 2022, of HK$0.01 each

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2020, of HK$0.001 each

Issue of 1,038,545,379 shares at a price of

HK$0.055 each per placing share by way
of placing in December 2020 (Note 2)

At 31 March 2021, of HK$0.001 each

Share Consolidation on 20 January 2022
(Note 1)

At 31 March 2022, of HK$0.01 each

35. g 7

FREE0.017E7T 2 BERE

2022#3531H

ERE

202054818 ~ 20214
3A318 &2021FE4818 >
FIEE0.0018 7T

20221208 R0 &

(HrzE1)

R2022FE3B31H  &REE

0.0187T

EETRBEHMRE
R2020F4B1H  SREE

0.001% 7T

R2020F 128 UL E AL E
& ERECE IR150.0558 7T
2%£171,038,545,3798% B& 15

(Hrz22)

JL2021E3831H B RkEE

0.001%& 7T

20221208 IB1D &4

(HrzE1)

R2022FE3831H  SREE

0.01787T
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Number of
shares

k& E

10,000,000,000

(9,000,000,000)

Share capital
s

HK$'000
FET

10,000

1,000,000,000

10,000

5,192,726,898

1,038,545,379

5,193

1,038

6,231,272,277

(5,608,145,050)

6,231

623,127,227

6,231
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Note:

1. On 18 January 2022, the board of the directors
announced that the share consolidation was approved.
As disclosed in the circular of the Company published on
28 December 2021, the authorised share capital of the
Company is HK$10,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
existing shares of par value of HK$0.001 each, of which
6,231,272,277 existing shares have been issued and
are fully paid or credited as fully paid. Upon the share
consolidation on 20 January 2022, the authorised share
capital of the Company became HK$10,000,000 divided
into 1,000,000,000 consolidated shares of par value of
HK$0.01 each, of which 623,127,227 consolidated shares
was issued which are fully paid or credited as fully paid.
The consolidated shares rank pari passu in all respects
with each other. The details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 18 January 2022.

2. On 22 December 2020, an aggregate of 1,038,545,379
placing shares were placed to not less than six placees
at the placing price of HK$0.055 per placing share in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the placing
agreement. These shares rank pari passu with the existing
shares in all respects. On the basis that the net proceeds
were approximately HK$55,963,000 (after deduction of
commission and other expenses of the placing), the net
issue price was approximately HK$0.054 per placing share.
The details were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 22 December 2020.

36. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLES

On 9 February 2017, CVP Financial entered into the
acquisition agreement with CVP Holdings Limited (“CVP
Holdings”), pursuant to which CVP Financial conditionally
agreed to acquire, and CVP Holdings conditionally agreed
to sell, the entire issued share capital of CVP Asset
Management Limited (“CVP Asset Management”) for a
consideration of HK$14,000,000.

35.g8 7 (=
HiEE

1. R2022FE1B18H EEEAEHERSD EH
MARABF20214F12 828 H T 8% A9 38 K PRI
B RATEERZAA10,000,0008 7 DB
10,000,000,0008 S & EH0.001 B tHWIRE
Be{n > Hhe,231,272 277 IBA RN BT
BRABER BRI R2022F1H520H
BmEstE AABAERZAA10,000,000%
7T ) 731,000,000,0008% 5 B3 & f50.01 3 T HY
BN Hh B 817623,127,227TREHE
SIFBRNEHRD HEaRMDESHERIL
FERSEM - FBEHNAAT HEB20224F
1818 S -

2. #2020F 128220 » IRIFEC & 1958 IR R R (&
o LIEREERKN0.0558 TR E TR LR
INERED A BDE & 151,038,545,379B P & B
PeoZERMIUIENFBRBERNEERS
I o IR IR TS FRIEF 28 A 4955,963,00078 7T

(NREENESNEMER) » BTEFBEN
ATRERERN0.054B T EHMNALTR
HAA2020F 125 22BK Ao

36.FETARERE

R2017F289H > CVP Financial®2CVP
Holdings Limited (FCVP Holdings ) 571L
WEEH = B I CVP Financial B4R E
W BE % CVP HoldingsB 4R RHEECVP
Asset Management Limited (TCVP Asset
Management)) 2 2ZEHTR A RKESH
14,000,000 7T ©

bt

il
3

iz
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36. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLES

(Continued)

Pursuant to the acquisition, CVP Financial agreed to
settle the total consideration for the acquisition by
issuing an interest-free promissory note in the sum of
HK$14,000,000 (the “PN1”) to CVP Holdings on 28 July
2017. The maturity date of the PN1 is the third anniversary
from the date of issue of the PN1, being 27 July 2020.
The effective interest rate of the PN1 is approximately
9.38%. PN1 has been fully settled with the amount
of HK$14,000,000 and set-off against consideration
receivables (note 38(c)) during the year ended 31 March
2021.

Pursuant to the acquisition of Hackett stated in note 34,
the Company agreed to settle the part of consideration
for the acquisition by issuing PN2 in the sum of
HK$185,120,000 to CVP on 29 March 2019. The maturity
date of the PN2 is the third anniversary from the date of
issue of the PN2, being 28 March 2022 and subsequent
to the year extended for 1 year to 29 March 2023 at nil
consideration. The PN2 may be redeemed any time at the
request of any party by giving the other party prior notice.
PN2 has been partially repaid with a principal amount of
HK$119,525,000 during the year ended 31 March 2021.
The effective interest rates of the PN2 is approximately
9.51%.

At 1 April 2020 120204818
Add: effective interest expenses m: BERFERY
Less: repayments W ER

At 31 March 2021 $2202143831H
Add: effective interest expenses m:ERMNERZ

At 31 March 2022 12022%3A31H

At 31 March 2022, the remaining promissory notes of
HK$65,595,000 are due for settlement. On 1 April 2022,
the maturity date of PN2 was extended for 1 year to 29
March 20283.
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BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

36.IETERERE @

RIFWEHEEIE > CVP Financial A E BB 2017
F£7H28HECVP Holdings# 47 % #(14,000,000
BLEZRERARER (RREE1)) 25 E
NNBEE REBEBE AREB12HHEA
RAREEIZTHPER=FEH »B2020F
7TH2TH A REEIZEMRAELN59.38% &
FE2021F3AHIEFE AR ERIEZENAE
14,000,00078 o il £ (E R W RGETTIR S (M 5T
38(c)) °

BIEMsE34FF M HackettWBEEIH > AR T
BEFEBNR20190F3820HME R ETAH
185,120,000 T2 K R BE22 H N E UL HE
FEEZBIRE- ARRB2ZHHBAANRER

DRoEITHERE M = FE H > Bl2022E3H28H
W R FEUERELERIFE2023F3829H KR
EROoNER M — AN EKRMERERD > BFERA
BHB—H HE2021E3A31HILEEE AR

EEoE WD EEREEEA119,525,00078 7T © K

REBOZERFIENA9.51%-
PN1 PN2 Total
AR EREA ARER2 4act
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
13,570 154,350 167,920
430 24,842 25,272
(14,000) (119,525) (133,525)
- 59,667 59,667
- 5,928 5,928
- 65,595 65,595

20228 3H31H » 8 FHI65,595,00078 7T HY &
RDEEDEEIE 2022F48 10 AR EHE2M
HHAHIER1EE2023F3529H



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

B F20224F3531HILFE
37.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 37.BRIEEREXT
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Blockchain services business (note a) @ IR ARFS EFS (ff3ta) (1,346) (33,849)
Wine auction business (note b) BEBREER (WWatb) - 731
(1,346) (33,118)
Loss for the year attributable to: FEEFEREIE
- owners of the Company —ERRNBEB A (1,274) (20,116)
- non-controlling interest —FEER R (72) (13,002)
(1,346) (33,118)
(a) Blockchain Services Business (a) ERBIRFTET
On 17 June 2021, the Group entered into a sale R2021F6B17TH  AEEHE AL E
and purchase agreement with a purchaser, to Hipz UHE—FE2EWE A Madison
dispose of a wholly-owned subsidiary, Madison Lab Limited (T Madison Lab |) R HIEEE
Lab Limited (“Madison Lab”) and its non-wholly WEAR EBTHEERE ) REAEEN
owned subsidiary (collectively, the “Disposal Group ERERTBER HERATELE—HRE
1”) carried out the Group’s Blockchain Services EEEMUARAEBRNEMET 702021
Business. The disposal was effected in order to FOR1I7THREMHE R ZARKHEER
generate general working capital of the Group’s other TR EERATINE s HEEEHS
businesses. The disposal was completed on 17 June BRI 5E39(a) ©

2021, on which date control of the Disposal Group 1
passed to the acquirer. Details of the disposal are set
out in note 39(a).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

37.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Continued)

(a) Blockchain Services Business (Continued) (a)
The result of Blockchain Services Business was as

follows:

Other income

Staff cost

Depreciation

Administrative and other operating
expenses

Impairment loss on intangible asset

Finance cost

Loss for the period/year
Loss on disposal of discontinued
operations (note 39(a))

Loss for the period/year from
discontinued operations

Loss for the period/year
attributable to
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss for the period/year from
discontinued operations

Hhg A

E T4

e
TEREMSERE

BREERERE
RAE R A

EARS S ER R
HEBKR RS EBNEIE
(H15£39(a))

KEARE FRELEEE
EHHER

DN o S g
FAEIE
TRBWEE A
FRIERE D

REARFRRLEEE
FHBHIEE
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37.BERUERKREEFRE @

ERBRBER @)

BIRBIRBEBERNT :

1.4.2021 to
17.6.2021
(date of 1.4.2020 to
disposal) 31.3.2021
202154818 E
2021F6H17H 2020F4818=E
(HEBEH) 2021€E3H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
259 547
(155) (2,367)
(42) (123)
(246) (3,194)
= (28,711)
(1) (1)
(185) (33,849)
(1,161) -
(1,346) (33,849)
(1,274) (20,847)
(72) (13,002)
(1,346) (33,849)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE
37.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 37.BRILEKEXETH »
(Continued)
(a) Blockchain Services Business (Continued) (a) EMBIRFEFRE @
Loss for the period/year from discontinued ERIEESERBIRFEFNER,FEA
Blockchain Services Business includes the following: EEEELLT
1.4.2021 to
17.6.2021
(date of 1.4.2020 to
disposal) 31.3.2021
2021F481HE
2021F6817H 2020F481HZE
(HEBH) 202143H31H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥ & 2 85 K H th 18 F 138 2,053
Contributions to retirement benefits R {R#EH 5+ 21 3%
scheme 17 314
Depreciation on plant and equipment R &BHELEBEEE
and right-of-use assets. BT E 42 123
Cash flows from discontinued blockchain services EREREGRIRERFERMEENRSE
are as follows: MEWMT
1.4.2021 to
17.6.2021
(date of 1.4.2020 to
disposal) 31.3.2021
2021F481HE
2021%F6H17H 2020F481HZE
(HEHH) 202143831
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Net cash inflow (outflow) from BEEBIREMA ) F38
operating activities 693 (4,028)
Net cash outflow from investing KREEHREME T
activities - (252)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from MEFHRE ORE) RAFERE
financing activities (630) 4,521
Net cash inflow BEMAFTE 63 241
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37.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Continued)
(b) Wine auction business

On 2 November 2020, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with a purchaser, which is
wholly-owned by Mr. Ting, to dispose of a wholly-
owned subsidiary, Focus Concept Holdings Limited
(“Focus Concept”). Focus Concept and its subsidiary
(collectively, the “Disposal Group 2”) carried out
the Group’s wine auction business. The disposal
was effected in order to generate cash flows for the
expansion of the Group’s other businesses. The
disposal was completed on 2 November 2020, on

S EET @

(b) BRERRBEXETR
1R2020F 11 B2  AEEEER (AT %
$2ERB) I UBEEmE UHE—E2
& i /&~ B]Focus Concept Holdings Limited
(TFocus Concept]) °Focus Conceptk
HiWEr e EBHEEE2) REXFEE
HEROmInBEXHB HERR 7T ELER
EMEMNEEAEBENEMET 722020
FI1AHEMEHE IR ZARKHEER
SR EER A T WES HESEFE
I MI5E39(b) ©

37.24& 1t

which date control of the Disposal Group 2 passed to
the acquirer. Details of the disposal are set out in note

39(b).

The result of wine auction business for the year

ended 31 March 2021 was as follows:

Revenue*
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Staff cost

Deprecation

Administrative and other
operating expenses

Loss for the period
Gain on disposal of discontinued
operations (note 39(b))

Gain for the period from
discontinued operations (attributable
to owners of the Company)

*

a point in time.

Revenue from contract with customers recognised at

B E2021F3831H L F ERVERSE M T

BEBESENT

1.4.2020 to
2.11.2020
(date of
disposal)
2020F4B1HE
202011828
(HEHEH)
HK$'000
FET
Y g 3,956
5 pl A4S (794)
EFH 3,162
=R N 169
BT (1,880)
e (27)
T REMKESHZ (1,536)
RHEAFE B8 (112)

HEBKRIELEERHNNRE
(H15£39(b)) 843

A HARIAR R A 2 55
MW (KA BER AL

731

* REERENEER Z W
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37.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

37.BRIEREEFE @

(Continued)
(b) Wine auction business (Continued)
Loss for the period from discontinued wine auction

(b) BRRBHEER @
AEBERREEE AR MBEEFHE

business includes the following: BEFBEUT
1.4.2020 to
2.11.2020
(date of
disposal)
2020F481HE
2020£E11H2H
(HEBE)
HK$'000
FET
Salaries, allowances and other benefit e R R EMBER 1,843
Contribution to retirement benefit scheme BARBHR EH AR 53
Auditor’s remuneration Z BB = 120
Cost of inventories recognised as expense FERAERAER 293
Government grants (Note) BT AL (B a2E) 162

Note: HiaE -

The government grants recognised from discontinued
operations during the year ended 31 March 2021 of
approximately HK$162,000 represented government
grants received for which there are no unfulfilled conditions
and other contingencies attaching to these government
assistances.

Cash flows from discontinued wine auction business
are as follows:

Net cash outflow from operating activities
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Net cash inflow from financing activities

Net cash outflow

RERHRT R PEE
REEZHRS AL FR ®)
MEETHRTAAZR 12

REREPEE

BE2021F3A3MALLEFE REERIEKEER
5 HE S0 B BT 4 BD 4943 162,00078 7T » B BV R
RS 768 Bl 0 8 R AR e L 5B R IEMT A0 2
BENNE-

EREEEEERRHEEBEENES
MEBWT :

1.4.2020 to
2.11.2020

(date of
disposal)
2020FE481HE
2020FE1182H
(HEHEH)
HK$'000

FET

(665)

(661)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 38. X EHFWEX5H

owned subsidiary of the Company, Madison Lab and
the amount due from Madison Lab to the Group of
approximately HK$111,813,000 (the “Sale Loan
1”) at a consideration of HK$90,000,000 which
should be and had been satisfied by way of issue
of a promissory note in the principal amount of
HK$90,000,000 by Ms. Li Li. Madison Lab and its
non-wholly-owned subsidiary carried out the Group’s
Blockchain Services Business. The disposal was
completed on 17 June 2021 on which date control
of the above-mentioned subsidiaries was passed
to the purchaser. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 17 June 2021.
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(a) During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group (a) MEZE202243H31 EIJJ:EF_ AEEET
entered into new lease arrangement in respect of UTEREAEYENHERZE NHEER
property. Right-of-use asset and lease liability of B HEE RS ﬁﬁﬁ’féﬁ}%&%ﬁ aEAN
approximately HK$21,639,000 was recognised 21,639,000/ 75(20214F : 299,000 7t) ©
at the commencement dates of the leases (2021:

HK$299,000).

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group (b) B E2022F3B31HIEFEE  RERIZAIR
had early terminated a lease which its right-of-use IF—BHE HEREEEABEESED
asset and lease liabilities amounted to approximately B £ 7159,0004 75 &% 164,000 7T © T2 Al
HK$159,000 and HK$164,000 respectively. It RIEFRA 2 W 495, OOO/%TBO
resulted in a gain on early termination of lease of
approximately HK$5,000.

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2022, the (c) B E20224%F3H31 ErA&ERD
Group entered into sublease arrangements 53 B FE & HE 4R Jt MRERAEEE
and derecognised the right-of-use assets of 15 498 OOO%E&E@ FHEREREREK
HK$15,498,000 and recognition of finance lease £4919,663,00055 7T B E GRS
receivables of approximately HK$19,663,000 and JXH& £#94,165,00078 7T ©
resulting in gain of disposal of right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$4,165,000.

(d) The Group disposed of a subsidiary at consideration (d) AEMELIA88,526,0008 THRBHE —
of approximately HK$88,526,000 as detailed in note BB AR s 1B M 5E39(a) o FEU B
39(a). The consideration receivables were included in R202243831Het A M EUFRIE
other receivables at 31 March 2022.

(e) The Group disposed of a subsidiary at consideration (e) ZAEMMLIA39,139,0008 THRBEE—
of approximately HK$39,139,000. The considerations 1 P & A B) o FE UL AU (B HL2020F 38 31 H 5t
receivables were included in other receivables at AEMBWRIE  REE2021F3831H Lt
31 March 2020. During the year ended 31 March FE D EUKAE14,000,000% T E &
2021, the partial consideration receivable for the K %14,000,0008 TT1ER N ECVP Asset
amount of HK$14,000,000 was set-off against the ManagementZ BB FE (T R & ZHEARIK
promissory note payable with the principal amount H o
of HK$14,000,000 as the consideration for the
acquisition of CVP Asset Management.

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEMB AR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #2022 3831HLFE

(@) Madison Lab (@) Madison Lab
On 17 June 2021, the Group entered into a sale and 2021681 7TH  AEEHE A EF L
purchase agreement with Ms. Li Li (an independent T (—®BULE=H) L ,\ET R
third party) as purchaser, to dispose of a wholly- HEAXRRBZ —BE2EKE A S Madison

Labf&Madison LabWEﬁZtiﬁlE'J FIFA
111,813,000 T (IMFEERH1)) RKEA
90,000,000 cfEEEREF £ @B
T4 £ %8%490,000,0008 T E R EERN
F R E I oMadison LabREIEZBWE L
TNERERNERBERGFER - HED
R2021E6B17H 5 > P s% B 27 L w2
NEWNEFEBEREE L BAEL2EAAN
NEHHEA2021FE6B17HM AL o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE
39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39.HEMB AT @
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 (Continued) H E2022%F3831H L EFEE (7
(a) Madison Lab (Continued) (a) Madison Lab (&
The net assets of Madison Lab disposed of at the B H&Madison LabAHE BN B EFE
date of disposal are as follows: wr
HK$’'000
FAET
Plant and equipment 5 5 K 5% 382
Intangible asset BEEE 145,606
Right-of-use assets FREEE 217
Other receivables HhEusia 590
Bank balances and cash IRITHERR R IRE 90
Other payables H e R IE (439)
Lease liabilities HEEE (206)
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder ANEI RS E =] 2)
Amount due to immediate holding company FENBEEZERARNRIE (111,813)
34,425
Loss on disposal of Madison Lab H £Madison LabR 518
Consideration receivable* FEU LB 88,526
Net assets disposed of BEHEFEE (34,425)
Non-controlling interest JEER R 59,362
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of RAEEMB AT TG HEE > SiEB AT 2
the net liabilities of the subsidiary reclassified FEEHEREMDEEEm s BetE
from equity to profit or loss on loss of control @ Z %8
of the subsidiary (2,811)
Sale Loan 1 FEER (111,813
Loss on disposal of Madison Lab (note 37(a)) H & Madison LabBIE5 38 (f12£37(a)) (1,161)
Consideration received EURERKE
Promissory note receivable, at fair value FEWARER N TFE 88,526
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEREENRE R IFE
Back balances and cash disposed of BHERTEGKRIEE (90)
* Consideration receivable was the fair value * EURREAERREERVGREIEHN AR
of promissory note at the date of initial BE ZAREENEEAS90,000,000%8
recognition. The face value of this promissory TTABANER > FRMEHB2.0% BEFE
note was HK$90,000,000 for a term of #95.3% ©

six months at an interest rate of 2.0% per
annum. The effective interest rate is 5.3%.
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2021

(b)

Focus Concept

On 2 November 2020, the Group disposed of its
100% equity interest in Focus Concept and the
amount due from Focus Concept to the Group of
approximately HK$11,422,000 (the “Sale Loan
2") to Firebird Global Investment Holdings Limited
(“Firebird Global”), a related company wholly-owned
by Mr. Ting, who is the controlling shareholder of the
Group, at a cash consideration of HK$2,000,000.
Details are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 2 November 2020. Focus Concept and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of
wine auction services. The disposal was completed
on 2 November 2020 on which date control of the
subsidiary passed to the acquirer.
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39.LEMB AT @

HE2021FE3831HLLEE

(b)

Focus Concept

2020511 A2H » K& B AFirebird Global
Investment Holdings Limited (I Firebird
Global|) » —RHEAKNEEZRKKERT LE
2 EHRABWRIEAQT» HEFocus Concept
BY100%RE 7 FxFocus ConceptfE(t A EE
MIRRIEA11,422,00058 T (TFEER2)) >
H&RE%A2,000,0008 5 sFBEHR A
AT HEA2020F11H2HM A4 o Focus
Concept EffB AT T ENR FIRHEER
BRI ERY - HER2020F11 820 %
o RZEBFHERB AR NES S
BHETIWERS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEMBAR &

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Continued) #HE2021F3831BLLEE @
(b) Focus Concept (Continued) (b) Focus Concept (&)

The net assets of Focus Concept disposed of at the B H&Focus Conceptit HE BN & EF

date of disposal are as follows: BElF
HK$’'000
FET
Plant and equipment 5 5 K 5% 139
Inventories E& 833
Trade and other receivables B 5k HMEBWRIE 798
Bank balances and cash IRITAERRRIRE 1,572
Trade and other payables B3 REMEMIE (2,175)
Contract liabilities aH8aE (10)
Amount due to immediate holding company FE B EIZER A BRIE (11,422)
(10,265)
Gain on disposal of Focus Concept i €Focus ConceptFi{F iz
Consideration received BUWE 2,000
Net liabilities disposed of BHEZFEE 10,265
Sale Loan 2 HEEM2 (11,422)
Gain on disposal of Focus Concept (note 37(b)) H&EFocus ConceptFriZ Uz
(Ktz£37(b)) 843
Consideration received Bl E
Cash received BUWIRE 2,000
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HERNELENRE RN FE
Cash consideration received BUYEREE 2,000
Bank balances and cash disposed of BHERITERLIREE (1,572)
428
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40. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Group had the following changes in its ownership
interest in a subsidiary that did not result in a loss of
control:

Deemed disposal of equity interest in a
subsidiary
For the year ended 31 March 2021

(@)

BITOCEAN

During the year ended 31 March 2021, BITOCEAN,
a subsidiary of the Company, issued 3,863 ordinary
shares at approximately JPY14,000 per share
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,000 per share)
to its minority shareholders. Upon issuance of new
shares of BITOCEAN, the Group’s equity interest in
BITOCEAN has been diluted to approximately 59.3%.
The dilution of the Group’s interest in BITOCEAN
constituted a deemed disposal of the Group’s equity
interest in subsidiary (‘Deemed Disposal’).

Accordingly, no expected gain or loss will be
accrued to the Company as a result of Deemed
Disposal and the financial results of Bitocean will
continue to be consolidated into and reflected in the
financial statements of the Group. This resulted in an
increase in non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$65,336,000 and decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$61,386,000. A schedule of the effect of deemed
disposal of interest is as follow:

40. B RABHERA EE =

AEBABUTHRWB AR Z EAEED

Fo)

R E B R A IEHIE

MRE & Kt B A B R B i

HE2021F3H31HILEE R

(@)

BITOCEAN
HE2021F3A31BHIEFE » A AR Z M
B AEIBITOCEANE H /A& B 8173,863%
EZER BRENRN14,0008T FBERS
f%#91,00078 70) © #1TBITOCEANBI#1 IR 1%
%> REEMRBITOCEANHBR S HEE
HN59.3% BREARESEBALEEMFAR
BITOCEANM I #EME Al — B R (E H & — [
WE ARz (TRIELESFIE))

At KABAEZHEEELEETEME

EEEAWE I E IR > MBitocean® i1 #

¥ENSEBEHATINMESRERNEY

BHREARP - SEENFERERBMAS

65,336,000 B TR A REIHEE AEE#ER

m%ﬁm 386,0008 T REIREE RN
—BRUWT:

HK$’'000
FET
Carrying amount of non-controlling BEEMNIERSG RGN IRE S8
interest disposed 65,336
Capital contribution from non-controlling HIEERKREHRE
shareholders (3,950)
Amount recognised in capital reserve BRARAEENERE 61,386
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BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

40. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP

41.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Deemed disposal of equity interest in a

subsidiary (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Continued)

(b)  In addition, there was change in ownership interest without
loss of control over an insignificant subsidiary, resulting in
increase in non-controlling interest and decrease in capital
reserve of HK$561,000.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Hong Kong

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of the
relevant payroll costs and up to maximum of HK$1,500
per month for each employee to the scheme, to which the
same amount of contribution is matched by employees.

The PRC

Employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by
the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specific percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit plan to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the required contributions.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised to offset
employers’ contributions for the year. The employers’
contributions which have been dealt with in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income were as follows:

40.NMBAGIHEERECEE @

41.

RELEHBABNRE @

HE2021FE3831HLEFEH (&

) SN EEEREHIEFEEF QT LS
BRI T SAAEERDSE T B85
R IR R R AR 0 0 W R BB A {5 4 R D
561,000 7T ©

3B k@ # 5t 2

FA
AEEARFEAAREBEERERBES
BloZstBNEERALEEED WIS L
EREAUESER - AEERABIEREH
5% R % E A1,5005% 7t % S {18 8 1 5 8 f#
o REEERHHREE-

§ 5]
TENEARZREN S TEBMEEHEK
EERNEBHFBENNE - WEB AT BIZHE N
AE—RTEB DL RE KGR 58 1FH &R H
Mo AEBEHRNEHFEZME—SERIFLIE
EZ Mo

RAEFE ELARNERBRBHEEE ZH
Mo BEAEREm AEMERE R mRARENE
FHRAT -

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FAET
(Restated)
(& &E75)
Continuing operations FIESE TS
Employers’ contributions charged to the AGEERREMEER S
consolidated statements of profit or loss K EEMHRR
and other comprehensive income 2,085 1,364
Discontinued operations BRIEKE T
Employers’ contributions charged to the SFAGEERREMEERE
consolidated statements of profit or loss W EEMHER
and other comprehensive income 33 367
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42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has conditionally adopted a share
option scheme pursuant to a written resolution of the
shareholders of the Company passed on 21 September
2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons for
their contribution to the Group and/or enabling the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group.

On 17 December 2015, the Company granted an
aggregate of 18,100,000 share options (the “Share
Options”) to the grantees of the Company, to subscribe,
in aggregate, for up to 18,100,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company under
the Share Option Scheme.

Upon the share subdivision becoming effective on 8
November 2016, adjustments had been made to the
exercise price of the outstanding Share Options and the
number of subdivided shares to be allotted and issued
(the “Subdivided Shares(s)”) upon full exercise of
subscription rights attaching to the outstanding Share
Options in the following manner:

Immediately before the Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7r A /H\j- %ﬁ $E %E I“j

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

42.RMZHZR 5

RIBEAABRENR2016F9821A BB ZE@R
EEOAABEAFRARMBRESS (MEkE
8 AR AERFHEMZGEBRA LR
MBS RB R, REYWEERRERRFREE
BFATURRSIHAEEMSBEEBEZANE
iR e

R2015F12B17H A A BIERIEHBRE &
BH&$£18,100,00010 B (THERE) F
RANBAEBA UREALABDIRATEHRES
18,100,000/ & IR EEO0.01 BT E B

BRAIFAEN2016F11A8HELENE BT

L AHERITEBREZTEERREHT

@hﬂ%fﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁy%ﬁﬁmza BRI TR K
TG (TF4RG) MEFELREE

Immediately after the Share

Subdivision becoming effective  Subdivision becoming effective

SR 10 1 4B £ AT SHERMIFRENE
Adjusted Adjusted
number of exercise
Number of Exercise Subdivided price per
Share Options price per Shares Subdivided
to be issued Share Option to be issued Share
RAERT
BFEITZ SMHBRE Bq12 RAESK
Date of grant R B BREHE TEE  RARGCEE RAEARGTEE
17 December 2015 2015F12817H 18,100,000 HK$8.00 181,000,000 HK$0.80
#718.007T 0.8078 7T

Save for the above adjustments, all other terms and
conditions of the outstanding Share Options granted under
the Share Option Scheme remain unchanged. Details of
the adjustments to the Share Options upon the share
subdivision are disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 7 November 2016.
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42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 42. UMM 2R @

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

On 8 April 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of
219,000,000 Share Options to the employees, directors
and consultants of the Company, to subscribe, in
aggregate, for up to 219,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company at
exercise price of HK$1.89 each per share. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 3
April 2018.

On 17 August 2018, resolutions were passed by the
then shareholders of the Company granting general
and unconditional mandates to exercise the powers of
the Company to, among other things, refresh the then
scheme mandate limit of up to 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the date of passing the resolution,
for which the maximum number of shares which may be
issued under the refreshed scheme mandate limit was
428,330,871.

On 18 December 2018, the Company granted an
aggregate of 48,000,000 share options to the consultants
of the Company, to subscribe, in aggregate, for up to
48,000,000 Shares at exercise price of HK$1.12 each per
Share. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 13 December 2018.

On 6 December 2019, the Company granted an aggregate
of 355,400,000 share options to the employees, directors
and consultants of the Company, to subscribe, in
aggregate, for up to 355,400,000 Shares at exercise price
of HK$0.207 each per share. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 6 December
2019.

On 31 July 2020, ordinary resolutions had been passed
by the Company’s shareholders to refresh the scheme
mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme, such that
the maximum number of shares that can be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of Share Options which may be
granted by the Company under the scheme mandate limit
so refreshed would be 519,272,689 Shares, being 10.0%
of the total number of issued shares as at the date of
passing of the resolution approving the said refreshment.

R2018F483H AR ElAA LB RBRE - EER
FERI 2 H & $£219,000,000170 B RG #E > LUIRIT(#
BEREKRM1.8OBTEEIBEARATRAFTRS
219,000,000/ & IR EE0.001 B T EER A
FAsEE B2EARAT HEA2018F4H3HZ A

=)
= °

R2018F 8B 17H  BRFMKRE BB RZEER ¥
FTARRB—MEEEGRETEENDU (HHE
1) BB RERESIEHEREZIRAEHE
BERBACSBENARZZEBEBABAR
BEBTRMNEEZ10%  THEMNEIEER
RN R A EITRIDEE A428,330,871% °

R2018F 128130 AR BIAA LB EREH
& $£48,000,00017 R > UIBTTEESRRED
1.12B T A HRVB AR B KA &K Z48,000,000
- BRZEE BF2REEA AT HEA2018%F128
13EZ R

R2019F1286H AR AAREEE - EE
R BRI A $£355,400,00017 BE P 1 » LUIg 1T
EEERERM0.207BTEaHRBARAATRAS
£ %355,400,0008% - BRAFEIE  BRREA QA H
HAA2019F1286H 2 A% o

2020 7831H AR BEIREEBE 7T ZERE
ZoNEMETHERETHTEIRERS > MUE
RANBREBEENETEN YR FTHERESTEIE
TEBREROUREEMETHRONREAH
E£724519,272,689K AN E LMEBBHMEEN
RERBBEANBEETRMOEHEN10%-
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B FEL022F3531 HIFFZE

42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Upon the share consolidation becoming effective on
20 January 2022, adjustments had been made to the
exercise price of the outstanding Share Options and the
number of consolidated shares to be allotted and issued
(the “Consolidated Share(s)”) upon full exercise of
subscription rights attaching to the outstanding Share
Options in the following manner:

Date of grant REEH

17 December 2015 2015%12817H
3 April 2018 2018%F483H
13 December 2018 2018F12813H
6 December 2019 2019F1286H

Save for the above adjustments, all other terms and
conditions of the outstanding Share Options granted under
the Share Option Scheme remain unchanged. Details of
the adjustments to the Share Options upon the share
consolidation are disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 18 January 2022.

As at 31 March 2022, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was
50,830,000 Shares (2021: 508,400,000 Shares),
representing approximately 8.2% (2021: 8.2%) of the total
number of Shares in issue at that date. Fair value of Share
Options granted to consultants was measured at market
prices for their services provided.
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42. LR 2Z2R G @

BRI & FHIIN2022F1B20H £ % 2% T
ARAHERTEBEREZTEEBRNEHITE
B ARIT MR RN A Z SRR R T BC 3 A 3
mzattkn (AHRG)) BMEFHAE

Immediately before
the Share Consolidation
becoming effective

Immediately after
the Share Consolidation
becoming effective

FHEROEHENA EERHSHENE

Adjusted Adjusted

number of exercise

Number of Exercise price Consolidated price per

Share Options per Share  Shares to be Consolidated

to be issued Option issued Share

TRERT TREER

T8 ShiEkE Biyzat Chidiav]

fEREHE 1188 Beah 4= 1168

181,000,000 HK$0.800 7T 18,100,000  HK$8.00% 7T

198,900,000 HK$1.890% 7T 19,890,000 HK$18.907E 7T

48,000,000 HK$1.1208 7T 4,800,000 HKS$11.20%E 7T

80,400,000 HK$0.207A 7T 8,040,000  HK$2.07E 7T
508,300,000 50,830,000

B EAaAEE SN IRIRRE IR ST B IR B R AT
RN A EM IR R R 4T & o fR1D
EHFHERENBEFBEHNALRTHEES
2022F1B18HM AL ©

HE202283831H RNERESE TER
HEMARTENBERENERBROAEE S
50,830,00088 (20214 : 508,400,0008%) > B
RARBRZHBETRMBEL8.2% (2021
F:182%) cMBERERHZBRENAFELE
HERERF 2 HEAE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

BLFE 20223531 HIEFEE

42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continueaq)
No option had been granted during the years ended 31

March 2022 and 2021.

Share-based payment expenses of HK$546,000 were
recognised (2021: HK$3,219,000 of reversal of share-
based payment, net) by the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022 in relation to share options granted by the

Company.

Details of the Company’s share options held by grantees

are as follows:

Category of

participant Date of grant
BHENE RreAH
Shareholders 17 December 2015
(S 2015128178
Consultants 17 December 2015
B 2015%12817H
Directors 3 April 2018

5% 201854 A3H
Employees 3 April 2018

BE 2018%483H
Consultants 3 April 2018

Fafg 2018%453H
Consultants 13 December 2018
REf 2018125 13H

Outstanding at

31 March 2021

#2021E3831H

K17

21,000,000

160,000,000

5,900,000

8,500,000

184,600,000

48,000,000

Outstanding at
31 March 2022
#202263831H
W K17

(Note)

Mzt

2,100,000

16,000,000

590,000

850,000

18,450,000

4,800,000

42. LB 2R G @

B E2022F 202153831 HEFE U EEH

R

HE2022F3831HIEFEE AEBEMAR
SAREERERIBUROIMZZLELGSE
546,000 70 (20214 : LUBMD 2 X HF &
[E13,219,0003# 7T) ©

ERAFARRBZBREFBUT

Vesting period

RRE

17 December 2015 to
16 June 2016

2015F12B17HE
201665 16H

17 December 2015 to
16 June 2016

2015F12B817HE
201665160

3 April 2018 to
31 December 2018
2018F4H3HZE
2018%12831H

3 April 2018 to
31 December 2018
2018F483HE
2018%12831H

3 April 2018 to
31 December 2018
2018F4H3HE
20185128311

13 December 2018 to
30 June 2019

2018 12B13HE
20196530H

SEREREESRAT £52021/22 259

Exercise period

e

17 June 2016 to
16 December 2025
2016F6817HE
2025128 16H

17 June 2016 to
16 December 2025
20165F6F17HE
2025128 16H

1 January 2019 to
2 April 2028

2019F1B1HE
20284 4H2H

1 January 2019 to
2 April 2028

2019F1B1HE
2028%F452H

1 January 2019 to
2 April 2028

2019F1B1HE
2028F482H

1 July 2019 to
12 December 2028
2019F7B1HE
2028128 12H

Exercise price
per share

BRITHEE
(Note)
(Hzt)

HK$8.00

(2021: HK$0.80)
8.00 7T

(20214 : 0.80%7T)

HK$8.00

(2021: HK$0.80)
8.00 7T

(20214 : 0.80% 1)

HK$18.90

(2021: HK$1.89)
18.90 7T

(20214 : 1.8937T)

HK$18.90

(2021: HK$1.89)
18.90 7T

(20214 : 1.8937T)

HK$18.90

(2021: HK$1.89)
18.90 7T

(20214 : 1.89% 1)

HK$11.20

(2021: HK$1.12)
11,208 7T

(20214 1 1.1237T)
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42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 42. UMM 2R @

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Category of Outstanding at Outstanding at Exercise price
participant Date of grant 31 March 2021 31 March 2022 Vesting period Exercise period per share
$#2021F38318  122022F3H31H

BHEENE R BH W K17 HATHE HEH 71588 SRTEE
(Note) (Note)
(Hizt) (Hfzt)
Directors 6 December 2019 8,000,000 800,000 6 December 2019 to 6 December 2020 to HK$2.07
5 December 2020 5 December 2029 (2021: HK$0.207)
- 2019%12A6H 2019F1286HE 2020F12H6HZE 2078
2020F12A5H 202912850 (20214 : 0.207%7T)
Directors 6 December 2019 8,000,000 800,000 6 December 2019 to 6 December 2021 to HK$2.07
5 December 2021 5 December 2029 (2021: HK$0.207)
EE 2019 12H6H 2019 1286HE 2021F12B6HE 2078
2021F1285H 202912850 (20214 : 0.2073#7T)
Consultants 6 December 2019 25,950,000 2,695,000 6 December 2019 to 6 December 2020 to HK$2.07
5 December 2020 5 December 2029 (2021: HK$0.207)
Ef 20195F1286H 2019F12H6HE 2020F12H6HZE 2078
202012850 2029F1285H (20214 : 0.2073#7T)
Consultants 6 December 2019 25,950,000 2,595,000 6 December 2019 to 6 December 2021 to HK$2.07
5 December 2021 5 December 2029 (2021: HK$0.207)
B 201941246H 2019F12H6HE 2021F12H6HZE 2078
202112850 202912850 (20214 1 0.20787T)
Employees 6 December 2019 6,250,000 625,000 6 December 2019 to 6 December 2020 to HK$2.07
5 December 2020 5 December 2029 (2021: HK$0.207)
= 20195%1286H 201912860 % 2020512H6HE 20787
202012850 2029512850 (20214 : 0.207370)
Employees 6 December 2019 6,250,000 625,000 6 December 2019 to 6 December 2021 to HK$2.07
5 December 2021 5 December 2029 (2021: HK$0.207)
BE 20191286H 2019 1286HE 2021F12H6HE 2078
2021412850 2029512850 (20214 : 0.207370)

Note: Hrat -

Adjustment had been made to the exercise price and the number
of the outstanding Share Options upon the share consolidation
becoming effective on 20 January 2022.
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Bl F2022F 3531 HILFE

42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 2. UGB ZRE @
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
The following tables disclose movements of the TEREBFNREE - EE - REEBERAERZ
Company’s share options held by directors, employees, PN = o I

shareholders and consultants during the years:

During the year ended 31 March 2022 HE202253831HILEE
Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
at 1 April during during Share  at 31 March
Category of participant SHENE 2021 the year the year consolidation 2022
120215 120224
4B1H 3831H
e K 17 FRRH RERXH R as e R 1T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Directors 5% 21,900,000 - - (19,710,000) 2,190,000
Employees BE 21,000,000 - - (18,900,000) 2,100,000
Shareholders 5 21,000,000 - - (18,900,000) 2,100,000
Consultants BE 444,500,000 - (100,000)  (399,960,000) 44,440,000
508,400,000 - (100,000) (457,470,000) 50,830,000
Exercisable at 120225
31 March 2022 3A31E AT 50,830,000
Weighted average MEFTHEE (E1)
exercise price (HK$) 1.2 - 1.9 - 11.6
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42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2021

43.

Category of participant

Directors
Employees
Shareholders
Consultants

Exercisable at 31 March 2021

Weighted average exercise price (HK$)

=

S2RENE

\

B
&
ES
B

1202153831 {71

METHTRE (81

Adjustment had been made to the exercise price and the
number of the outstanding Share Options upon the share

consolidation on 20 January 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following balances and

transactions with related parties:

(@) The balances with related parties at the end of the
reporting period are disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements.
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42. LB Z2R G @

HE2021F3831HILEEE

Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
at 1 April during during at 31 March
2020 the year the year 2021

® ®
20204818 2021438318
W ARITEE FARY RERKM W ARITEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
120,700,000 - (98,800,000 21,900,000
141,800,000 - (120,800,000 21,000,000
21,000,000 - - 21,000,000
501,400,000 - (56,900,000) 444,500,000
784,900,000 - (276,500,000) 508,400,000
468,200,000

0.8 - 0.2 1.2

1220221208 RN EHE  EHTTRERKR
HARTENRRARUEET THE

43.FAEANTR S
Y

MBS RAEMB o W BRI > A5 [ B A Bt
BRERRRZWT -

(@) MBERREAMEBEALZEHFNGEEYH
WREMBBWE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(0)

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the (b)
Group had following material transactions with its

related party:

Name of related party

R B 75

Bartha Holdings

Bartha Holdings

CVP Holdings

CVP Holdings

CVP Financial Group
Limited (“CVP”)

CVP Financial Group
Limited (TCVP )

Mr. Ting

TRE

Lucky Targets Arts Limited
(“Lucky Targets”)

Lucky Targets Arts Limited
(TLucky Targets )

Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.r
ERBRY  crmt
SRA INC.

SRA Inc.
Firebird Global

Firebird Global

Nature of transaction

LBREHUE

Interest expenses on convertible bonds
AR ESF A BRX

Interest expenses on promissory note
AREBRZAEBHEX

Interest expenses on promissory note

ARREZHEBRAX

Sale of wine
HE WA
Storage income
FEUA

Purchase of wine
BEHERAE

Sale of wine
5 & WA
Interest expenses on loan from a director
—REFEEZMERXZ
Interest expenses on loan from
a non-controlling shareholder
RE—BIFERRRZERZAERZ
Consideration received for disposal of
Auction Business (note (39(b))
WEIBEHENB AT ZRE
(K7 2#(39(b))

43.FAEANTETR S @

2022
20224
HK$’000
FET

12,452

5,928

168

175

460

2,086

B E2022F K2021E3H31HIEEE » N E
EEHBABEA LT ZEAXTZUT .

2021
20214
HK$’'000
FET
11,387
430

24,842

207

637

2,789

2,196

2,000
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BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

Note a: Bartha Holdings is 88.90% beneficially owned by
Mr. Ting.

Note b: CVP Holdings is 100% beneficially owned by Mr.

Ting.

Note c: CVP and Firebird Global are 100% beneficially

owned by Mr. Ting.

Note d: Lucky Targets is 50% beneficially owned by Mr.

Ting.

Note e: Mr Ting is a substantial shareholder of the

Company.

Note f: Mr. Ip Cho Yin, 4.~ is a non-executive director of

the Company.

(c) The remuneration of directors and other members of
key management during the year are as follows:

Short-term benefits y SR RER
Post-employment benefits BER BB

Equity-settled share-based payment
expenses

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.
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43. A

()

BmEE RN MR

BEALIXRS @

(#)

Ktzta: Bartha HoldingsE ThEB %A
88.90%# & ©

Hfatb: CVP HoldingsE T e B A 100%1#

His#c: CVPKFirebird GlobalflB T =B HmER
100%HE i ©

B5Ed: Lucky TargetsH T e BmEHBS50%

Biate: THhE KRB EERE -

Hiatr. BERERE crmwr ZATIERITE

%o

RERNESRHEMTEZEEE NS00 FH M
LI

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
5,180 5,900
113 111
464 (1,475)
5,757 4,536

EERTIETBRAEZ#HWNBRFMEZES
et RERFRRERHHBLHERETE -
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BLFE 20223531 HIEFEE

44. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated statement
of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities:

4. BEZHMEERBEZHIR

TRFBNAEERELIIMELERZES &
RRENIFRcEH RELBAELEREH
RERBECHRKFEETRERNGERERE
RKADESRELZIFELEREREZAR !

Non-cash changes

JHREED
Finance Recognition Foreign Early
Financing cost Interests of right-of- exchange termination Disposal of

1/4/2021 cash flows incurred accrued use assets movements of a lease a subsidiary 31/3/2022

021%E BE lid:33 £ RERLERS e 2022

4A1R RERE RERE EEHHE ERHEE SHEES 6 HEAF 3F31R

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000

FET 1 &1 FET FET FE1 FET FET 1

Amount dug to a non-controling shareholder EfEERRRTE 2 - - - - - - 2 -

Loan from a non-contralling shareholder RE-2FERREZER 105,300 - 2,086 2,088) - 8,850) - - 96,450

Interest payable (included in trade and ERFE GIABSR

other payables| EftEIHE) 510 (7.827) - 7827 - - - - 510

Borrowings [ 49,002 5,000 5,741 (5,741) - - - - 44,00

Convertible bonds (Note 33) WRRES (53) 183,144 - 12,452 - - - - - 145,59

Promissory notes payables (Note 36/ ERERRE W2s6) 59,667 - 5,928 - - - - - 65,595

Leas liabilties BEEE 4,668 (9,.944) 1,343 - 21,639 (62) (164) 208) 17,074

353,083 (22,771) 27,550 - 21,639 (8912 (164) (208) 370,417

Non-cash changes
FRE2Y
Offset
Finance against Recognition Foreign
Financing cost Interests other of right-of- exchange

1/4/2020 cash flows incurred accrued receivables use assets movements 31/3/2021

20206 fE FE: 1EsHE M i 20215

4818 Reneg HERE FET7I & BUFE FEREE SEEH 3A81H

HK$ 000 HK8'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK8'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK8'000

FET FET FET FET FiEr FET FET FiEr

Amount due to a director B —RESHE 164 (164) - - - - - -

Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder & ff JEERR RS - 2 - - - - - 2

Loan from a director RE—LEEZEX 38,000 (38,000) 2,789 (2,789) - - - -

Loan from a non-controlling shareholder ~ RE—%FERREZ ER 107,100 - 2,196 (2,196) - - (1,800) 105,300
Interest payable (included in trade RIS GIAB S REM

and other payables) FE(T7B) 3,480 (17,432) - 14,462 - - - 510

Borrowings a3 103,992 (54,000) 9,477 (9,477) - - - 49,992

Convertible bonds (Note 33) AR ES (H233) 121,757 - 11,387 - - - - 133,144

Promissory notes payables (Note 36) Ef R R R (Hz236) 167,920 (119,525) 25,272 - (14,000) - - 59,667

Lease liabilities HESE 14,841 (10,226) 331 - - 299 (577) 4,668

557,254 (239,345) 51,452 - (14,000) 299 (2,377) 353,283

FBRERERBRAT
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45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 45. K AGIMB AT Z#1E
THE COMPANY

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022

and 2021 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

MEREEHE

Madison International

Madison (China) Limited

ZER (PE) BRAT

Madison Wine Club Limited

Madison Wine Club Limited

CVP Financial

CVP Financial

Madison Blockchain
Holdings Co Ltd

Madison Blockchain
Holdings Co Ltd

CVP Capital

CVP Capital

CVP Investment Holdings
Limited

CVP Investment Holdings
Limited

Hackett

Hackett

Starlight Financial Holdings

Limited
FEEXERERERAE

Place and date of
incorporation/ Place of
establishment operation
e/

e RAH ERE

Republic of Seychelles Hong Kong

(Seychelles”)
21 November 2013

ER RSl B
3300
2013%115218

Hong Kong Hong Kong
14 April 1997

&3 B
199745148

Hong Kong Hong Kong
12 January 2012

&3 B
201218128

BvI Hong Kong
21 September 2016

ERRLES &5
2016595218

Seychelles Hong Kong
8 March 2018

EE] B
20185F3H8H

Hong Kong Hong Kong
20 May 2014

&8 &5
2014555208

Hong Kong Hong Kong
28 June 2017

&3 B
201765288

Seychelles Hong Kong
3 September 2014

EEH BB
20149 3H

Hong Kong Hong Kong
3 June 2011

&3 B
2011F6H3H

Class of
share held

HERRZER

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

EER

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital
BETR
BRRE/
2MEE

US$10,870/
US$10,870

1087057/
10870£7

HK$10,000/
HK$10,000
10,000%7,/
10,0007

HK$1/HK$1

137n/1%7%

1S$10,000/
US$10,000
10,000£7/
10,0007

Uss1/
US$1,000,000
1#n/
1,000,000£7

HKS$9,300,000/
HKS$9,300,000
9,300,000 77,/
9,300,00057%

HK$1/HK$1

1B71/1%7%

US$100/
US$1,000,000
100%7T/
1,000,000 %

HK$234,000,000/
HK$234,000,000
234,000,000,/
234,000,000%7%
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mr

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to the Group

FEEAREREE AL
2022 2021

2022F 20215
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B % ER i
100% - 100% -
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
89.34% - 89.34% -
100% - 100% -
- 59.98% - 59.98%
- 89.34% - 89.34%
7% - 7% -
- 53.9% - 53.9%

Percentage of proportion of voting
power held by the Company
FARMERRELE
2022 2021
2022F 20215
Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly

Ef ik B e
100% - 100% -
- 100% - 100%

- 100% - 100%
89.34% - 89.34% -
100% - 100% -
- 67.14% - 67.14%

- 100% - 100%

% - % -

- 70% - 70%

FR2022F 2021 FE3B31HZ T EM B AT FIE

Principal
activities

IBEH

Investment holding

REZR

Sales of alcoholic
beverages

ERSRHE

Sales of alcoholic
beverages and
wine storage

ERORHERE
Bk

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding
REZR
Business
consultancy
£BER
Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

REZR
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45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 45.FxAGIMBABRZ#E @

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place and date of Issued and fully
incorporation/ Place of Class of paid share capital/ Percentage of equity Percentage of proportion of voting  Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment operation  share held registered capital interest attributable to the Group power held by the Company activities
BE#TR
HREL/ BERE/
WEARATE AR A= BERY  RARMZER e FEARGRER AL FRAAMBREELH IELH
2022 2021 2022 2021
20205 20215 20226 20215
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
i Gt ER b Ef it B e
Treasure Like Holdings Hong Kong Hong Kong ~ Ordinary shares HK$1/HKS1 - 53.9% - 53.9% - 100% - 100%  Loan financing
Limited (formerly known 15 February 2013 services
as “China Runking
Financing Group
Limited")
Treasure Like Holdings &% &5 EER 1BR/187 ERRERE
Limited (18 PE®E  2013%2A15H
NEEBERAT)
City Eagle Holdings Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares HK$100/HKS100 - 53.9% - 539% - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
27 June 2011
REERERAR B aA LER 10087/ REER
2011565278 10037
Wine Financier Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong ~ Ordinary shares HK$10,000/ - % - 7% - 100% - 100% Referral financing
11 September 2014 HK$10,000 services
KEEERAR i B ik 10,000%7,/ RERNRE
201498118 10,0008
Chongging Run Kun The PRC The PRC Registered HK$10,000,000/ - 53.9% - 539% - 100% - 100%  Financial consulting
Management Consulting 17 June 2013 capital HK$10,000,000 services
Company Limited*
(EBRREEEEDS
BRAR)
EEHRCRERSS HE HE ARER 10,000,000%7,/ REARE
BRAR 201365178 10,000,000 7
Run Tong Credit (Liangjiang ~ The PRC The PRC Registered US$30,000,000/ - 53.9% - 539% - 100% - 100%  Loan financing
District Chongaing) Co. 18 October 2011 capital US$30,000,000 services and
Ltd! (EBTRINERE microfinance
NEERBERAT services
EETRINEES e e HRER 30,000,000%7/ ERRERBRN
NEEFBERAR 20114105180 30,000,000% 7 HHERS
BITOCEAN (Nots) Japan Japan Ordinary Share JPY200,000,000/ - - - 50.28% - - - 59.28% Blackchain service
12 May 2014 JPY200,000,000 business
BITOCEAN (f's2) BE BE EER H7£200,000,000,/ BIRERBEY
201458128 200,000,000

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2022, BITOCEAN was
dispased along with it holding company, Madison Lab
Limited (note 39(a)).

st REIE20224F 38310 > BITOCEANE [F H %%
‘A B)Madison Lab Limited (##5£39(a)) —fH L& °

* BXELRERFZ A -

# The English translation is for identification only.
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45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
subsidiaries of the Company listed in the above table
principally affected the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would result in
particular of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding as at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

The subsidiaries established in the PRC disclosed above
are limited liability.

Composition of the Group

Information about the composition of the Group other than
the principal subsidiaries disclose above at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Principal activities

FEED = i B 32 3th B

Investment holding Hong Kong

KREER BHE
BVI
BEEBRELES
Seychelles
EEW
The PRC
FRE
Cayman
HE

Loan financing services The PRC

BERRMERS th &
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Places of incorporation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7r A /H\j- %ﬁ $E %e B{j -LI

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BYFE2022F3531 HIFFE

A5 X RBEIMEBATIZHE @

AABDERRD LRAIEARTANBATEE
%Z%K%lﬁ%\ﬁé&%% SEAE M E A
AINFBERERERENRTT

MENBLAANRFRAFAETAFTHEEETAD
BITEBES

FLARENNPERINMNBEATDSARE
FRF

KEBZAM
EAﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁth$@z£552 (NEE LR
BNTEWEBAR) BRI

Number of wholly-owned
subsidiaries

2EMBAREE
2022 2021
20225 20214
7 8
4 3
1 2
1 —
1 1
3 2
17 16




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 45. %A GIMIB AT 2% @
THE COMPANY (Continuea)

Composition of the Group (Continued) TEBZHEMK &)
Number of non-wholly-owned
Principal activities Places of incorporation subsidiaries
ZEE 5t 1 K 12 3t B EREMBATHE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Investment holding Hong Kong 5 5
BEZER A
The PRC 2 3
o E
Financial services Hong Kong 1 1
= RhAR TS H5H
Loan financing services The PRC 1 -
EXNRMERT R
9 9
Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have BN AERBEEARIFEREZTNIEZEN
material non-controlling interests to the Group are BABIEBHENT

disclosed below.
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45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

Place of incorporation/
principal place of
business

Proportion of ownership
interests held by

Name of subsidiary non-controlling interests

HEAR 2 RMAING TEEENEY FERREREZEEELE
2022 2021

20224 20215

CVP Financial BVI/Hong Kong 10.66% 10.66%

CVP Financial HEELHE/EE

Hackett Seychelles/Hong Kong 23% 23%

Hackett RER/BE

BITOCEAN Japan N/A FER 40.72%

BITOCEAN B

Individual immaterial subsidiaries BEFERERNER

with non-controlling interests FEAMBAE
Total st

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have material
non-controlling interests (continued) Summarised financial
information in respect of the Group’s subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests are set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intra-group eliminations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

A5 X RBEIMEBATIZHE @

BEERIFERERZEZERBLARZ

B

TRITAEEREERNFERERZIFEE

MBABZEHE

Voting rights held by (Loss) profit allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interest
FEREERAZRER /SEEFERREDZ (B8 EH RitERED
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 20214 20225 20214 2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEz FET FET FET
10.66% 10.66% (2,014) (2,189) (20,279) (18,265)
23% 23% 1,448 (783) 193,094 186,844
N/A RiER 40.72% (72) (13,002 N/A RiER 59,433
1 ©) (75) (75)
(637) (15,980) 172,740 227,937

BEREEAFEREG 2 AEBNBLRAEZYH
EREZSHU T - TIMBENBESERR

AE)EHHEAZ EER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 45. KX BIMEBATIZH#1E @
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEEARFERESZIEZENEBATZ
that have material non-controlling interests H1E ®
(Continued)
CVP Financial CVP Financial
2022 2021
2022% 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MENE 40,699 42,371
Non-current assets FERBEE 33,806 33,546
Current liabilities mEIAaE (278,278) (265,545)
Non-current liabilities EREER - -
Equity attributable to owner of the Company Zx A B #EA A FE(L (183,494) (171,363)
Non-controlling interests JEER = (20,279) (18,265)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,ﬁT A ﬂj-$2'$ﬁ‘%§|“j

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 45. &2 GIMB AT 2% 1E @
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEEXRIFERESZIEZERBATZ
that have material non-controlling interests HE @
(Continued)
CVP Financial (Continued) CVP Financial (&)
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Revenue g - -
Expenses 3 (14,415) (14,590)

Loss for the year and total comprehensive FAREEREARNZHE R 24258
expense for the year (14,415) (14,590)

Loss for the year and total comprehensive ZATEB AEEERNEBREL
expense for the year attributable to FRE2EBEZLEE
owners of the Company (12,401) (12,401)

Loss for the year and total comprehensive JEIERG#E TS FE(E FENEE K
expense for the year attributable to non- FEREEMZAREE

controlling interests (2,014) (2,189)
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Net cash (outflow) inflow from REEHIRE O MAFEE
operating activities (14,380) 104,558
Net cash (outflow) inflow from CEEEIRE CRL) MAPEE
investing activities (40,091) 726
Net cash inflow (outflow) from MEZEBRESAA ORt) F58
financing activities 54,386 (104,901)
Net cash (outflow) inflow RE (R RAEEE (85) 383
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 45. %A GIMIB AT 2% @
THE COMPANY (Continuea)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEEARFEREGZIEZENEATZ
that have material non-controlling interests IR
(Continued)
Hackett Hackett
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Current assets RENEE 530,530 524,254
Non-current assets ERHEE 49,114 39,793
Current liabilities mEIBE (132,523) (134,441)
Non-current liabilities EREHEaE (1,922) (933)
Equity attributable to owner of the Company Zx AT #EHB A E(S % 252,105 241,829
Non-controlling interests R 193,094 186,844
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 45. &2 GIMB AT 2% 1E @
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEEXRIFERESZIEZERBATZ
that have material non-controlling interests HE @
(Continued)
Hackett (Continued) Hackett (%)
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Revenue W & 54,041 52,274
Expenses Hz (47,933) (54,285)
Profit (loss) for the year and total FEREBF (BB RFAN
comprehensive income (expense) 2EBA (B 4858
for the year 6,108 (2,011)
Profit (loss) for the year and total KNBHEEANELERNRF
comprehensive income (expense) for (B518) RRERZE WA
the year attributable to owners of the (Bix) #8%8
Company 4,660 (1,228)
Profit (loss) for the year and total JEERERELFN
comprehensive income (expense) BH (BR) RERAEE
for the year attributable to WA (BxZ) 48%8
non-controlling interests 1,448 (783)
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Net cash inflow from operating activities RETERIREMAFRE 39,720 20,268
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEFZBIREMAFLE 7,317 476
Net cash outflow from financing activites  BEIEEHIRE R LH P58 (10,948) (49,849)
Net cash inflow (outflow) WERA Cid) #%58 36,089 (29,105)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 45. %A GIMIB AT 2% @
THE COMPANY (Continuea)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEEARFEREGZIEZENEATZ
that have material non-controlling interests IR
(Continued)
BITOCEAN BITOCEAN
2021
20214
HK$'000
FHET
Current assets MENEE 1,159
Non-current assets FERBEE 146,247
Current liabilities mEIBE (573)
Non-current liabilities EREBERE (88)
Equity attributable to owner of the Company KABIHE ANELER 87,312

Non-controlling interests FEERE 59,433
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7r A /H\j- %ﬁ $E %e B{j -LI

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 45. &2 GIMB AT 2% 1E @
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEEXRIFERESZIEZERBATZ
that have material non-controlling interests 3G
(Continued)
BITOCEAN (Continued) BITOCEAN (&
2021
20214
HK$’'000
FAET
Revenue W im -
Expenses B2 (83,819)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive HABERBANE B4
expense for the year (33,819)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive KRBlHEB ANEBHARNEERER
expense for the year attributable to owners >HEMAZER
of the Company (20,817)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive JEERE G NGEERIEN
Expense for the year attributable to T EMAZAEEE
non-controlling interests (13,002)
2021
20214
HK$'000
FAET
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEHAS R R (4,028)
Net cash outflow from investing activities KRETBRS B R (252)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEFBIRESMAFEE 4,521
Net cash inflow WEMAFEE 241
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG RS R OR MY AE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

46. E AT ZHF R AR

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Plant and equipment

Current assets
Other receivables
Amount due from a subsidiary
Bank balances

Current liabilities
Other payables
Amount due to a shareholder
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Borrowings
Derivative financial instrument
Promissory notes payables
Convertible bonds

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves (Note)

Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Convertible bonds

FEREEE
KRB R ZEKRE
TR 5 B 5%

H 1t & W R IR
FE WP 88 2 B R 8
IRTTAEER

neas
HAh &S 7R
B —RRRARIEA
PRI B R B RIA
ERA
TTEESMIA
AR RE
FIRES

il
/

ik
BN
G
m
=i
&
\r

=
pil

BEARK A
S
& (Hfa2)

K

*E /HF@\ gE

I

IERFES

pi}

BIR AT

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
429,033 429,051
20 68
429,053 429,119
151 341
21,585 127,820
624 1,828
22,360 129,989
2,280 2,692
18,286 -
134,881 140,946
44,992 49,992
= 6,974
65,595 59,667
145,596 -
411,630 260,271
(389,270) (130,282)
40,053 298,837
6,231 6,231
33,822 159,462
40,053 165,693
= 133,144
40,053 298,837
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VAT AN

171 R |

Bt 55 R R MY 51

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLFE2022F 3531 HIFFE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

46. xR B ZHBERREX @

(Continued)
Note: Bzt -
Reserves of the Company ERBZHE
Convertible
bonds—
Share equity
Share Other Capital options conversion  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
Rk ES
fRi7 &R Hitifk e Rt BREMRE —EnBhiE RithE @t
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note a) (Note b)
(Hita) (Hiztb)
A 1 April 2020 72020451 B 1,257,060 62,217 (20,144) 29,623 174,782 1,400,108) 94,430
Profit for the year and total comprehensive FENENREAZENEESE
income for the year - - - - - 3,584 3,584
Issue of shares upon placing (Note 35) RERBITRG (W235) 56,082 - - - - - 56,082
Share issue expenses RipRTHES (1,157) - - - - - (1,157)
Recognition of equity-settled share BRLURREENRN
-based payments expenses TRES - - - (3,219) - - (3,219)
Lapse of share options BRELY - - - (5,795) - 5,795 -
Lapse of put options SRR - - 20,144 - - (10,402) 9,742
At 31 March 2021 #202153831H 1,311,985 62,217 - 20,609 174,782 (1,410,131) 159,462
Loss for the year and other comprehensive ERFERENZAMZEE
expenses for the year - - - - - (126,186) (126,186)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BRLUREEE 2 RO OFET
payments expenses (Note 42) iG22) - - - 546 - - 546
At 31 March 2022 1202238318 1,311,985 62,217 - 21,155 174,782 (1,686,317) 33,822
Notes: Bzt -
(a) Other reserve represents the difference between the (a) HMFEELXMUELZBEZREREETRMOZ

nominal value of the shares issued for the acquisition of
Madison International and the consolidated net asset values
of Madison International and its subsidiaries at the date of
acquisition.

Capital reserve represents a fair value of put option
amounting to approximately HK$20,144,000 exercisable
by non-controlling shareholders was recorded upon initial
as detailed in note 39(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BLE2022F3H31 HIFFE

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(a)

(b)

Extension of maturity date of promissory
note

On 1 April 2022, the maturity date of the
promissory note (“PN2”) in the principal amount
of HK$185,120,000 under the sale and purchase
agreement in relation to the acquisition of 77%
interest in Hackett Enterprises Limited, part of the
PN2 in the principal amount of HK$119,525,000
has been redeemed by the Company, and the
outstanding principal amount of the PN2 of
HK$65,595,000 is extended for 1 year from 29
March 2022 to 29 March 2023. For details of the
acquisition and extension maturity date of PN2,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 13
March 2019 and the announcements of the Company
dated 20 November 2018, 29 March 2019 and 1
April 2022.

Grant of option and loan extension
agreement

On 6 June 2022, the Company entered into the
option agreement with SRA Holdings Inc. (“SRA”),
as subscriber, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to grant an option and SRA
shall be entitled to require the Company to allot and
issue up to a maximum of 85,922,330 option shares
at option price of HK$1.03 per share subject to the
terms and conditions stated on the option agreement
upon the exercise of the option. As at the date of
this report, Wine Financier Limited, an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is indebted
to SRA in the principal amount of JPY1,500,000,000
(the “Loan”) which was due for repayment on 30
September 2021. In consideration of the Company
agreeing to enter into the option agreement to grant
the option to SRA, SRA has agreed to extend the
maturity date of the Loan to 30 September 2023. For
further details of the option agreement and the Loan,
please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 6 June 2022.

47. R EHEZEH

(a)

(b)

ERAREEZEEA

R2022F 4818 IRIERA W EHackett
Enterprises Limited77%# = i B B 177 5%
EEE7185,120,00058 TR A R E#E (MK
RER2)) ARERI2ZEMAETEEE
119,525,000 Tt EHA A &L kE
B2 R R EIROAR % & 88 465,595,00078 7T
ZEHH B 202238200 ER1ESE
2023F3H29H - BRI RIER A R EE
2HEIE B2REA LR HIAA201943A
13H M@K 2018511 820H ~ 201943
B29H K2022F4B1HN R E o

REBRERSRERTGZ

52202296 86H » KA B BSRA Holdings
Inc. (TSRAL) »1EABE A > ST B
WEo B AABNEEBKHRERLE
[REMSRAE IR B R EH =K
ARBEHERTEBRERERARF R
EREBRER1I.03BTEERETE
%85,022,330REBRRER M - M ARE
HE BBEEBRAT  AATN—RBH
BIETEWB LB S RXSRAXEES
1,500,000,000HEMEZH (TE&&F1) ER
2021F9H30HFERZ FAXRRBIRE
5717 B8 IR HE17 52 LUMISRAR B BE IR A9 1K
B> SRAERRIEREREHHE202345F9
BI0H BRBRERERERNES B
Z2EARNE HEIA2022F6 6 A S o
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

oh
EFFMHEHE
RESULTS e
For the year ended 31 March HESHSIHLEEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20215 2020 2019 2018%
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FET FET
(Restated)
(imE5)
Revenue § 130,492 106,896 196,535 310,352 269,584
Loss before tax BRIAIES 1B (16,661) (46,030) (322,532) (403,088 (121,142)
Income tax (expense) credit T8k (%) K% (617) (4,918) 4,250 (16,627) (6,742)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive M A TG ERGER
expense for the year attributable to: FREEMTEE
Owners of the Company EN/NCIE 2= DN (16,641) (34,968) (278,922) (369,244) (123,969)
Non-controlling interests KRR (637) (15,980 (39,360) (50,471) (3,915)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
As at 31 March M3B31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 2020 20194 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FET FET
Total assets BEME 618,522 649,423 863,514 1,536,880 1,027,598
Total liabilities BEAH (442,255) (410,331) (665,599) (1,074,689 (485,060)
Total equity ERBE 176,267 239,092 197,915 462,191 542,538
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